
1 August 14, 2023 

BIRMINGHAM CITY COMMISSION AGENDA 
AUGUST 14, 2023 

MUNICIPAL BUILDING, 151 MARTIN 
7:30 P.M. 

I. CALL TO ORDER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
Therese Longe, Mayor 

II. ROLL CALL
Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 

III. PROCLAMATIONS, CONGRATULATORY RESOLUTIONS, AWARDS, APPOINTMENTS,
RESIGNATIONS AND CONFIRMATIONS, ADMINISTRATION OF OATHS, INTRODUCTION OF
GUESTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS.

ANNOUNCEMENTS 
• The Woodward Dream Cruise will roll into town on Saturday, August 19, 2023, bringing

thousands of classic cars and more than one million people from all over the world. Adding
to the festivities, the Birmingham Cruise Event from 9 a.m. - 5 p.m. on South Old
Woodward will feature 200 classic cars of all makes and models, sponsor exhibits, food
and more.

APPOINTMENTS 
A. Board of Ethics

1. Michael P. Coakley

To appoint ________ as a regular member to the Board of Ethics to serve a three-
year term to expire June 30, 2026.  

To appoint ________ as an alternate member to the Board of Ethics to serve a three-
year term to expire June 30, 2026.  

To appoint ________ as an alternate member to the Board of Ethics to serve a three-
year term to expire June 30, 2026. 

B. Employee recognition
1. Anthony Altovilla – Deputy City Clerk

IV. OPEN TO THE PUBLIC FOR MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA

V. CONSENT AGENDA
All items listed on the consent agenda are considered to be routine and will be enacted by one motion 
and approved by a roll call vote.  There will be no separate discussion of the items unless a 
Commissioner or citizen so requests, in which event the item will be removed from the general order 
of business and considered under the last item of new business. 



2 August 14, 2023 

A. Resolution to approve the City Commission meeting minutes of July 24, 2023.

B. Resolution to approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments, 
dated July 27, 2023, in the amount of $6,006,969.24.

C. Resolution to approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments, 
dated August 3, 2023, in the amount of $578,824.14.

D. Resolution to approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments, 
dated August 9, 2023, in the amount of $8,177,701.38.

E. Resolution to approve the Office of Highway Safety Planning grant award and to 
authorize the Chief of Police to sign the grant award on behalf of the City.

F. Resolution to approve a 1 year agreement with Windcave, Inc. for credit card processing 
in the amount of $1,600 minimum per 40,000 transactions and $.05 per transaction for 
every transaction over 40,000. In addition, to authorize the Mayor and City Clerk to sign 
the agreement on behalf of the City. Funding for this project has been budgeted in Other 
Outside Services (514.1-594.001-811.000).

G. Resolution to amend the interlocal agreement between the City and Oakland County for 
the $100,000 Local Government Critical Infrastructure Planning grant award.  In addition, 
to authorize the City Engineer to sign Amendment 1 on behalf of the City, and to direct 
the City Clerk to witness the amendment.

H. Resolution adopting an amendment to Part II of the City Code, Chapter 114 – Utilities, 
Article VI – Storm Water Utility Fee.

VI. UNFINISHED BUSINESS

A. Resolution to table discussions of amending the City Code of Ordinances, Part II. Chapter
66 – Human Relations, Article II. – Discrimination, Division to Fair Housing at this time
and to further direct the City Clerk’s office to disseminate the letter included with this
packet to advocate to the House and Senate of Michigan to pass House Bill Nos. 6565 and
4063, and to encourage landlords to sign a voluntary Code of Conduct.

B. Leaf Blowers

VII. NEW BUSINESS

A. Resolution to appoint __________ as the City of Birmingham’s official voting delegate and
___________ as the alternate delegate, for the Michigan Municipal League Annual
Meeting to be held in Traverse City, Michigan on October 18, 2023.

B. Commission Items for Future Discussion. A motion is required to bring up the item
for future discussion at the next reasonable agenda, no discussion on the topic will
happen tonight.



3 August 14, 2023 

1. Speed Humps

C. Commission discussion on items from a prior meeting.

VIII. REMOVED FROM CONSENT AGENDA

IX. COMMUNICATIONS

X. REPORTS
A. Commissioner Reports

1. Notice of Intention to Appoint to the Design Review Board
2. Notice of Intention to Appoint to the Historic District Commission

B. Commissioner Comments
C. Advisory Boards, Committees, Commissions’ Reports and Agendas
D. Legislation
E. City Staff

1. Short Term Rentals

INFORMATION ONLY 

XI. ADJOURN
Should you wish to participate in this meeting, you are invited to attend the meeting in person or 
virtually through ZOOM:   https://zoom.us/j/655079760       Meeting ID: 655 079 760  
You may also present your written statement to the City Commission, City of Birmingham, 151 Martin 
Street, P.O. Box 3001, Birmingham, Michigan 48012-3001 prior to the hearing. 

NOTICE:  Individuals requiring accommodations, such as mobility, visual, hearing, interpreter or other assistance, for 
effective participation in this meeting should contact the City Clerk's Office at (248) 530-1880 (voice), or (248) 644-
5115 (TDD) at least one day in advance to request mobility, visual, hearing or other assistance.  
Las personas que requieren alojamiento, tales como servicios de interpretación, la participación efectiva en esta reunión 
deben ponerse en contacto con la Oficina del Secretario Municipal al (248) 530-1880 por lo menos el día antes de la 
reunión pública. (Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964). 

https://zoom.us/j/655079760
tel:%28248%29%20530-1880


 NOTICE OF INTENTION TO APPOINT TO THE 
BOARD OF ETHICS 

At the regular meeting of Monday, August 14, 2023, the Birmingham City Commission intends to 
appoint one regular member to the Board of Ethics to serve a three-year term to expire June 30, 2026 
and two alternate members to the Board of Ethics to serve a three-year term to expire June 30, 2026. 

Board members are to serve as an advisory body for the purposes of interpreting the Code of Ethics. 
The board consists of three regular members and up to two alternate members who serve without 
compensation.  The members shall be residents and have legal, administrative or other desirable 
qualifications. 

Interested citizens may submit an application available at the City Clerk’s office or online at 
www.bhamgov.org/boardopportunities. Applications must be submitted to the City Clerk's office on or 
before noon on Wednesday, August 9, 2023. These documents will appear in the public agenda for the 
regular meeting at which time the City Commission will discuss recommendations, and may make 
nominations and vote on appointments.  

Applicant(s) Presented For City Commission Consideration: 

Sophie Fierro-Share was appointed to the Board of Ethics on July 14, 2003 and resigned on May 16, 
2023. We thank Sophie Fierro-Share for more than 19 years of service to the city.  

NOTE:  All members of boards and commissions are subject to the provisions of City of Birmingham City Code Chapter 2, Article IX, Ethics 
and the filing of the Affidavit and Disclosure Statement.   

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 

To appoint ________ as a regular member to the Board of Ethics to serve a three-year term to expire 
June 30, 2026. 

To appoint ________ as an alternate member to the Board of Ethics to serve a three-year term to 
expire June 30, 2026. 

To appoint ________ as an alternate member to the Board of Ethics to serve a three-year term to 
expire June 30, 2026. 

Applicant Name Criteria/Qualifications 
Applicants shall be residents and have legal, 
administrative or other desirable qualifications. 

 Michael P. Coakley Resident, attorney-at-law 

3A

http://www.bhamgov.org/boardopportunities


I 

I 
I 

I 
I 

I 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

I 

OFFICE USE ONLY 
Meets Requirements? Yes No 

Will Attend / Unable to Attend 

APPLICATION FOR CITY BOARD OR COMMITTEE 

Thank you for your interest in serving on a Board or Committee. The purpose of this form is to provide the City 
Commission with basic information about applicants considered for appointment. NOTE: Completed applications are 
included in the City Commission agenda packets. The information induded on this form is open to the public. All Board 
and Committee members are subject to the provisions of the Ethics Ordinance (Chapter 2, Article IX of the City Code). 

Information on various Boards and Committees and a list of current openings can be found on the City website at
www .bhamqov.org/boardopportunities. 

(Please print clearly) 

Board/Committee of Interest ------,--=-;:__--1r-_.c:....�--.Z......------------------
Spedfic Category/Vacancy on Board _-1.u����;._ ____ (see back of this form for information) 

Name --1-���'4-_:..?J._t_.�d::....'.*::.....,.,,:...-��---="'L.L-:_ Phone J.f/8 -32_1- �00/

,.1-s 

Occupation��-,___,"--"'-
�

-&ll=az...,..�----

Reason for Interest: 

To the best of your know/ r�Iat1onsh1ps With any sup :;e, do
_ 
you or a member of your Imm direct compensation or fin:nd;I �;��f r;v���r o

; 
contracto� of the ei•at:f �;:Zn h

g�
ve a:!_Y dir� financial or business, Pease explain· am 1rom which you or th d . · ey enve 

3A



BOARD OF ETHICS
Ordinance 1805 (Birmingham Code of Ordinances Sec. 2-320 through 2-326) 
Ordinance 2378 (Birmingham Code of Ordinances Sec. 2-320 through 2-326) 
The board shall serve as an advisory body for purposes of interpreting the Code of Ethics.  The 
board consists of three regular members and two alternate members who serve without 
compensation.  The members shall be residents and have legal, administrative, or other 
desirable qualifications. 

Last Name First Name

Home Address

Home
Business 

E-Mail Appointed Term Expires

Robb James

1533 Pleasant Court

(517)712-3469

jamesdrobb55@gmail.com

8/11/2003 6/30/2025

Schrot John

1878 Fairway

(248) 646-6513

jschrot@berrymoorman.com

7/14/2003 6/30/2024

Vacant 6/26/2023 6/30/2026

Vacant

Alternate Member
6/30/2026

Vacant

Alternate Member
6/30/2026

Wednesday, June 21, 2023 Page 1 of 1

3A



Name of Board: Year: 2021
Members Required for Quorum: 2

MEMBER NAME 2/15 2/22 3/15 3/29 11/16

Total 
Mtgs. 
Att.

Total 
Absent

Percent 
Attended 
Available

REGULAR MEMBERS
Sophie Fierro-Share P p p p p 5 0 100%
James Robb P p p p p 5 0 100%
John Schrot P p p p p 5 0 100%
Reserved
Reserved 
Present or Available 3 3 3 3 3 0

KEY: A = Member absent
P = Member present or available

CP = Member available, but meeting canceled  for lack of quorum
CA = Member not available and meeting was canceled for lack of quorum
NA = Member not appointed at that time

NM = No meeting scheduled that month
CM = Meeting canceled for lack of business items

Alexandria Bingham
Department Head Signature

CITY BOARD/COMMITTEE ATTENDANCE RECORD

Board of Ethics

3A



Name of Board: Year: 2022
Members Required for Quorum: 2

MEMBER NAME 6/15 7/12 8/16 9/22 11/21

Total 
Mtgs. 
Att.

Total 
Absent

Percent 
Attended 
Available

REGULAR MEMBERS
Sophie Fierro-Share P P P P P 5 0 100%
James Robb P P P P P 5 0 100%
John Schrot P P P P P 5 0 100%
Reserved
Reserved 
Present or Available 3 0

KEY: A = Member absent
P = Member present or available

CP = Member available, but meeting canceled  for lack of quorum
CA = Member not available and meeting was canceled for lack of quorum
NA = Member not appointed at that time

NM = No meeting scheduled that month
CM = Meeting canceled for lack of business items

Alexandria Bingham
Department Head Signature

CITY BOARD/COMMITTEE ATTENDANCE RECORD

Board of Ethics

3A



Name of Board: Year: 2023
Members Required for Quorum: 2

MEMBER NAME 1/30 3/7 4/18 5/15 6/23

Total 
Mtgs. 
Att.

Total 
Absent

Percent 
Attended 
Available

REGULAR MEMBERS
Sophie Fierro-Share P P P P NA 4 0 100%
James Robb P P P P P 5 0 100%
John Schrot P P P P P 5 0 100%
Reserved
Reserved 
Present or Available 3 0

KEY: A = Member absent
P = Member present or available

CP = Member available, but meeting canceled  for lack of quorum
CA = Member not available and meeting was canceled for lack of quorum
NA = Member not appointed at that time

NM = No meeting scheduled that month
CM = Meeting canceled for lack of business items

Alexandria Bingham
Department Head Signature

CITY BOARD/COMMITTEE ATTENDANCE RECORD

Board of Ethics

3A



3A



(a)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

a.

b.

c.

(b)

(1)

a.

Sec. 2-325. - Violation, enforcement and advisory opinions.

Board of ethics.

The city commission shall appoint a board of ethics, consisting of three members, as an

advisory body for the purpose of interpreting this code of ethics.

The initial three members of the board of ethics shall be appointed for one-, two-, and three-

year terms of office respectively, which shall begin on July 1, 2003. If appointed prior to July

1st, they shall begin their terms of office immediately and their terms shall include the

additional time prior to July 1st. Terms of office shall expire on June 30th of the respective

years.

Thereafter, all members shall be appointed to three-year terms, beginning July 1, so that only

one member's term expires each year. A member shall hold office until his or her successor is

appointed. The city commission shall fill a vacancy by an appointment for the unexpired term

only.

The city commission may also appoint not more than two alternate members for the same

term as regular members of the board of ethics. An alternate member may be called on a

rotating basis to sit as a regular member of the board of ethics in the absence of a regular

member, and shall have the same voting rights as a regular member of the board of ethics.

An alternate member may also be called to service in the place of a regular member for the

purpose of reaching a decision on a case in which the regular member has abstained or

recused for reasons of conflict of interest. An alternate member having been appointed shall

serve in the case until a final decision has been made.

The board of ethics shall be made up of residents of the city who have legal, administrative or

other desirable qualifications.

The members of the board of ethics shall serve without compensation, and shall not be

elected officials, persons appointed to elective office, full-time appointed officials or city

employees, nor shall they be currently serving on any other city board or commission.

The board shall select its own presiding officer from among its members.

The board shall establish such procedures it deems necessary or appropriate to perform

its functions as set forth in this article.

Functions of the board of ethics. When there is a question or a complaint as to the applicability of

any provision of this code to a particular situation, that question or complaint shall be directed to

the board of ethics. It shall then be the function of the board of ethics to conduct hearings and/or

issue an advisory opinion, as applicable.

Hearings. The board of ethics shall follow the following hearing procedure:

3A



b.

c.

d.

e.

f.

(2)

(3)

a.

b.

c.

The board shall, within seven days after any matter is brought to its attention, set a date certain for hearing

said matter.

The board shall, at least 28 days before the hearing date, send notice of such hearing,

accompanied by a concise statement of the alleged breach of this code of ethics, to any

person requested to appear before them, by certified mail, return receipt requested, to

addressee only.

Any person requested to appear before a board of ethics hearing may request one

extension for a period not to exceed 28 days. Extensions thereafter will be granted only

under extreme circumstances.

Any person requested to appear before a board of ethics hearing may be accompanied by

his or her attorney.

All hearings at which any person shall be requested to appear shall be subject to the

Open Meetings Act.

All findings of board hearings shall be published in permanent form and communicated

to the city commission and the public, subject to the requirements of the Open Meetings

Act.

Advisory opinions. All advisory opinions so issued shall also be published in permanent form

and communicated to the city commission and the public, subject to the requirements of the

Open Meetings Act.

After the board of ethics' advisory opinions and/or hearing findings have been published:

The city commission shall be responsible for imposing any sanction for a violation of this

Code on one of its members or any person appointed by the commission to any city

board.

If it becomes necessary to seek the removal of a city official after the board of ethics'

advisory opinion and/or hearing findings, the city shall follow the requirements for

removal of a public official in accordance with the laws of the state.

The city manager shall be responsible for imposing any discipline for a violation of this

Code on any employee of the city.

(Ord. No. 1805, 4-28-03; Ord. No. 1810, 5-19-03; Ord. No. 1819, 1-12-04; Ord. No. 2378, 4-25-23)

3A



MEMORANDUM 
City Clerk’s Office 

DATE: 

TO: 

FROM: 

SUBJECT: 

August 8, 2023

Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 

Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 

Staff Introduction – Deputy City Clerk Anthony Altovilla 

We are pleased to announce a new addition to our City Clerk’s Office.  Please join us in 
welcoming Anthony Altovilla as our new Deputy City Clerk. Anthony is an experienced 
government worker with years of experience in nonprofit and public sector work. 

Anthony has a BA in psychology from West Virginia University. He joins us after years of work 
in county government. Anthony has experience with clerical work, record keeping, customer 
service, and employee training. His experience with various government departments and 
broad range of skills will be an asset for Birmingham. 

Anthony is eager to bring his prior experience to his new role as Deputy City Clerk and take on 
the new tasks and challenges the position provides. He looks forward to utilizing his customer 
service skills and prior government work experience to provide excellent service to the citizens 
of Birmingham. 

Please extend a warm welcome to Anthony and support him as he grows in his new position. 
We are confident that his talents and drive will bring positive impact in the City Clerk’s Office as 
we strive to serve our community and our citizens. 

3B



Birmingham City Commission Minutes 
July 24, 2023 

Municipal Building, 151 Martin 
7:30 p.m.

Vimeo Link: https://vimeo.com/848354361 

I. CALL TO ORDER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
Therese Longe, Mayor, opened the meeting with the Pledge of Allegiance. 

II. ROLL CALL
City Clerk Bingham called the roll. 

Present: Mayor Longe   
Mayor Pro Tem McLain 
Commissioner Baller 
Commissioner Boutros 
Commissioner Haig  
Commissioner Host 
Commissioner Schafer  

Absent: None 

Staff:  City Manager Ecker; City Clerk Bingham, City Engineer Coatta, Senior Planner 
Cowan, Police Chief Grewe, Police Lieutenant Kearney, City Attorney Kucharek, Human Resources 
Manager Woods 

III. PROCLAMATIONS, CONGRATULATORY RESOLUTIONS, AWARDS, APPOINTMENTS,
RESIGNATIONS AND CONFIRMATIONS, ADMINISTRATION OF OATHS, INTRODUCTION OF
GUESTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS

● On Saturday, July 29, 2023 the Police Department will hold its first Open House in
conjunction with the Day on the Town event from 10 am to 2 pm.  Many services that the
department offers will be on display, including State and County law enforcement
resources.  There will also be a bike rodeo for children covering bike safety. Residents are
encouraged to come out and meet their Birmingham Police officers.

● Visit Downtown Birmingham on Saturday, July 29, from 9 a.m. to 5 p.m. for Day On The
Town, the biggest and most exciting retail event of the year! Find deeply discounted
merchandise from over 60 premium retailers, food trucks, live broadcasts, chalk art
displays, kids’ activities and more in stores and throughout the streets and sidewalks of
Downtown Birmingham. From 1 – 3 p.m., join Meaghan from Mojo in the Morning and
Channel 95.5, as they broadcast live and hand out free ice cream from the Channel 95.5
Ice Cream Truck.

● Visit the Birmingham Farmers Market on Sunday, August 6, from 9 a.m. - 2 p.m., for the
annual Corn Festival! Shop bountiful peak-season produce (including corn picked just
hours before the market), farm-fresh eggs, artisan baked goods and more from over 50

5A

https://vimeo.com/848354361


vendors. Enjoy live music, fresh-roasted corn, kids' activities including a petting zoo, crafts 
and a tractor for photo ops!  

● Join us at Booth Park on Friday, August 11, for an outdoor movie night featuring the
community's choice of Despicable Me. Pre-show entertainment begins at 6:30 p.m.; movie
at 7:30 p.m. In the event of inclement weather, movie night will be held the following
evening (Saturday).

● Proclamation sending greetings from the City of Birmingham to the mayor and residents
of Sarisske Dravce, Slovakia on the occasion of the visit of James W. Suhay, Jr. and family.

Employee Recognition 
1. Rachel Matti

IV. OPEN TO THE PUBLIC FOR MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA
Peter O’Keefe spoke regarding Melton Road. 

David Bloom spoke regarding zoning. Staff briefly responded to Mr. Bloom’s comments. 

David Lurie and George Dilgard spoke regarding the urban forest in Birmingham. 

V. CONSENT AGENDA

07-174-23 Consent Agenda

The following items were pulled from the Consent Agenda: 
Commr. Baller: Item G – Parking Ticket Fine Schedule 
MPT McLain:  Item B – Warrant List - 7/13/2023 

MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Boutros, seconded by Commissioner Host: 
To approve the Consent Agenda excluding Items B and G. 

ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, MPT McLain 
Commissioner Host 
Mayor Longe 
Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Boutros 
Commissioner Baller 
Commissioner Schafer 

Nays, None 

A. Resolution to approve the City Commission meeting minutes of July 10, 2023

C. Resolution to approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments,
dated July 20, 2023, in the amount of $1,310,972.13.

D. Resolution to approve a special event permit as requested by the DAR Piety Hill Chapter
to hold the Veterans Day 2023 Annual Wreath-Laying Ceremony on November 11, 2023

5A



contingent upon compliance with all permit and insurance requirements and payment of 
all fees and, further pursuant to any minor modifications that may be deemed necessary 
by administrative staff at the time of the event, or event cancellation that may be deemed 
necessary by administrative staff, leading up to or at the time of the event. 

E. Resolution to approve the Settlement Agreement of July 7, 2023 between the City of
Birmingham and BFFA Local 911 for a renewal of the collective bargaining agreement for
a term of July 1, 2023 through June 30, 2026, and to authorize staff to execute a collective
bargaining agreement consistent with its terms and conditions. Further, to authorize the
transfer of the appropriate funds by the Finance Department for these expenditures.

F. Resolution to amend the fee schedule to increase the following fees for Greenwood
Cemetery:

Greenwood Cemetery (126-26) Current Fee Recommended Fee 
Grave space accommodating one full burial or three cremations $4,000.00 $6,000.00 
Additional Rights of Burial for cremated remains, each $750.00 $1,000.00 
Grave space accommodating two cremated remains $2,600.00 $4,000.00 
Grave space accommodating one cremated remains $1,300.00 $2,000.00 

 Administrative fee for transfer of grave ownership $200.00 $400.00 

And to make a motion adopting a resolution to release the 88 available graves suitable 
for burial in the flush rows in Section B, and to direct Greenwood Cemetery Advisory 
Board to evaluate the fee schedule again for plot costs after 20% of these plots have 
been sold. 

H. Resolution to set a public hearing date of August 28, 2023 to consider the Special Land
Use Permit, Final Site Plan and Design Review application for 245 S. Eton – Big Rock
Italian Chophouse.

I. Resolution to approve the Birmingham City Commission 2024 Meeting Schedule as
submitted:

MONTH DAY MEETING LOCATION 
January 8 

20 (Sat 8:30 am) 
22 

Regular Meeting 
Long Range Planning 
Regular Meeting 

Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 

February 5 
12 

Regular Meeting 
Regular Meeting 

Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 

March 4 
18 

Regular Meeting 
Regular Meeting 

Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 

April 8 
15 
27 (Sat 8:30 am) 

Regular Meeting 
Regular Meeting 
Budget Hearing 

Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 

May 6 
20 

Regular Meeting 
Regular Meeting 

Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 

June 3 Regular Meeting Municipal Building 

5A



10 
24 

Joint Commission/Planning Bd. 
Regular Meeting 

DPS 
Municipal Building 

July 8 
22 

Regular Meeting 
Regular Meeting 

Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 

August 12 
26 

Regular Meeting 
Regular Meeting 

Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 

September 9 
23 

Regular Meeting 
Regular Meeting 

Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 

October 7 
21 
28 

Regular Meeting 
Joint Commission/Planning Bd. 
Regular Meeting 

Municipal Building 
DPS 
Municipal Building 

November 18 
25 

Regular Meeting 
Regular Meeting 

Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 

December 9 
16 

Regular Meeting 
Regular Meeting 

Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 

J. Resolution to approve a revised three year agreement ending July 1, 2026 with the
Birmingham School District for the provision of a full-time School Resource Officer, with
all the salary and benefits for this officer to be paid by the Birmingham School District.  In
addition, to authorize the Mayor and City Clerk to sign the revised agreement on behalf
of the City.

07-175-23 Parking Ticket Fine Schedule (Item G)

Commissioner comments were as follows: 
● The parking ticket fine schedule had not been reviewed in some time. The different

recommendations regarding fines were worthy of Commission discussion;
● It seemed that the board tasked with reviewing this item was being undercut by another

board. This could create a precedent where boards would comment on items within the
purview of other boards;

● It would be helpful to know why Staff did not follow the APC’s fine recommendations;
● The City should consider why people might prefer street parking to deck parking. It might

have to do with people’s comfort levels with deck parking. If the fines are increased, the
parking meters should have signage advising parkers of the changes. The City should
avoid a person’s experience with the City potentially being a negative one due to parking;

● Other factors influence parking behavior, including factors outside of the City’s influence.
All three recommendations agreed that the first number of expired meter tickets for an
individual should be raised to $20. The remaining question was when the increase should
occur, and how much the increase should be;

● Many factors go into determining parking pricing and enforcement considerations;
● It might be appropriate to go with the recommended, lower fines first to see if they

result in parking behavior changes;
● The APC noted that the majority of the violations may be done by merchants, and not

by visitors to the City, meaning that the merchants may be taking liberties. A $20 fine
would be commensurate with other local municipalities’ fines; and,

● It would be appropriate to make a change to the fines, since they have not been
changed in some time, while avoiding a drastic change since it would likely not be well-

5A



received. 
 

PC Grewe and CM Ecker provided background information regarding the item. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Host, seconded by Commissioner Schafer: 
To amend the City’s Fee Schedule as follows: 

Parking Offenses & Fines (If paid before 10 days / If paid after 10 days) 

Expired meter: First six offenses in calendar year    $20/$30 
Expired meter: Seven offenses or more in calendar year  $60/$70 
Handicap zone:        $175/$200 

And to come back in a year to review the effectiveness of the policy and any change in patterns 
as discussed. 

Commissioner Baller said he would vote no because he appreciated the APC’s recommendation. 

MPT McLain said she would vote no because there were other variables that should be considered. 

ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Host 
    Mayor Longe 

Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Boutros 
Commissioner Schafer 

 
   Nays, MPT McLain 
    Commissioner Baller 
 
07-176-23 Warrant List - July 13, 2023 (Item B) 
 
MPT McLain noted for the public that a payment was made to the 48th District Court as part of 
this warrant list. 
 
MOTION: Motion by MPT McLain, seconded by Commissioner Host: 
To approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments, dated July 13, 2023, 
in the amount of $2,256,394.69. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Host 
    Mayor Longe 

Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Boutros 
Commissioner Schafer 
MPT McLain 

    Commissioner Baller 
 
   Nays, None 
 

5A



VI. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
07-177-23 Proposed Ballot Question Regarding Marihuana Ordinance  
 
CA Kucharek, CM Ecker, and the Mayor presented the item. Staff answered informational 
questions from the Commission. 
 
Commissioner comments were as follows: 

● This process would allow the entire voting constituency of Birmingham to advise the 
Commission on the process; 

● The ballot in November 2023 would not have any State or National offices, and would be 
likely to attract only the most consistent voters; 

● It would be necessary to publicize the rationale behind the ballot question as widely as 
possible; and, 

● The Park Bond and Senior Millage offer a template for providing information to the public 
regarding this question. 

 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Boutros, seconded by Commissioner Haig: 
To direct the City Clerk to submit the ballot wording for the proposed Ordinance Amending the 
Prohibition of Marihuana Sales to the County Clerk in order for the question to appear on the 
November 7, 2023 consolidated election: 

Ordinance Amending Prohibition of Marihuana Sales 

Shall the Birmingham City Code ordinance, Chapter 26 – Businesses, Article XII, which currently 
prohibits the sale of marihuana in the City of Birmingham, be amended to authorize and allow 
one (1) medical marihuana facility and one (1) marihuana recreational establishment to operate 
in the City of Birmingham?  

YES or NO. 

Commissioner Host said this topic should be decided by Birmingham voters. 

ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Host 
    Mayor Longe 

Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Boutros 
Commissioner Schafer 
MPT McLain 

    Commissioner Baller 
 
   Nays, None 
 

VII. NEW BUSINESS 
07-178-23 Public Hearing - to amend Chapter 126 (Zoning), Article 2, Section  

2.27, Article 4, Section 4.46 Table A, Article 5, Section 5.09, and Article 
9, Section 9.02 for the B1 Neighborhood Business District 

5A



 
The Mayor opened the public hearing at 8:19 p.m. 
 
SP Cowan presented the item. 
 
Stephon Bagne, attorney, spoke on behalf of the request. 
 
Public Comment 
 
Carol Cholmakjian and Lisa Melota spoke in support of the request.  
 
The Mayor closed the public hearing at 9:02 p.m. 
 
Staff answered informational questions from the Commission.  
 
It was determined that Commissioner Boutros did not have a conflict of interest because while 
his business is zoned B1, it would not be affected by the potential change under consideration. 
 
Commissioner discussion was as follows: 

● This proposed change would help facilitate the creation of neighborhood commercial 
destinations as recommended in the 2040 Plan; 

● It seemed unusual to consider health club/studio uses on a case-by-case basis; 
● Other uses in the City are reviewed on a case-by-case basis; 
● The B1 zone purpose would aim to provide a balance between businesses and 

neighborhoods; 
● This change aims to be more flexible and clear about uses in the B1 zone, and to address 

a longstanding vacancy in a B1 location; 
● The Commission regulates Special Land Use Permits and it is appropriate that it would 

take on this additional responsibility to regulate businesses; and, 
● This beneficial, proposed change was raised by a petitioner. Other petitioners should be 

encouraged to do the same. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Baller, seconded by MPT McLain: 
To move the suggested resolution. 
 
Commissioner Schafer thanked the petitioner and spoke in favor of businesses that bring benefit 
to the abutting neighborhoods. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Host 
    Mayor Longe 

Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Boutros 
Commissioner Schafer 
MPT McLain 

    Commissioner Baller 
 
   Nays, None 
 

5A



07-179-23 S. Eton Resurfacing Design 
 
SP Cowan presented the item. Staff answered informational questions from the Commission. 
 
Commissioner comments were as follows: 

● Rumble strips and colored concrete would be more appropriate for the bike lanes in order 
to deter drivers from crossing over. Paint would be insufficient for the task; 

● The intersection at Maple needs to be improved for both vehicles and pedestrians. The 
more that vehicles move towards Maple the more they encroach on the pedestrian 
crossing area; 

● A flashing Stop sign and paint may be appropriate at the Maple intersection, or a No 
Standing/No Stopping sign with hash marks; 

● A lot of thought went into the recommended changes; 
● This plan would result in traffic calming along S. Eton; and, 
● There would have to be targeted, and initially educational, enforcement to prevent 

vehicles from stopping and standing in the bike lanes. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Boutros, seconded by Commissioner Host: 
To approve the reconfiguration of S. Eton Street from Lincoln to Yosemite with Alternative 2 as 
recommended by the Multi-Modal Transportation Board and indicated in the attached plan view. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Host 
    Mayor Longe 

Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Boutros 
Commissioner Schafer 
MPT McLain 

    Commissioner Baller 
 
   Nays, None 
 
07-180-23 S. Eton Resurfacing Design (Part II) 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Boutros, seconded by Commissioner Schafer: 
To approve the reconfiguration of S. Eton Street from 14 Mile to Lincoln Ave with Alternative 1 
as recommended by the Multi-Modal Transportation Board and indicated in the attached plan 
view, with the condition that the City of Birmingham receive a TAP Grant to assist in funding the 
recommended enhancements. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Host 
    Mayor Longe 

Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Boutros 
Commissioner Schafer 
MPT McLain 

    Commissioner Baller 
 
   Nays, None 

5A



 
07-181-23 S. Eton Resurfacing Design (Part III) 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Boutros, seconded by Commissioner Haig: 
To approve the reconfiguration of S. Eton Street from Maple to Villa as recommended by the City 
staff and indicated in the attached plan view, with the condition that the City of Birmingham 
receive a TAP Grant to assist in funding the recommended enhancements.  
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Host 
    Mayor Longe 

Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Boutros 
Commissioner Schafer 
MPT McLain 

    Commissioner Baller 
 
   Nays, None 
 
07-182-23 S. Eton Resurfacing Design (Part IV) 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Boutros, seconded by Commissioner Haig: 
To authorize City staff to complete a TAP Grant application in support of the proposed S. Eton 
resurfacing with additional multi-modal amenities with the funding match amount up to 50 
percent as approved in the F.Y. 2023-2024 budget, with Senior Planner Brooks Cowan and 
Engineering Director Melissa Coatta to act as the representatives on behalf of the City of 
Birmingham’s project development, with the City of Birmingham committing to owning and 
operating the proposed multi-modal facilities in perpetuity, and for the City of Birmingham to be 
responsible for all engineering, permits, administration, potential cost overruns, and any non 
participating items. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Host 
    Mayor Longe 

Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Boutros 
Commissioner Schafer 
MPT McLain 

    Commissioner Baller 
 
   Nays, None 
 
CM Ecker and the Mayor commended the MMTB, City consultants, and the Planning Staff for 
being proactive on this item. 
 
07-183-23 YMCA Lease for 400 E. Lincoln Street, Birmingham 
 
CM Ecker presented the item and answered informational questions from the Commission.  
 
MOTION: Motion by MPT McLain, seconded by Commissioner Haig: 

5A



To approve a three (3) year Lease Agreement in the amount of $1 per year allowing the YMCA 
to continue to provide their services at 400 E. Lincoln Street after the City closes on the purchase 
of the property, and further to direct the Mayor and City Clerk to sign the Lease Agreement with 
the YMCA. 

Commissioner Haig asked if he could donate his evening’s pay towards the YMCA lease. 

The Mayor advised the Commissioner that it would be a private arrangement. 

ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Host 
    Mayor Longe 

Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Boutros 
Commissioner Schafer 
MPT McLain 

    Commissioner Baller 
 
   Nays, None 
 
07-184-23 Michigan Department of Transportation Contract Agreement No.  

22-5560 
 

CE Coatta presented the item. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Boutros, seconded by Commissioner Host: 
To approve Contract No. 22-5560, Control Section M 63051, Job Number 214051CON, between 
the Michigan Department of Transportation and the City of Birmingham in the amount of 
$109,900.00, to charge this expenditure to account number 202.0-316.000-971.0000, and to 
authorize the Mayor to digitally sign the contract; AND make a motion adopting a resolution to 
approve the appropriation and amendment to the fiscal year 2023-2024 budget as follows, as 
stated. 

Commissioner Haig said he was looking forward to seeing a mast arm that costs the same as two 
police vehicles. 
 
Commissioner Boutros thanked Staff for their work on the item. 
 
The Mayor thanked CM Ecker for her persistence in working with MDOT on this item. The Mayor 
expressed delight in being able to vote in support of this proposal. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Host 
    Mayor Longe 

Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Boutros 
Commissioner Schafer 
MPT McLain 

    Commissioner Baller 
 

5A



   Nays, None 
 
07-185-23 H-Pile Earth Retention System (TERS) 

Obstruction Permit Agreement for Right-of-way Occupancy by H Pile 
 
CA Kucharek presented the item and answered informational questions from the Commission. 

MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Baller, seconded by Commissioner Host: 
To approve the Obstruction Permit Agreement for Right-of-Way Occupancy By H-Pile with 
Woodward Development, LLC and to accept $5,000.00 in consideration of allowing a 3-inch 
encroachment of an H-Pile into the City right-of-way at Daines Street. In addition, to authorize 
the Mayor and City Clerk to sign the agreement on behalf of the City. 
 
The Mayor said she was impressed that the three-inch encroachment was found and impressed 
with the as built review process. 
 
A representative from Woodward Development, LLC stated that the three inch encroachment was 
self-admitted. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Host 
    Mayor Longe 

Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Boutros 
Commissioner Schafer 
MPT McLain 

    Commissioner Baller 
 
   Nays, None 
 
Commission Items for Future Discussion 
 
07-186-23 Speed Humps 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Host, seconded by Commissioner Haig: 
To put speed remediation efforts on the agenda. 
 
Commissioner Baller said he would support a workshop on speed and cut through mitigation 
strategies. 
 
In reply to Commissioner Haig, the Mayor said the Commissioner should feel free to share any 
information he would like included as part of the discussion. 
 
Commissioner Baller supported the item be a workshop instead of an agenda item. 
 
VOICE VOTE:  Ayes, Commissioner Host 
    Mayor Longe 

Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Boutros 

5A



Commissioner Schafer 
MPT McLain 

 
   Nays, Commissioner Baller 
 
The Mayor said Staff could recommend the topic be handled as a workshop item. 
 
Commission Discussion On Items From A Prior Meeting 
 

VIII. REMOVED FROM CONSENT AGENDA 
 

IX. COMMUNICATIONS 
07-187-23 Regarding Trucks on Melton & Additional Letter - Diane Roach Smith 
 
MOTION: Motion by Mayor Longe, seconded by Commissioner Host: 
To include that entire body of correspondence in the minutes for this evening as she has 
requested. 
 
VOICE VOTE:  Ayes, Commissioner Host 
    Mayor Longe 

Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Boutros 
Commissioner Schafer 
MPT McLain 
Commissioner Baller 

 
   Nays, None 
 

X. REPORTS 
A. Commissioner Reports 

 
MPT McLain reported back from MML’s Live with the League. 
 

B. Commissioner Comments 
C. Advisory Boards, Committees, Commissions’ Reports and Agendas 

D. Legislation 
E. City Staff 
 1. City Manager’s Report 
  

CM Ecker presented the report. 
 
INFORMATION ONLY  

  
 

XI. ADJOURN 

5A



Mayor Longe adjourned the meeting at 10:38 p.m. 
    
 
 

 

0BAlexandria Bingham, City Clerk  Laura Eichenhorn, City Transcriptionist 
 
  

 

5A



Alex Bingham <abingham@bhamgov.org>

Large single and double tandem trucks using Melton
1 message

'Diane Smith' via City Commission <city-commission@bhamgov.org> Mon, Jul 17, 2023 at 8:16 AM
Reply-To: Diane Smith <dianesmith5912@yahoo.com>
To: "jecker@bhamgov.org" <jecker@bhamgov.org>, "city-commission@bhamgov.org" <city-commission@bhamgov.org>

Dear City Manager,

I would like to bring to you attention an on going issue with commercial development TRUCKS driving on Melton.

Please see the attached photos.  These are trucks that are loaded with dirt and or gravel.

The white double tandem came a couple times.

The red truck made at least 6 tips this past Saturday July 15th.  They are all trucks associated with the building of the new
restaurant Lincoln Yard.

I am requesting that a sign be posted at Melton and 14 mile that states; NO THRU TRUCKS.

Our street is already a heavily traveled route for cut throughs.  Many pedestrian’s walk in the are with dogs and children
going to Kenning park and the Swim Club.

Melton is not a street Huge Commercial Trucks should be using.  It is unsafe, and the weigh is very bad for our roads and
infrastructure.  The wear and tear results are a burden on the residents and that should never be a cost residents should
have to bear.

Commercial developers need to be aware that they cannot drive on our residential roads.

I would like this letter be a part of public record and put on the agenda for the next meeting.

Diane Roach Smith

1494 E Melton

--
You received this message because you are subscribed to the Google Groups "City Commission" group.
To unsubscribe from this group and stop receiving emails from it, send an email to city-commission+unsubscribe@
bhamgov.org.
To view this discussion on the web visit https://groups.google.com/a/bhamgov.org/d/msgid/city-commission/
PH7PR11MB6860B401AE42EE0EE368F31DA83BA%40PH7PR11MB6860.namprd11.prod.outlook.com.

5A

mailto:city-commission+unsubscribe@bhamgov.org
https://groups.google.com/a/bhamgov.org/d/msgid/city-commission/PH7PR11MB6860B401AE42EE0EE368F31DA83BA%40PH7PR11MB6860.namprd11.prod.outlook.com?utm_medium=email&utm_source=footer


6 attachments

IMG_4172.jpeg
3750K

IMG_4199.jpeg
4266K

IMG_4309.jpeg
5312K

IMG_4306.jpeg
6138K

IMG_4310.jpeg
3886K

5A

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=122eed7f76&view=att&th=18963c88bcdaea27&attid=0.1&disp=inline&safe=1&zw
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=122eed7f76&view=att&th=18963c88bcdaea27&attid=0.2&disp=inline&safe=1&zw
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=122eed7f76&view=att&th=18963c88bcdaea27&attid=0.3&disp=inline&safe=1&zw
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=122eed7f76&view=att&th=18963c88bcdaea27&attid=0.4&disp=inline&safe=1&zw
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=122eed7f76&view=att&th=18963c88bcdaea27&attid=0.5&disp=inline&safe=1&zw


IMG_4311.jpeg
2376K

5A

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=122eed7f76&view=att&th=18963c88bcdaea27&attid=0.6&disp=inline&safe=1&zw


Alex Bingham <abingham@bhamgov.org>

Fwd: Commercial Vehicles On Melton
3 messages

Jana Ecker <jecker@bhamgov.org>
To: City Commission <city-commission@bhamgov.org>, DepartmentHeads <departmentheads@bhamgov.org>

FYI

Begin forwarded message:

From: Scott Grewe <Sgrewe@bhamgov.org>
Date: July 18, 2023 at 8:22:05 AM EDT
To: Diane Smith <dianesmith5912@yahoo.com>
Cc: Jana Ecker <jecker@bhamgov.org>
Subject: Commercial Vehicles On Melton

Ms. Smith,

Thank you for contacting the city to address the issue of commercial motor vehicles on your street.  S. Eton from Lincoln to 14 Mile is a posted no thru truck area.  Commercial vehicles 
are supposed to head north on S. Eton to Maple providing access to the commercial area of S. Eton while avoiding the residential streets.  We will be discussing the issue with the 
contractor for the work site to gain compliance from the different drivers that are accessing this project.  Additionally, we will have officers provide extra enforcement in this area to 
address those who are not aware of the proper route or continue to use this alternative.  Also, I wanted to make you aware of our online reporting system where you can notify of the 
city of your concerns called govalert.  I have copied a link below to the city's website regarding this program

https://www.bhamgov.org/residents/citizen_request.php  

If you have any questions please let me know.

Regards,
Chief Grewe

From: Diane Smith <dianesmith5912@yahoo.com>
Date: July 17, 2023 at 8:16:56 AM EDT
To: jecker@bhamgov.org, city-commission@bhamgov.org
Subject: Large single and double tandem trucks using Melton

Dear City Manager,

I would like to bring to you attention an on going issue with commercial development TRUCKS driving on Melton.

Please see the attached photos.  These are trucks that are loaded with dirt and or gravel.

The white double tandem came a couple times.

The red truck made at least 6 tips this past Saturday July 15th.  They are all trucks associated with the building of the new restaurant Lincoln Yard.

I am requesting that a sign be posted at Melton and 14 mile that states; NO THRU TRUCKS.

Our street is already a heavily traveled route for cut throughs.  Many pedestrian’s walk in the are with dogs and children going to Kenning park and the Swim Club.

Melton is not a street Huge Commercial Trucks should be using.  It is unsafe, and the weigh is very bad for our roads and infrastructure.  The wear and tear results are a burden

Commercial developers need to be aware that they cannot drive on our residential roads.

I would like this letter be a part of public record and put on the agenda for the next meeting.

Diane Roach Smith

1494 E M lt

5A

mailto:Sgrewe@bhamgov.org
mailto:dianesmith5912@yahoo.com
mailto:jecker@bhamgov.org
https://www.bhamgov.org/residents/citizen_request.php
mailto:dianesmith5912@yahoo.com
mailto:jecker@bhamgov.org
mailto:city-commission@bhamgov.org


--
Scott A. Grewe
Chief of Police 
Birmingham Police Department
151 Martin St.
Birmingham, MI. 48009
Dispatch: (248) 644-3405
Office: (248) 530-1867

      

*Important Note to Residents*
Let’s connect! Join the Citywide Email System to receive important City updates and critical information specific to your neighborhood at www.bhamgov.org/citywideemail. 

--
You received this message because you are subscribed to the Google Groups "City Commission" group.
To unsubscribe from this group and stop receiving emails from it, send an email to city-commission+unsubscribe@bhamgov.org.
To view this discussion on the web visit https://groups.google.com/a/bhamgov.org/d/msgid/city-commission/7D4DC12F-EBDE-44F9-BBEF-4BE4C57E0669%40bhamgov.org.

'Diane Smith' via City Commission <city-commission@bhamgov.org> Tue, Jul 18, 2023 at 3:07 PM
Reply-To: Diane Smith <dianesmith5912@yahoo.com>
To: Scott Grewe <Sgrewe@bhamgov.org>
Cc: city-commission@bhamgov.org

Thank you Chief for the reply,

At 14 mile and Pennistone there is a no thru truck sign as well as Eton.  Going south on Eton No thru truck at Lincoln and on Eton.  Both of these situations create the reasons for the
Commercial Traffic driving on Melton.  I am still making a request that No Thru Truck signs be posted at 14 and Melton and at Eton and Melton.  We have 3 different schools impacted off
of Melton and we need all the help we can get to stop some of the traffic flow on our Street.  If it is posted that Trucks are not supposed to be on Melton hopefully they wont use the
Street.  If there is nothing Posted, the truck see no reason why not to save time and cut thru.  I am hoping this is a reasonable request.
[Quoted text hidden]
[Quoted text hidden]
To view this discussion on the web visit https://groups.google.com/a/bhamgov.org/d/msgid/city-commission/27FA7A5C-D389-461B-9B43-13EC5016EADB%40yahoo.com.

Scott Grewe <Sgrewe@bhamgov.org> Tue, Jul 18, 2023 at 3:20 PM
To: Diane Smith <dianesmith5912@yahoo.com>
Cc: city-commission@bhamgov.org

Thank you for the following information.  I will request that our traffic engineering consultants take a look at this situation and provide a recommendation based on your request.  We will
contact you once they have had an opportunity to review the situation.  In the meantime, if you have any questions or concerns please do not hesitate to contact me.

Thank you,
Chief Grewe
[Quoted text hidden]
To view this discussion on the web visit https://groups.google.com/a/bhamgov.org/d/msgid/city-commission/CAEtLChaGHe%3DpVEtGrhiPNfOUvoOoNSO3uBx_
caw1CwACx52GBg%40mail.gmail.com.

5A

mailto:city-commission+unsubscribe@bhamgov.org
https://groups.google.com/a/bhamgov.org/d/msgid/city-commission/7D4DC12F-EBDE-44F9-BBEF-4BE4C57E0669%40bhamgov.org?utm_medium=email&utm_source=footer
https://www.google.com/maps/search/151+Martin+St.+Birmingham,+MI.+48009?entry=gmail&source=g
https://www.google.com/maps/search/151+Martin+St.+Birmingham,+MI.+48009?entry=gmail&source=g
http://www.bhamgov.org/citywideemail
https://groups.google.com/a/bhamgov.org/d/msgid/city-commission/27FA7A5C-D389-461B-9B43-13EC5016EADB%40yahoo.com?utm_medium=email&utm_source=footer
https://groups.google.com/a/bhamgov.org/d/msgid/city-commission/CAEtLChaGHe%3DpVEtGrhiPNfOUvoOoNSO3uBx_caw1CwACx52GBg%40mail.gmail.com?utm_medium=email&utm_source=footer


Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

07/27/2023

08/14/2023

PAPER CHECK

40.00ACTION MAT & TOWEL RENTAL, INC006638293321

821.85ACUSHNET COMPANY008106293322

232.12AT&T006759293323

805.21AT&T006759*293324

486.17AT&T006759293325

962.71AT&T MOBILITY003703293326

32,950.81AUTOMATED BENEFIT SVCS INC004027*293327

773.57BEARING SERVICE009634*293328

753.28BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC003526293329

1,060.50CADILLAC ASPHALT, LLC003907293330

97.63CANON SOLUTIONS AMERICA INC009078*293331

2,495.36COMCAST BUSINESS007774*293332

340.45CONSUMERS ENERGY000627*293333

300.00CUTLER, DOUGLASBDREFUND*293334

1,150.20DTE ENERGY000179*293335

22.05DTE ENERGY000179*293336

9,494.73DTE ENERGY000180*293337

1,245.51ELITE IMAGING SYSTEMS, INC004493293338

3,269.00ENABLEPOINT, INC003942*293339

194,900.00FEDEWA INC009613*293340

7,040.00FULL MORTISE009268293341

2,500.00GEORGE G MORRIS009671*293342

387.06GORDON FOOD004604*293343

51,902.00GORNO FORD, INC.005103*293344

8,174.93GREAT LAKES WATER AUTHORITY008007*293345

231.29GRID 4 COMMUNICATIONS INC.006666*293346

211.58GUARDIAN ALARM000249293347

971.48HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES001956*293348

46.20HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES007211*293349

1,118.60INGRAM LIBRARY SERVICES001090293350

1,625.00JOE'S ARMY NAVY003366293351

70.17KEN HITCHCOCK009709293352

302.00KGM DISTRIBUTORS INC004088293353

57.90KROGER COMPANY000362*293354

1,940.21THE LIBRARY NETWORK000797293355

370.27MACQUEEN EQUIPMENT, LLC009663293356

1,800.00MAINSTREET SOUL LLC007273*293357

10,960.00MCKENNA ASSOCIATES INC000888293358

1,415.00MGSE SECURITY LLC009085*293359

181.50MIKE SAVOIE CHEVROLET INC000230293360

1,632.20MOBILE HEALTH RESOURCES007163293361

40.00NANCY DEANGELISMISC*293362

5B



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

07/27/2023

08/14/2023

148.96ODP BUSINESS SOLUTIONS, LLC009478*293363

1,481.50OHM ADVISORS INC008669293364

116,303.88PCI INDUSTRIES, INC009698*293365

78.00PTS COMMUNICATIONS, INC006625293366

452.97QUADIENT LEASING USA, INC.007797*293367

4,812.75RON TURLEY ASSOCIATES, INC.005996293368

50.00ROYAL OAK P.D.Q. LLC000218*293369

43.99SARA NYMANMISC293370

99.00SAVE THE MOMENT007697293371

159.00SECURE DOOR, LLC006590*293372

4,397.00SP+ CORPORATION007907293373

10,300.00SP+ CORPORATION007907*293373

700.31SPARTAN DISTRIBUTORS INC000260293374

21,358.49STATE OF MICHIGAN005351*293375

2,700.00STEVE TRUDELL ENTERTAINMENT LLC009670*293376

325.00TARGET SPECIALTY PRODUCTS000286293377

117.02TIRE WHOLESALERS CO INC000275293378

3,600.00TRI-COUNTY AQUATICS, INC.007587293379

150.00TURNER SANITATION, INC004379293380

1,150.00TURNER SANITATION, INC004379*293380

250.17VALLEY CITY LINEN, INC007226293381

87.60VAN DYKE GAS CO.000293*293382

89.76VERIZON WIRELESS000158*293383

365.38VERIZON WIRELESS000158*293384

867.15VERIZON WIRELESS000158*293385

98.14VERIZON WIRELESS000158293386

850.00CARL WILK009498*293387

SUBTOTAL PAPER CHECK $516,214.61

ACH TRANSACTION

970.00ABEL ELECTRONICS INC002284*8644

19,237.05BEIER HOWLETT P.C.000517*8645

135.18BEVERLY HILLS ACE007345*8646

1,770,560.50BIRMINGHAM PUBLIC SCHOOLS-TAXES008840*8647

281.00BOB ADAMS TOWING0091838648

184.27CINTAS CORPORATION0006058649

27.63CINTAS CORPORATION0006058650

356.87CINTAS CORPORATION0006058651

1,470.58COMERICA BANK0017508652

303,995.09COMERICA BANK0017508652

739.83COMERICA BANK - RHC0031768653

98,930.19COMERICA BANK - RHC0031768653

683.72CONTRACTORS CLOTHING CO0026688654

1,232.85CONTRACTORS CONNECTION INC0013678655 5B



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

07/27/2023

08/14/2023

4,498.75CROWN CASTLE FIBER LLC009195*8656

380.03DORNBOS SIGN & SAFETY INC000565*8657

374.50FIRE SYSTEMS OF MICHIGAN LLC0012308658

18,916.63J.H. HART URBAN FORESTRY0002618659

92.00JAX KAR WASH002576*8660

950.00JCC CREATIVE LLC0092498661

560.35JCR SUPPLY INC0092988662

615.99JOE'S AUTO PARTS, INC.003458*8663

665.50LEE & ASSOCIATES CO., INC.005550*8664

1,628.94MIDWEST TAPE0020138665

792.00NBS COMMERCIAL INTERIORS0083368666

145.00NELSON BROTHERS SEWER0011948667

3,206,661.05OAKLAND COUNTY TREASURER- TAX PYMNT008843*8668

889.00OSCAR W. LARSON CO.002767*8669

350.00PREMIER SAFETY008269*8670

1,520.19RKA PETROLEUM003554*8671

2,351.87ROAD COMM FOR OAKLAND CO000478*8672

158.00ROSE PEST SOLUTIONS001181*8673

3,024.00SECURE-CENTRIC INC009301*8674

285.00SIGNS-N-DESIGNS INC003785*8675

308.00SYMPHONY WISE009577*8676

914.38WM. CROOK FIRE PROTECTION CO.0020888677

8,233.69ABS- AUTOMATED BENEFIT SVCS, INC008847*8678

37,635.00BEIER HOWLETT P.C.000517*8679

SUBTOTAL ACH TRANSACTION $5,490,754.63

*-Indicates checks released in advance and prior to commission approval in order to avoid penalty
or to meet contractual agreement/obligation.

Mark Gerber
Finance Director/ Treasurer

All bills, invoices and other evidences of claim have been audited and approved for payment.

GRAND TOTAL $6,006,969.24

5B



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

08/03/2023

08/14/2023

PAPER CHECK

245.607UP DETROIT006965*293389

900.00ACTION CONSTRUCTIONBDREFUND293390

59.00ACUSHNET COMPANY008106293391

500.00ADVANCED RENOVATIONS INCBDREFUND293392

795.90ADVANCED VETERINARY MEDICAL CENTER009699293393

200.00AIELLO EXTERIORSBDREFUND293394

300.00ALLIED SIGNS INCBDREFUND293395

200.00ALLIED SIGNS, INCBDREFUND293396

100.00ALLIED SIGNS, INC.BDREFUND293397

1,400.00ALPINE CONSTRUCTION INCBDREFUND293398

217.75ALTIN ZALOSHNJAMISC293399

500.00AMANDA MCBRIDE009393*293400

300.00AMERICAN POOL SERVICE INCBDREFUND293401

2,439.24ANDREW TURKO & CHRISTOPHER MIKULATAXMISC*293402

697.73ANN GORDONTAXMISC*293403

100.00ANTHONY CONTRACTINGBDREFUND293404

3,221.94AT&T006759*293405

300.00BALIAN LEGAL, PLC009609293406

13.05BOB BARKER CO INC001122293407

564.60BEDROCK EXPRESS LTD009568293408

1,000.00BIRMINGHAM PLBG CO INCBDREFUND293409

200.00BRICKWORKS PROPERTY RESTORATIONBDREFUND293410

5,233.00BS&A SOFTWARE, INC006520*293411

100.00BYRON, COREYBDREFUND293412

1,031.22CADILLAC ASPHALT, LLC003907293413

100.00CAITLIN E ROSSO TRUST AGREEMENTBDREFUND293414

12,219.00CANON SOLUTIONS AMERICA INC009078293415

8,358.76CAPITAL ONE BANK003904*293416

1,440.00CAPITAL TIRE, INC.007732293417

900.00CAPPUSO BUILDING LLCBDREFUND293418

3,750.00CDW GOVERNMENT INC000444*293419

149.55CENGAGE LEARNING INC000902293420

177.51RYAN KATZ001086*293421

630.44RYAN KATZ001086*293422

500.00CIVIL PRO LLCBDREFUND293423

1,640.32CLEAR RATE COMMUNICATIONS, INC008006293424

45.70CMP DISTRIBUTORS INC002234293425

1,150.00COASTAL DESIGN & BUILDBDREFUND293426

1,312.13COMCAST BUSINESS007774293427

1,505.88CONSUMERS ENERGY000627*293428

200.00COUNTRYSIDE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, IBDREFUND293429

1,000.00CREGGER SERVICES INCBDREFUND293430 5C



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

08/03/2023

08/14/2023

1,460.00daniel shaneBDREFUND293431

217.75DAVID BRETHENMISC293432

311.50DENNY'S HEATING, COOLING & REFRIDGE009713*293433

14,000.00DIXON ENGINEERING INC001555293434

120.00DORSEY EMERGENCY MEDICAL ACADEMY009073293435

36.46DTE ENERGY000179*293436

22.71DTE ENERGY000179*293437

10,125.43DTE ENERGY000179*293438

150.00DTE ENERGY000179*293439

390.59DTE ENERGY000179*293440

14.89DTE ENERGY000179*293441

1,214.99DTE ENERGY000179*293442

36.14DTE ENERGY000179*293443

15.72DTE ENERGY000179*293444

17.49DTE ENERGY000179*293445

871.95DTE ENERGY000179*293446

22.86DTE ENERGY000179*293447

71.40GARY EISELE008164293448

200.00EMERY DESIGN & BUILDBDREFUND293449

300.00Executive Landscaping IncBDREFUND293450

200.00FAIRPLAY HOME MAINTENANCEBDREFUND293451

4,500.00FARMINGTON COMM. LIBRARY000585293452

70,100.00FEDEWA INC009613*293453

59.95FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF OMAHA009315*293454

1,000.00GGA SERVICES LLCBDREFUND293455

200.00GITTLEMAN CONSTRUCTION INC.BDREFUND293456

1,606.50GORDON FOOD004604*293457

318.72GREAT LAKES COCA-COLA DISTRIBUTION009275293458

100.00GREAT LAKES LANDSCAPE DESIGN, INCBDREFUND293459

366.68HARRELL'S LLC006346293460

300.00HINES, THOMASBDREFUND293461

585.16HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES001956*293462

824.35IBS OF SE MICHIGAN000342293463

3,639.19INGRAM LIBRARY SERVICES001090293464

300.00JFK INVESTMENT COMPANY LLCBDREFUND293465

100.00JOHN LINDSAY MAYER LANDSCAPE ARCHITBDREFUND293466

200.00JOHN MCCARTER CONSTRUCTION LLCBDREFUND293467

600.00JUSTIN ZAYID009403*293468

405.00KIRTLAND COMMUNITY COLLEGE002599293469

801.07CHRISTOPHER KOCH002659*293470

41,723.00LAFONTAINE CHRYSLERMISC293471

3,000.00LAMARCO HOMES LLCBDREFUND293472

1,100.00LAW OFFICE OF BRIAN P. FENECH009386*293473

5C



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

08/03/2023

08/14/2023

600.00LAW OFFICE OF PATRICK G. GAGNIUK009388*293474

169.00LERMA, INC008518293475

239.28LESLIE ELECTRIC COMPANY000284293476

3,400.00LIVE WELL CUSTOM HOME LLCBDREFUND293477

2,000.00LL CUSTOM CONTRACTING OF MICHIGANBDREFUND293478

6,400.00LMB PROPERTIES LLCBDREFUND293479

500.00MAINSTREET DESIGN & BUILDBDREFUND293480

500.00MC ARDLE, JEFFREY DBDREFUND293481

12.41MEAGAN TESSLERMISC293482

100.00MEJER, CLIFFORDBDREFUND293483

100.00MELDRUM LANDSCAPE CONSTRUCTIONBDREFUND293484

200.00MERRILLWOOD BUILDING LLCBDREFUND293485

277.75MICHAEL MCINERNEYMISC293486

26.80MIKE SAVOIE CHEVROLET INC000230293487

7,044.66MKSK INC008319293488

200.00MOORE ROOFINGBDREFUND293489

100.00N.C. CEMENTBDREFUND293490

100.00NEST CONSTRUCTIONBDREFUND293491

9.71NINA MIVCICMISC293492

1,120.48NORTH BREATHING AIR, LLC008687293493

500.00NOSAN VENTURES LLCBDREFUND293494

100.00OAKES ROOFING SIDING & WINDOWS INCBDREFUND293495

3,000.00OAKLAND COMMUNITY COLLEGE002853293496

738.00OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH CENTERS004370293497

559.00OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH CENTERS004370*293497

1,186.14ODP BUSINESS SOLUTIONS, LLC009478*293498

5,453.00OHM ADVISORS INC008669293499

4,800.00PACE SYSTEMS, INC.009702293500

100.00PETRUCCI WOODWARD LLCBDREFUND293501

138.66PROGRESSIVE PLUMBING SUPPLY CO009614*293502

153.69R & R FIRE TRUCK REPAIR INC004137293503

200.00R T CONSTRUCTION INCBDREFUND293504

38.85RAIN MASTER CONTROL SYSTEMS008342*293505

10.00RAPHAELA FODALEMISC*293506

3,437.94ROOVERS, ELISAUBREFUND*293507

618.92ROTO ROOTERBDREFUND293508

2,500.00SAFETY KING, INC.007265*293509

100.00SALLES-MINGELS, SANDRABDREFUND293510

200.00SALON TORO LLCBDREFUND293511

388.63SAM'S CLUB/SYNCHRONY BANK002806*293512

100.00SCHOENHERR HOMES LLCBDREFUND293513

4,028.00SECURA INSURANCE COMPANY009716*293514

222.13SHARE CORPORATION009548293515

5C



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

08/03/2023

08/14/2023

101.33SHERWIN WILLIAMS COMPANY003483293516

4,937.99SIGNATURE CLEANING LLC009009*293517

37.00SUSAN CLAYMISC*293518

200.00SWARTZ BUILDERS COBDREFUND293519

299.00SYDNEY SOLUTIONS LLC007503293520

1,060.00TARGET SPECIALTY PRODUCTS000286293521

200.00TEMPLETON BUILDING COMPANYBDREFUND293522

237.00THAT'S GREAT NEWSMISC293523

10,000.00TIR EQUITIES LLCBDREFUND293524

100.00TITAN CEMENT CONSTRUCTION LLCBDREFUND293525

100.00TOCCO & MANNINO LANDSCAPINGBDREFUND293526

508.00TRAFFIC & SAFETY CONTROL SYSTEMS009552293527

87.60VAN DYKE GAS CO.000293*293528

147.21VERIZON WIRELESS000158*293529

49.07VERIZON WIRELESS000158*293530

500.00WEATHERGARD WINDOW CO INCBDREFUND293531

697.06WEST SHORE FIRE INC001490293532

12,320.00WISS, JANNEY, ELSTNER ASSOC. INC008408293533

19,780.00WJE-WISS, JANNEY, ELSTNER ASSOC.INC007620293534

729.23ZEP SALES AND SERVICE000309*293535

46.51ZORO TOOLS, INC.008902*293536

SUBTOTAL PAPER CHECK $321,137.87

ACH TRANSACTION

197.51AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES INC0091268716

68.00AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES INC009126*8717

103.45AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES INC009126*8718

300.00BATTI LAW PLLC009383*8719

412.50BEIER HOWLETT P.C.000517*8720

5,875.09BELL EQUIPMENT COMPANY0005188721

114.34BEVERLY HILLS ACE007345*8722

20,273.00BIRMINGHAM LAWN MAINTENANCE, INC0066838723

2,249.00BIRMINGHAM LAWN MAINTENANCE, INC006683*8723

2,925.92BIRMINGHAM PUBLIC SCHOOLS-TAXES008840*8724

278.10BOB ADAMS TOWING0091838725

1,010.00CANFIELD EQUIPMENT SERVICE INC.0078758726

900.00CECILIA QUIRINDONGO BAUNSOE009396*8727

230.00CLAIRE CHUNG009122*8728

228.11CINTAS CORPORATION0006058729

38.82CINTAS CORPORATION0006058730

1,147.24CONTRACTORS CLOTHING CO0026688731

550.18DORNBOS SIGN & SAFETY INC000565*8732

227.37EASTMAN FIRE PROTECTION INC0010638733

8,266.81G2 CONSULTING GROUP LLC007807*8734 5C



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

08/03/2023

08/14/2023

430.83GAYLORD BROS., INC000592*8735

14,231.00GRANICUS, INC.007099*8736

90.00HAYES PRECISION INC001672*8737

300.00HB LAW, PLLC009382*8738

107,552.49HUBBELL ROTH & CLARK INC0003318739

1,190.00IDUMESARO LAW FIRM, PLLC009390*8740

5,897.96INSIGHT INVESTMENT008851*8741

3,752.50J.H. HART URBAN FORESTRY000261*8742

227.22JOE'S AUTO PARTS, INC.003458*8743

330.00KELLER THOMA000891*8744

600.00LAMB LEGAL CONSULTING SERVICES009392*8745

300.00LAW OFFICE OF MICHAEL J. DICK009385*8746

1,080.00MARCIA C ROSS PC009398*8747

1,240.73MIDWEST TAPE0020138748

37.55MOTOR CITY INDUSTRIAL0004628749

1,157.50NBS COMMERCIAL INTERIORS0083368750

437.00NELSON BROTHERS SEWER0011948751

1,041.26NETWORK SERVICES COMPANY007755*8752

2,450.00NEWTONS SOLUTIONS LLC0092768753

40,474.90NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS0018648754

297.00NYE UNIFORM COMPANY006359*8755

8,017.51OAKLAND COUNTY TREASURER- TAX PYMNT008843*8756

1,247.52OSCAR W. LARSON CO.002767*8757

299.50PAUL C SCOTT PLUMBING INC006853*8758

253.00PENCHURA, LLC006027*8759

24.72QUENCH USA INC0067298760

13,368.17RKA PETROLEUM003554*8761

50.00ROSE PEST SOLUTIONS001181*8762

151.71VOLVIK USA0087118763

105.00WAGEWORKS, INC.009687*8764

3,234.00YELLOW DOOR LAW009379*8765

2,421.76ABS- AUTOMATED BENEFIT SVCS, INC008847*8766

SUBTOTAL ACH TRANSACTION $257,686.27

5C



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

08/03/2023

08/14/2023

*-Indicates checks released in advance and prior to commission approval in order to avoid penalty
or to meet contractual agreement/obligation.

Mark Gerber
Finance Director/ Treasurer

All bills, invoices and other evidences of claim have been audited and approved for payment.

GRAND TOTAL $578,824.14

5C



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

08/09/2023

08/14/2023

PAPER CHECK

701.2521ST CENTURY MEDIA- MICHIGAN005430293537

279.0048TH DISTRICT COURT000855*293538

267.007UP DETROIT006965*293539

299.37AIRGAS USA, LLC003708293540

144.00ALLTRONICS SYSTEMS LTD006686*293541

1,550.00ALPHA PSYCHOLOGICAL SERVICES PC000161293542

5,988.00ARCHIVESOCIAL INC009260293543

116.00ARTECH PRINTING INC000500293544

855.00ASTI ENVIRONMENTAL008988293545

5,000.00BEASLEY MEDIA GROUP, LLC009358*293546

2,639.79BIBLIOTHECA, LLC006782293547

837.28BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC003526293548

1,895.00BRITTEN, INC.009714*293549

205.00BS&A SOFTWARE, INC006520*293550

4,570.70C & G PUBLISHING INC.003786*293551

103.50CADILLAC ASPHALT, LLC003907293552

11,037.26CANON SOLUTIONS AMERICA INC009078*293553

900.00CAPITAL TIRE, INC.007732293554

350.00CAROL ANN OWENSMISC*293555

600.00CAROL BACAK-EGBO009597293556

737.41CASPER'S TRUCK EQUIPMENT009719293557

265.30CONSUMERS ENERGY000627*293558

5,612.50CORBIN DESIGN, INC009656293559

133.08CUMMINS BRIDGEWAY LLC003923293560

218.97DEALER AUTO PARTS009309293561

22.20DTE ENERGY000179*293562

2,478.36DTE ENERGY000179*293563

166.27DTE ENERGY000179*293564

471.24DTE ENERGY000179*293565

9,637.68DTE ENERGY000179*293566

1,653.10DTE ENERGY000179*293567

4,087.38DTE ENERGY000179*293568

2,395.91DTE ENERGY000179*293569

26.86DTE ENERGY000179293570

35.39DTE ENERGY000179*293571

18.34DTE ENERGY000179*293572

188.28DTE ENERGY000179*293573

806.30DTE ENERGY000179*293574

322.14DTE ENERGY000179*293575

1,382.17DTE ENERGY000179*293576

80.42DTE ENERGY000179*293577

224.18DTE ENERGY000179*293578

5D



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

08/09/2023

08/14/2023

1,784.79DTE ENERGY000179*293579

49,364.76DTE ENERGY000180*293580

5,300.00DYNAMIC SYSTEMS, INC.006090293581

200.00EAGLE SECURITY & LIFE SAFETY, INC009575*293582

1,750.00EASTERN MICHIGAN UNIVERSITY002460293583

200.00DENNIS FARAC008574*293584

350.73FAST SIGNS001223293585

28.68FEDEX OFFICE004514293586

885.50FRANCIS PALLISCHECKTAXMISC*293587

3,789.00GENESYS EMS EDUCATIONMISC*293588

1,443.09GORDON FOOD004604*293589

2,637.00GUNNERS METER & PARTS INC001531293590

12.37HELEN F TRENDOWSKI TRUSTEETAXMISC*293591

1,331.00HIGHEST HONOR, INC007339293592

420.29HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES001956*293593

1,381.00HYDROCORP000948293594

4,499.99IHEART MEDIA009259*293595

755.20INTERMEDIA. NET INC009551293596

1,300.00JENETTE MAITZ009559*293597

19,200.00JOHNSON SIGN CO. INC008775293598

820.00KGM DISTRIBUTORS INC004088293599

250.00SHEILA C. LANDIS005049*293600

250.00SHEILA C. LANDIS005049*293601

100.00LEXISNEXIS RISK DATA MANAGEMENT INC006817293602

1,500.00LITTLE GUIDE LLC009350*293603

1,918.75MARC DUTTON IRRIGATION INC002648293604

146.00MERGE MOBILE, INC.008793293605

291.90MICHELLE BROWN & SARGAM PATELTAXMISC*293606

60.50MICHIGAN BREAD BAKERY007479293607

150.00MICHIGAN GOLF COURSE SUPERINTENDENT009717293608

800.00MIDWAY CLEANING CO, LLC009630293609

714.48MIKE SAVOIE CHEVROLET INC000230293610

108.08MOHAMED F. CHAMMAA007744*293611

670.00OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH CENTERS004370293612

1,255.00OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH CENTERS004370*293612

487.50PARTY ANIMALS, INC.009700*293613

167.00PREMIUM AIR SYSTEMS INC003629293614

7,060.00RAM CONSTRUCTION SERVICES OF MICHIG009666293615

200.00ROBERT STEPHEN SKON009710*293616

37.94SAM'S CLUB/SYNCHRONY BANK002806*293617

195.20SCNS INC009601293618

159.00SECURE DOOR, LLC006590*293619

630.00SEEN MEDIA GROUP009282*293620

5D



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

08/09/2023

08/14/2023

500.00SP+ CORPORATION007907*293621

3,064.05SPARTAN DISTRIBUTORS INC000260293622

16.01STRYKER SALES CORPORATION004544293623

1,405.00SWANK MOTION PICTURES, INC007781*293624

66.72THE MICHAELS COMPANIES009712*293625

25.00TIM DAVISMISC*293626

331.62TIRE WHOLESALERS CO INC000275293627

1,300.00TURNER SANITATION, INC004379*293628

73.50VALLEY CITY LINEN, INC007226293629

58.40VAN DYKE GAS CO.000293*293630

862.29VERIZON WIRELESS000158*293631

298.50VERIZON WIRELESS000158*293632

152.04VERIZON WIRELESS000158*293633

200.00WE THE PEOPLE OPPORTUNITY FARMMISC293634

229.70WEST SHORE FIRE INC001490293635

245.00WOLVERINE POWER SYSTEMS004512293636

SUBTOTAL PAPER CHECK $192,734.21

ACH TRANSACTION

703.41APOLLO FIRE EQUIPMENT000282*8771

1,435.00ART/DESIGN GROUP LTD001357*8772

363.00BEIER HOWLETT P.C.000517*8773

2,462.55BELL EQUIPMENT COMPANY000518*8774

89.19BEVERLY HILLS ACE007345*8775

646.00BIRMINGHAM LAWN MAINTENANCE, INC0066838776

2,889,819.72BIRMINGHAM PUBLIC SCHOOLS-TAXES008840*8777

113.25BLUE WATER INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS INC000542*8778

579.25BOB ADAMS TOWING0091838779

85.00BOB ADAMS TOWING009183*8779

31.92JAIMI BROOK0085458780

181.89CINTAS CORPORATION0006058781

147.68CINTAS CORPORATION000605*8782

38.82CINTAS CORPORATION0006058783

118.01CINTAS CORPORATION000605*8784

554.00CLUB PROPHET008044*8785

206.50DENNY'S HEATING, COOLING & REFRIDGE009713*8786

606.86DETROIT CHEMICAL & PAPER SUPPLY007359*8787

259.38KAMERON DIMITRY0095158788

861.68DORNBOS SIGN & SAFETY INC000565*8789

328.00DOWNTOWN PUBLICATIONS INC006528*8790

6,393.15DUNCAN PARKING TECH INC0010778791

500.00JANA ECKER0038018792

615.54GRAINGER000243*8793

25,740.17J.H. HART URBAN FORESTRY0002618794 5D



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

08/09/2023

08/14/2023

39,681.25J.H. HART URBAN FORESTRY000261*8794

625.00JCC CREATIVE LLC009249*8795

833.66JOE'S AUTO PARTS, INC.003458*8796

2,371.34JOHNSON CONTROLS SECURITY SOLUTIONS0001558797

156.00HAILEY R KASPER007827*8798

710.00MAJIK GRAPHICS INC0014178799

1,430.00MILES PARTNERSHIP LLLP009242*8800

680.00MOSHER & ASSOCIATES LLC006409*8801

294.00NELSON BROTHERS SEWER0011948802

7,650.00NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS001864*8803

944.50NYE UNIFORM COMPANY006359*8804

4,892,655.27OAKLAND COUNTY TREASURER- TAX PYMNT008843*8805

280.00PAUL C SCOTT PLUMBING INC006853*8806

100.00PEGASUS ENTERTAINMENT INC005688*8807

555.72PEPSI COLA001753*8808

1,469.93PRINTING SYSTEMS INC0008978809

2,580.00SIGNS-N-DESIGNS INC003785*8810

86,202.00SOCRRA0002548811

1,197.23SOUTHEASTERN EQUIPMENT CO. INC0057878812

281.45TOTAL ARMORED CAR SERVICE, INC.002037*8813

8,768.45US SIGNAL COMPANY LLC0092668814

670.00VIGILANTE SECURITY INC000969*8815

1,951.40WHITLOCK BUSINESS SYSTEMS, INC.007278*8816

SUBTOTAL ACH TRANSACTION $7,984,967.17

*-Indicates checks released in advance and prior to commission approval in order to avoid penalty
or to meet contractual agreement/obligation.

Mark Gerber
Finance Director/ Treasurer

All bills, invoices and other evidences of claim have been audited and approved for payment.

GRAND TOTAL $8,177,701.38

5D



MEMORANDUM 
Police Department 

DATE: August 1, 2023 

TO: Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 

FROM: Scott A. Grewe, Chief of Police 

SUBJECT: Office of Highway Safety Planning – Grant Award 

INTRODUCTION: 
The police department has applied for a grant through the Office of Highway Safety Planning 
(OHSP).  Our proposal consists of a traffic services grant for overtime enforcement and equipment 
for the Birmingham Police Department.  Our proposal requested funds to cover overtime costs 
associated with Woodward Ave. patrols, an SA24 combined radar and messaging sign, two Stalker 
XLR Lidar units, and a Leica GS18T GPS measuring device that is used while investigating serious 
injury or fatal accidents. 

BACKGROUND: 
For the last few years, the police department has dedicated extra patrols to Woodward Ave. to 
address traffic issues as it relates to moving violations and exhaust noise.  On Friday and Saturday 
evenings, two officers have been assigned overtime from 6 pm to 11 pm creating a significant 
burden to our overtime budget. 

Additionally, our proposal requested funds to purchase instruments used for the monitoring and 
enforcement of speeding vehicles.  The two Stalker XLR Lidar units are laser speed-measuring 
devices to be utilized by officers for speed enforcement.  The SA24 combined message and radar 
trailer will be added to address speeding complaints by temporarily placing this trailer in areas 
where complaints are received to display the vehicle's speed to increase awareness and gain 
compliance.  The added capability of messaging on this trailer will provide the opportunity to 
display messages,  as seen previously on Woodward regarding enforcement activity. 

The police department participates in the South Oakland County Crash Investigation Team 
(SOCCIT) for the investigation of serious injury or fatal vehicle accidents.  While investigating 
these types of accidents, precise measuring equipment is required to ensure accuracy while 
documenting a crash site.  Currently, our department relies on SOCCIT and other member 
agencies to provide this measuring device at crash scenes.  The Birmingham Police Department 
has requested funds to purchase a Leica GS18T measuring device to ensure there is one always 

5E



available in Birmingham and to increase our crash investigators' familiarity with the utilization of 
this device. 

LEGAL REVIEW:  
No legal review is required. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
The grant award provides $28,548.73 for personnel overtime and fringe benefits.  Additionally, 
the grant award provides $51,638.40 for equipment used for traffic safety and enforcement.  In 
total, the city will receive $80,187.13 from OHSP to help cover the cost of traffic enforcement on 
Woodward Ave. and the purchase of equipment used for traffic monitoring and enforcement. 

SUSTAINABILITY: 
The SA24 combined radar and messaging sign is equipped with a solar panel for charging allowing 
longer run times and less downtime for recharging. 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
None. 

SUMMARY: 
The police department has applied for grant funding through the OHSP to assist in covering the 
cost of overtime associated with traffic enforcement on Woodward Ave.  Additionally, we 
requested funding for two laser speed measuring devices, a radar/messaging trailer used for 
monitoring and enforcement activity, and a Leica GS18T GPS measuring device that is used while 
investigating serious injury or fatal accidents. 

The police department has been notified that our grant request has been approved. 

ATTACHMENTS:   

1. Project Summary
2. Budget Request Summary
3. Price Quotes for Equipment

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to approve the Office of Highway Safety Planning grant 
award and to authorize the Chief of Police to sign the grant award on behalf of the City. 

5E



5E



5E



5E



5E



5E



5E



5E



MEMORANDUM 
Parking 

DATE: August 9th, 2023 

TO: Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 

FROM: Aaron Ford, Parking Systems Manager 

SUBJECT: Agreement with Windcave, Inc.  

INTRODUCTION: 
City staff recommends entering into an agreement with Windcave, Inc., a sole source vendor, to 
provide credit card processing services for all credit card transactions associated with the TIBA 
parking equipment at all five City parking garages.  

BACKGROUND: 
In January 2023, the City installed new TIBA parking equipment at all five City parking garages. 
Windcave, Inc. is currently the only credit card processor for the TIBA equipment. 

SP+, the third party operator for the City, currently collects all the revenue for the five parking 
garages on behalf of the City. As the collector of revenue, SP+ had to enter into an agreement 
with Windcave, Inc. when the equipment was installed. SP+ is reimbursed by the City for all credit 
card fees as part of operating expenses.  

The City has long desired to transition the collection of all revenue from SP+ to the City. To be 
able to collect revenue itself, the City must have its own agreement with Windcave, Inc. 
Windcave, Inc. is the only authorized credit card processor for TIBA parking equipment. 
Windcave, Inc. is a sole source vendor. Once an agreement with Windcave, Inc. has been 
completed, the City and SP+ can work on transitioning the revenue collection from SP+ to the 
City.  

LEGAL REVIEW:  
The agreement with Windcave, Inc. has been reviewed and approved by the City attorney. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
The fees associated with Windcave, Inc. are broken down by number of transactions.  Wincave, 
Inc. requires a minimum of $1,600.00 for 40,000 transactions per month. Additional transactions 
in each calendar month are at the rate of $.05 per transaction. Based on the current usage of the 

5F



TIBA parking equipment since it’s installation in January 2023, the City averages 160,000 
transactions per month. The projected average monthly payment to Windcave, Inc. based on 
these numbers would be the following: 

160,000 average monthly transactions 
$1,600.00 (40,000 minimum transactions per month) X 12 months = $19,200 
160,000 total est. monthly trans. – 40,000 minimum monthly trans. = 120,000 additional trans. 
120,000 X $.05 additional per transaction fee = $6,000 
$6,000 X 12 months = $72,000 
$6,000 + $1,600 = $7,600 average monthly fees 
$72,000 + $19,200 = $91,200 projected annual credit card fees. 

Additional fees include a $100 establishment fee, $30.00 one-time fee for each additional payment 
manager that needs to be setup, and a $100 per merchant account fee.  

SUSTAINABILITY: 
None. 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
None. 

SUMMARY: 
City staff recommends entering into an agreement with Windcave, Inc., Inc., a sole source 
vendor, as the credit card processor for all revenue associated with the TIBA parking equipment 
at the City’s five parking garages. This would allow the City to make a transition from SP+ 
collecting all the revenue to the City collecting its own revenue.  

ATTACHMENTS: 

A. Agreement with Wincave, Inc.

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to approve a 1 year agreement with Windcave, Inc. for 
credit card processing in the amount of $1,600 minimum per 40,000 transactions and $.05 per 
transaction for every transaction over 40,000. In addition, to authorize the Mayor and City Clerk 
to sign the agreement on behalf of the City. Funding for this project has been budgeted in 
Other Outside Services (514.1-594.001-811.000). 

5F



5F



5F



5F



5F



5F



5F



5F



5F



5F



5F



 
 
 
 
 

 
CITY OF BIRMINGHAM:  
 
By:       
  Therese Longe, Mayor  
 
 
By:       
 Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk  
 

 
APPROVED:  

 
____________________________                          _____________________________ 
Jana Ecker, City Manager        Aaron Ford, Parking Manager 
(Approved as to substance)                                    (Approved as to substance) 

 
 

___________________________                           _____________________________ 
Mary M. Kucharek, City Attorney                             Mark A. Gerber, Finance Director  
(Approved as to form)                                           (Approved as to Financial Obligation) 

5F



MEMORANDUM 
Engineering Department  

DATE: August 9, 2023

TO: Jana L. Ecker, City Manager

FROM: Melissa A. Coatta, City Engineer

SUBJECT: Oakland County Local Government Critical Infrastructure Planning 
Interlocal Grant Agreement Amendment  

INTRODUCTION:  
The City has an agreement with Oakland County for a Local Government Critical Infrastructure 
Planning grant.  Oakland County has requested an amendment to this interlocal agreement.   

BACKGROUND: 
The City Commission approved the interlocal agreement for the Oakland County Local 
Government Critical Information Planning grant at the October 3, 2022 City Commission meeting 
for a $100,000.00 grant. Oakland County would like to amend the agreement with the following: 

- Add a sentence to the first paragraph on the first page with "Notwithstanding any
language to the contrary in the Agreement, Public Body is a grantee of the funds it
received under the Agreement.  Public Body shall comply with all requirements in the
Agreement regardless of its classification as a grantee."

- Delete paragraph 5.f under Public Body Affirmations.
- Modify paragraph 10., Comply with Laws, to add subparagraph f. “Public Body must

comply with 2 C.F.R. Part D, Post Federal Award Requirements, being 200.300 et seq.,
where applicable.”

LEGAL REVIEW:  
The City Attorney has reviewed the amendment and has no concerns or objections. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
The revenue from this grant has been included in the budget for the 2022/2023, 2023/2024, and 
2024/2025 fiscal years in the Water Fund and Sewer Fund. The amendment to this interlocal 
agreement has no cost impacts.   

SUSTAINABILITY: 
N/A 

5G



2 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
The requested amendment will be publicized as part of the City Commission agenda packet of 
August 14, 2023. 

SUMMARY: 
It is recommended the City amends the Oakland Local Government Critical Infrastructure Planning 
Interlocal Agreement by approving Amendment 1.  

ATTACHMENTS: 

• Amendment to Interlocal Agreement (2 pages)
• Oakland Local Government Critical Infrastructure Planning Interlocal Agreement (24

pages)

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION:
Make a motion adopting a resolution to amend the interlocal agreement between the City 
and Oakland County for the $100,000 Local Government Critical Infrastructure 
Planning grant award.  In addition, to authorize the City Engineer to sign Amendment 1 on 
behalf of the City, and to direct the City Clerk to witness the amendment.

5G



Water and Sewer Infrastructure Projects 

AGREEMENT FOR LOCAL FISCAL RECOVERY FUND DISTRIBUTION BETWEEN

OAKLAND COUNTY AND

THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM 

Amendment 1 

The Parties agree to amend the AGREEMENT FOR LOCAL FISCAL RECOVERY FUND DISTRIBUTION

BETWEEN OAKLAND COUNTY AND THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM (“Agreement”) as follows: 

1. The following sentence will be added to the end of the first paragraph on the first page of the

Agreement: “Notwithstanding any language to the contrary in the Agreement, Public Body is a

grantee of the funds it received under the Agreement.  Public Body shall comply with all

requirements in the Agreement regardless of its classification as a grantee.”

2. Paragraph 5.f. under PUBLIC BODY AFFIRMATIONS will be deleted.

3. Paragraph 10. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS will be modified to add subparagraph f. which states,

“Public Body must comply with 2 C.F.R. Part D, Post Federal Award Requirements, being 200.300

et seq., where applicable.”

4. This Amendment will be effective on August 14, 2023.

5. All contractual provisions of the Agreement not otherwise affected by this Amendment shall

remain in full force and effect.

FOR AND IN CONSIDERATION of the mutual assurances, promises, acknowledgments, set forth in this 

Amendment 1 and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which is hereby 

acknowledged, the undersigned hereby execute this Amendment 1 on behalf of the Parties, and by doing 

so legally obligate and bind the Parties to the terms and conditions of this Amendment 1. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Melissa A. Coatta, P.E. City Engineer hereby acknowledges that he/she has been 

authorized by a resolution of the City of Birmingham, a certified copy of which is attached, to execute 

this Amendment on behalf of Public Body and hereby accepts and binds Public Body to the terms and 

conditions of this Amendment. 

EXECUTED: ____________________________________ DATE: _______________ 

Melissa A. Coatta, P.E., City Engineer, City of Birmingham 

WITNESSED: ___________________________________ DATE: _______________ 

Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 

5G



Water and Sewer Infrastructure Projects 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, David Woodward, Chairperson, Oakland County Board of Commissioners, 

hereby acknowledges that he has been authorized by a resolution of the Oakland County Board of 

Commissioners to execute this Amendment on behalf of Oakland County, and hereby accepts and 

binds Oakland County to the terms and conditions of this Amendment. 

EXECUTED: ____________________________________ DATE: _______________ 

David Woodward, Chairperson 

Oakland County Board of Commissioners 

WITNESSED: ___________________________________ DATE: _______________ 

Oakland County Board of Commissioners 

County of Oakland 

5G



5G



5G



5G



5G



5G



5G



5G



5G



5G



5G



5G



5G



5G



5G



5G



5G



5G



5G



5G



5G



5G



5G



5G



5G



MEMORANDUM 
Legal 

DATE: 

TO: 

FROM: 

SUBJECT: 

August 8, 2023 

Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 

Mary M. Kucharek, City Attorney

Amendment to Storm Water Utility Ordinance 

INTRODUCTION: 
An Ordinance to Amend Part II. of the City Code, Chapter 114 – Utilities, Article VI.-Storm Water 
Utility Fee is being suggested to clarify how property owners may appeal storm water fees for 
the property type classified or alleged mathematical error in the calculation of fees. 

BACKGROUND: 
The storm water utility fee was studied and amended by the City’s Engineering Department along 
with its consultants in December of 2016.  In reviewing, Sec.114-402(c) it discusses any “non-
single-family residential property owner liable for a storm water utility fee may appeal the 
determination.”   However, under subsection (d) it discusses that single-family residential property 
owners may appeal the determination of their property and the utilization of storm water systems, 
but it does not designate the process for such an appeal.  Subsection (e) says that an appeal may 
be heard by the storm water utility board as it pertains to non-single family residential property 
owners, however, it does not speak to single-family residential property owners.  One should read 
this ordinance in conjunction with the City Charter at Sec. 1-19, subsections (a) and (b) which 
discusses the storm water utility board and its process.  Most notably, at Sec. 1-19 Storm water 
utility appeals board for disputed fees states: 

“(b)  Functions of the storm water utility appeals board. When there is a question 
or a dispute as to the applicability of any invoice received by a property owner 
or resident of the city pursuant to any of the fee collection ordinances of this 
Code, as described in subsection (a)(1), to a particular situation, that question 
or dispute shall be directed to the storm water utility appeals board. It shall 
then be the function of the storm water utility appeals board to conduct a 
hearing and make a determination, as applicable.” 

It is important to note that the Charter says that when there is a dispute or a question, a property 
owner or resident of the City may appeal to the storm water utility board.  Therefore, it would 

5H



seem logical and appropriate that the ordinance at Sec. 114-400 et seq. would also include an 
appellate process to the appeals board for any property owner, both non-single family residential 
property owners and single-family residential property owners.   

LEGAL REVIEW:  
The City Attorney’s office is recommending the amendment to this ordinance as described to 
clarify the appellate process for all property owners. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  
It is important that storm water utility fees are correctly assessed for all of the residents of the 
City of Birmingham and that all fees charged are correct and appropriate. 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
This ordinance amendment has been set for tonight’s agenda and part of the packet. 

SUMMARY: 
An amendment to the City ordinance at Sec. 114-402 is appropriate to clarify the appeals process 
of storm water utility fees. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Redlined version of proposed Ordinance to Amend, Part II of the City Code, Chapter 114
– Utilities, Article VI – Storm Water Utility Fee.

2. Clean version of proposed Ordinance to Amend, Part II of the City Code, Chapter 114 –
Utilities, Article VI – Storm Water Utility Fee.

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 

Make a motion adopting an amendment to Part II of the City Code, Chapter 114 – Utilities, Article 
VI – Storm Water Utility Fee. 

5H



CITY OF BIRMINGHAM 

ORDINANCE NO.  

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND PART II OF THE CITY CODE, CHAPTER 114 – UTILITIES, 
ARTICLE VI – STORM WATER UTILITY FEE  

THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM ORDAINS: 

The City Code, Part II, Chapter 114. Utilities, Article VI. – Storm Water Utility Fee shall be 
amended to read as follows: 

ARTICLE VI . STORM WATER UTILITY FEE 

Sec. 114-400. Definitions. 

The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this article, shall have the meanings 
ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:  

Combined sewer system: Public sewers, drains, ditches, roads and retention ponds used for 
collecting and transporting storm water and non-storm water in the city.  

Director: The city engineer or such other person as the city manager may designate. 
Equivalent storm water unit (ESWU): A subunit of measurement which relates the volume of 
storm water discharged from a lot based on the amount of total and impervious lot area, 
compared to the standard unit. The formula for an equivalent storm water unit (ESWU) is as 
follows:  

1 ESWU = (0.15 (TAs - IAs) + (0.90 (IAs)) 
where,  

TAs = total area of standard unit;  
IAs = impervious area of standard unit;  
0.15 = runoff coefficient for pervious area;  
0.90 = runoff coefficient for impervious area. 

One ESWU in the city is equal to the average runoff potential of the standard unit. 
Impervious lot area: Impervious area means a surface area that is resistant to permeation 

by surface water.  
Industrial sites Those sites that contain industrial activities which require wastewater 

discharge permits as set forth in section 114-202 of this Code.  
Nonstorm water: All flows to the combined sewer system not defined as storm water in 

section 114-199, or as determined by the director.  

5H



Pervious lot area: All land area that is not impervious. Pervious lot area equals the total lot 
area, minus the impervious lot area. Pervious lot area has a runoff coefficient equal to 0.15.  
Runoff potential: The runoff potential from a property is based on hydrologic principles for 
calculating runoff that use both the impervious surface area and the pervious surface area. Runoff 
potential is measured in square feet using the following formula:  

Runoff Potential = 0.15x [Total Area - Impervious Area] + 0.9 x [Impervious Area] 
Separated storm water sewer system: Public sewers, drains, channels, ditches, roads and 

retention ponds used for collecting and transporting storm water in the city.  
Standard unit: Single-family residential parcel in the city within a lot size between 1.126 and 

0.250 acres.  
Storm water: Storm water runoff, snow melt runoff and surface runoff and drainage. 
Storm water utility fee: The fee imposed for the use of that portion of the combined system 

that transports storm water, based on the number of ESWU's for a lot or parcel of land determined 
as provided in section 114-402.  

Storm water sewer system: That portion of the combined sewer system and separated storm 
water sewer system that is attributable to the transportation and treatment of storm water.  

User: An owner of property which directly or indirectly contributes to the combined sewer 
system.  

Sec. 114-401. Storm water utility fees. 

(a) All users shall pay a storm water utility fee proportional to the volume of storm water which
is projected to discharge into the combined sewer system and storm water sewer system
from their property.

(b) The city commission shall, by resolution, set storm water utility fees at a rate which will
recover from each user its share of the costs of the storm water sewer system attributable
to the discharge of storm water from the users' property to the storm water system. The
city shall use the revenues of the storm water utility fees to pay the costs of the water
treatment operation and maintenance of the storm water sewer system, and for necessary
improvements and additions to the storm water sewer system.

(c) The city may also collect from users fees imposed to pay the implementation and operation
of any of the following:
(1) Monitoring, inspection and surveillance procedures;
(2) Reviewing discharge procedures and construction;
(3) Discharge permit applications; or
(4) Other fees as the city may deem necessary to operate the storm water sewer system.

Sec. 114-402. Calculation of fees and appeals. 

(a) Single-family residential ESWU. All single-family residential properties in each of the lot-size
categories are assigned the same ESWU for that category. The ESWU values for the single-
family residential categories are summarized in the fee schedule.

5H



Property Type SFR Class 
Single-Family Residential, 0.125 acres or less Class A 
Single-Family Residential, 0.126 acres to 0.250 acres Class B 
Single-Family Residential, 0.251 acres to 0.500 acres Class C 
Single-Family Residential, 0.501 acres to 0.750 acres Class D 
Single-Family Residential, 0.751 acres to 1.000 acres Class E 
Single Family Residential, 1.001 acres or larger Class F 

(b) Non-single family ESWU. The storm water utility fee for non-single family lots shall equal the
number of ESWU's for a given lot, multiplied by the annual rate established by the city
commission per ESWU per year. The formula for determining the number of ESWU's per
non-single family lot shall be calculated from the amount of pervious and impervious lot area
as follows:

Number of ESWU's = 0.15 (TA - IA) + 0.90 (IA)  
Average runoff potential of the standard unit/ESWU 

where, 
TA = total area of each lot (reported in square feet);  
IA = impervious area of each lot (reported in square feet). 

(c) Any non-single-family residential property owner liable for a storm water utility fee may
appeal the determination that the property utilizes the storm water system or the amount of
a storm water utility fee, including a determination on a reduction in or the elimination of
the fee under subsections (a) and (b). An appeal may be based on the quantity of storm
water runoff generated, the reductions established, the reductions allocated, or any other
matter relating to the determination of the storm water utility fee.

(d) A single-family residential property owner may appeal the determination that the property
utilizes the storm water system, however, such an appeal shall be limited to the following
reasons:
(1) The size of the lot has been miscalculated, or
(2) All or part of the storm water runoff drains to an open drainage course, such as a river,

lake or creek, which affects the quantity of the storm water runoff generated that gets
into the storm water sewer system.

(e) An appeal under subsections (c) and/or (d) shall be heard by a storm water utility appeals
board appointed by the local unit of government. The appeals board shall consist of three
members, two of whom shall be licensed professional engineers not employed by the local
unit of government.

(f) An appeal of a storm water utility fee shall not be brought more than one year after the fee
was billed.

(g) To prevail in an appeal of a storm water utility fee, the appellant shall demonstrate in
accordance with the requirements of the plan for a non-single-family residential property
that the use of the system by the property is less than the amount used by the local unit of
government in the calculation of that property's storm water utility fee, or for all properties

5H



the classification of the property type is in error, or there was a mathematical error in the 
calculation of the fee.  

(h) The sole remedy for a property owner who prevails in an appeal of a storm water utility fee
is a prospective correct recalculation of the storm water utility fee.

(i) If in an appeal of a storm water utility fee the appeals board finds that the requirements of
subsection (g) have not been met, that finding is conclusive until the property is modified to
either increase or decrease the utilization of the system. The property owner remains eligible
for reduction or elimination of fees under the storm water utility ordinance.

(j) A property owner making an appeal shall provide the appeals board with information
necessary to make a determination.

(k) A person aggrieved by a decision of the appeals board on an appeal under this section may
appeal to the circuit court in which the property is located. An appeal to the circuit court
must be filed within 30 days of the appeals board's decision.

Sec. 114-403. Credits. 

(a) The purpose of this section is to provide for each property owner's control over contributions
of storm flows to the storm water utility system and the related storm water utility fees and
to advance protection of the public health, safety, and welfare.

(b) The city shall offer credits on an annual basis that will enable any property owner, through
voluntary action, to reduce the storm water utility fees calculated for that property owner's
property and will provide a meaningful reduction in the cost of service to the storm water
system, or that shall be reasonably related to a benefit to the storm water system.
(1) Credits will only be applied if requirements outlined in this chapter and other applicable

sections of the City Code are met, including, but not limited to: completion of ongoing
maintenance, guaranteed right-of-entry for inspections, and submittal of annual self-
certification reports.

(2) Credits will be defined as either set fee reduction or percent (%) reductions applied as
a credit adjustment to the fee calculation equation.

(3) Credits are additive to each credit category.
(4) As long as the storm water facilities or management practices are functioning as

approved, the credit reduction will be applied to the fee. If the approved practice is not
functioning as approved or is terminated, the credit reduction will be cancelled and the
fee will return to the baseline calculation. Once the credit reduction has been cancelled,
a customer may not reapply for credit for a period of 12 months and only then if the
deficiency has been corrected, as determined by city inspection.

(5) Credits will be applied to the next complete billing cycle after the application has been
approved.

(c) The director shall define a method for applying and granting credits on an annual basis, as
well as criteria for determining the credits a property owner may receive. The director may,
by regulation, establish credits for one or more of the following:
(1) Installation and maintenance of rain barrels, rain gardens, bioswales, cisterns, dry wells,

infiltration trenches, porous pavement or pavers, or disconnecting footing drains;

5H



(2) Installation and maintenance of a storm water control facility, or other water quantity
controls; and

(3) Other actions of the property owner that, in the judgment of the director, result in a
measurable reduction in storm water runoff.

Sec. 114-404. Billing. 

The billing for the storm water utility may be combined with the billing for other utility 
services. Final determinations on measurements per ESWU will be determined by the director.  

Sec. 114-405. Collection. 

Unpaid storm water utility fees shall constitute a lien against the property affected. Fees 
which have remained unpaid for a period of six months prior to April 30 may be certified to the 
city treasurer who shall place the fees on the next tax roll of the city. In the alternative, the city 
commission may direct the city attorney to take appropriate legal action to collect unpaid fees.  

All other Articles of Chapter 114 - Utilities, shall remain unaffected. 

Ordained this _____ day of __________________, 2023.  Effective upon publication. 

Therese Longe, Mayor 

Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk 

I, Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk of the City of Birmingham, do hereby certify that the 
foregoing ordinance was passed by the Commission of the City of Birmingham, Michigan at a regular 
meeting held _____________ and that a summary was published _____________________, 2023. 

_____________________________________ 
Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk 

5H



CITY OF BIRMINGHAM 

ORDINANCE NO.  

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND PART II OF THE CITY CODE, CHAPTER 114 – UTILITIES, 
ARTICLE VI – STORM WATER UTILITY FEE  

THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM ORDAINS: 

The City Code, Part II, Chapter 114. Utilities, Article VI. – Storm Water Utility Fee shall be 
amended to read as follows: 

ARTICLE VI . STORM WATER UTILITY FEE 

Sec. 114-400. Definitions. 

The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this article, shall have the meanings 
ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:  

Combined sewer system: Public sewers, drains, ditches, roads and retention ponds used for 
collecting and transporting storm water and non-storm water in the city.  

Director: The city engineer or such other person as the city manager may designate. 
Equivalent storm water unit (ESWU): A subunit of measurement which relates the volume of 
storm water discharged from a lot based on the amount of total and impervious lot area, 
compared to the standard unit. The formula for an equivalent storm water unit (ESWU) is as 
follows:  

1 ESWU = (0.15 (TAs - IAs) + (0.90 (IAs)) 
where,  

TAs = total area of standard unit;  
IAs = impervious area of standard unit;  
0.15 = runoff coefficient for pervious area;  
0.90 = runoff coefficient for impervious area. 

One ESWU in the city is equal to the average runoff potential of the standard unit. 
Impervious lot area: Impervious area means a surface area that is resistant to permeation 

by surface water.  
Industrial sites Those sites that contain industrial activities which require wastewater 

discharge permits as set forth in section 114-202 of this Code.  
Nonstorm water: All flows to the combined sewer system not defined as storm water in 

section 114-199, or as determined by the director.  

5H



Pervious lot area: All land area that is not impervious. Pervious lot area equals the total lot 
area, minus the impervious lot area. Pervious lot area has a runoff coefficient equal to 0.15.  
Runoff potential: The runoff potential from a property is based on hydrologic principles for 
calculating runoff that use both the impervious surface area and the pervious surface area. Runoff 
potential is measured in square feet using the following formula:  

Runoff Potential = 0.15x [Total Area - Impervious Area] + 0.9 x [Impervious Area] 
Separated storm water sewer system: Public sewers, drains, channels, ditches, roads and 

retention ponds used for collecting and transporting storm water in the city.  
Standard unit: Single-family residential parcel in the city within a lot size between 1.126 and 

0.250 acres.  
Storm water: Storm water runoff, snow melt runoff and surface runoff and drainage. 
Storm water utility fee: The fee imposed for the use of that portion of the combined system 

that transports storm water, based on the number of ESWU's for a lot or parcel of land determined 
as provided in section 114-402.  

Storm water sewer system: That portion of the combined sewer system and separated storm 
water sewer system that is attributable to the transportation and treatment of storm water.  

User: An owner of property which directly or indirectly contributes to the combined sewer 
system.  

Sec. 114-401. Storm water utility fees. 

(a) All users shall pay a storm water utility fee proportional to the volume of storm water which
is projected to discharge into the combined sewer system and storm water sewer system
from their property.

(b) The city commission shall, by resolution, set storm water utility fees at a rate which will
recover from each user its share of the costs of the storm water sewer system attributable
to the discharge of storm water from the users' property to the storm water system. The
city shall use the revenues of the storm water utility fees to pay the costs of the water
treatment operation and maintenance of the storm water sewer system, and for necessary
improvements and additions to the storm water sewer system.

(c) The city may also collect from users fees imposed to pay the implementation and operation
of any of the following:
(1) Monitoring, inspection and surveillance procedures;
(2) Reviewing discharge procedures and construction;
(3) Discharge permit applications; or
(4) Other fees as the city may deem necessary to operate the storm water sewer system.

Sec. 114-402. Calculation of fees and appeals. 

(a) Single-family residential ESWU. All single-family residential properties in each of the lot-size
categories are assigned the same ESWU for that category. The ESWU values for the single-
family residential categories are summarized in the fee schedule.

5H



Property Type SFR Class 
Single-Family Residential, 0.125 acres or less Class A 
Single-Family Residential, 0.126 acres to 0.250 acres Class B 
Single-Family Residential, 0.251 acres to 0.500 acres Class C 
Single-Family Residential, 0.501 acres to 0.750 acres Class D 
Single-Family Residential, 0.751 acres to 1.000 acres Class E 
Single Family Residential, 1.001 acres or larger Class F 

(b) Non-single family ESWU. The storm water utility fee for non-single family lots shall equal the
number of ESWU's for a given lot, multiplied by the annual rate established by the city
commission per ESWU per year. The formula for determining the number of ESWU's per
non-single family lot shall be calculated from the amount of pervious and impervious lot area
as follows:

Number of ESWU's = 0.15 (TA - IA) + 0.90 (IA)  
Average runoff potential of the standard unit/ESWU 

where, 
TA = total area of each lot (reported in square feet);  
IA = impervious area of each lot (reported in square feet). 

(c) Any non-single-family residential property owner liable for a storm water utility fee may
appeal the determination that the property utilizes the storm water system or the amount of
a storm water utility fee, including a determination on a reduction in or the elimination of
the fee under subsections (a) and (b). An appeal may be based on the quantity of storm
water runoff generated, the reductions established, the reductions allocated, or any other
matter relating to the determination of the storm water utility fee.

(d) A single-family residential property owner may appeal the determination that the property
utilizes the storm water system, however, such an appeal shall be limited to the following
reasons:
(1) The size of the lot has been miscalculated, or
(2) All or part of the storm water runoff drains to an open drainage course, such as a river,

lake or creek, which affects the quantity of the storm water runoff generated that gets
into the storm water sewer system.

(e) An appeal under subsections (c) and/or (d) shall be heard by a storm water utility appeals
board appointed by the local unit of government. The appeals board shall consist of three
members, two of whom shall be licensed professional engineers not employed by the local
unit of government.

(f) An appeal of a storm water utility fee shall not be brought more than one year after the fee
was billed.

(g) To prevail in an appeal of a storm water utility fee, the appellant shall demonstrate in
accordance with the requirements of the plan for a non-single-family residential property
that the use of the system by the property is less than the amount used by the local unit of
government in the calculation of that property's storm water utility fee, or for all properties

5H



the classification of the property type is in error, or there was a mathematical error in the 
calculation of the fee.  

(h) The sole remedy for a property owner who prevails in an appeal of a storm water utility fee
is a prospective correct recalculation of the storm water utility fee.

(i) If in an appeal of a storm water utility fee the appeals board finds that the requirements of
subsection (g) have not been met, that finding is conclusive until the property is modified to
either increase or decrease the utilization of the system. The property owner remains eligible
for reduction or elimination of fees under the storm water utility ordinance.

(j) A property owner making an appeal shall provide the appeals board with information
necessary to make a determination.

(k) A person aggrieved by a decision of the appeals board on an appeal under this section may
appeal to the circuit court in which the property is located. An appeal to the circuit court
must be filed within 30 days of the appeals board's decision.

Sec. 114-403. Credits. 

(a) The purpose of this section is to provide for each property owner's control over contributions
of storm flows to the storm water utility system and the related storm water utility fees and
to advance protection of the public health, safety, and welfare.

(b) The city shall offer credits on an annual basis that will enable any property owner, through
voluntary action, to reduce the storm water utility fees calculated for that property owner's
property and will provide a meaningful reduction in the cost of service to the storm water
system, or that shall be reasonably related to a benefit to the storm water system.
(1) Credits will only be applied if requirements outlined in this chapter and other applicable

sections of the City Code are met, including, but not limited to: completion of ongoing
maintenance, guaranteed right-of-entry for inspections, and submittal of annual self-
certification reports.

(2) Credits will be defined as either set fee reduction or percent (%) reductions applied as
a credit adjustment to the fee calculation equation.

(3) Credits are additive to each credit category.
(4) As long as the storm water facilities or management practices are functioning as

approved, the credit reduction will be applied to the fee. If the approved practice is not
functioning as approved or is terminated, the credit reduction will be cancelled and the
fee will return to the baseline calculation. Once the credit reduction has been cancelled,
a customer may not reapply for credit for a period of 12 months and only then if the
deficiency has been corrected, as determined by city inspection.

(5) Credits will be applied to the next complete billing cycle after the application has been
approved.

(c) The director shall define a method for applying and granting credits on an annual basis, as
well as criteria for determining the credits a property owner may receive. The director may,
by regulation, establish credits for one or more of the following:
(1) Installation and maintenance of rain barrels, rain gardens, bioswales, cisterns, dry wells,

infiltration trenches, porous pavement or pavers, or disconnecting footing drains;

5H



(2) Installation and maintenance of a storm water control facility, or other water quantity 
controls; and  

(3) Other actions of the property owner that, in the judgment of the director, result in a 
measurable reduction in storm water runoff.  

Sec. 114-404. Billing. 

The billing for the storm water utility may be combined with the billing for other utility 
services. Final determinations on measurements per ESWU will be determined by the director.  

Sec. 114-405. Collection. 

Unpaid storm water utility fees shall constitute a lien against the property affected. Fees 
which have remained unpaid for a period of six months prior to April 30 may be certified to the 
city treasurer who shall place the fees on the next tax roll of the city. In the alternative, the city 
commission may direct the city attorney to take appropriate legal action to collect unpaid fees.  

 

All other Articles of Chapter 114 - Utilities, shall remain unaffected. 

Ordained this _____ day of __________________, 2023.  Effective upon publication. 
 
          
    Therese Longe, Mayor 
  
          
    Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk 
 

I, Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk of the City of Birmingham, do hereby certify that the 
foregoing ordinance was passed by the Commission of the City of Birmingham, Michigan at a regular 
meeting held _____________ and that a summary was published _____________________, 2023. 
 

_____________________________________ 
Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk 

 

5H



MEMORANDUM 
Legal – City Attorney 

DATE: July 31, 2023 

TO: Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 

FROM: Mary M. Kucharek, City Attorney 

SUBJECT: Tenants’ Rights 

INTRODUCTION: 
Throughout 2023, the City of Birmingham has been reviewing whether to amend the City’s current 
ordinance regarding Fair Housing under Chapter 66 – Human Relations, Article II. – 
Discrimination, Division 2. – Fair Housing.  Two (2) proposed ordinance amendments have been 
presented to the City Commission and presently, the City Attorney’s office has prepared 
alternatives to an ordinance amendment. 

BACKGROUND: 
Throughout 2023, the City Commission and the City Attorney’s office have been discussing 
proposed amendments to the City’s Housing Discrimination Ordinance, attempting to include 
protections to tenants for the right to rent regardless of their source of income and a right to 
renew their lease provisions.  Those proposed revisions were fraught with much resistance from 
many fronts.  As a result, the City Attorney’s office met with numerous attorneys representing 
landlords and attorneys representing Fair Housing in order to determine the best course of action 
for the City of Birmingham to help protect renters and assure they are treated appropriately while 
limiting the City’s exposure.  As a result of the meetings, the City Attorney’s office brought back 
a second revision in April 2023, which attempted to limit amendments to persons older than 65 
years of age. When those proposed amended ordinances were presented, they were received 
with a great deal of contention, not from landlords, but from other persons who are not older 
than 65 years of age, who also demonstrate the need for increased protection due to their 
particular vulnerabilities.  

LEGAL REVIEW: 
It is apparent that more needs to be done to protect persons for a right to renew their lease, and 
the right to be free of discrimination based upon one’s source of income.  While it is important to 
protect the residents of Birmingham, and while it is incredibly important for the City Commission 
to give attention to these issues, the City Attorney’s office is advising the City Commission to be 

6A



extremely cautious in trying to amend ordinances offering greater protections in the arena 
regarding tenants’ rights.  The City Attorney’s office believes that this type of legislation is better 
suited for the state to legislate and to change the state laws regarding tenants.   

The Michigan House of Representatives introduced House Bill 6565 which adds a right to renew 
lease provision to every rental agreement.  On December 7, 2022 House Bill 6565 was read for 
the first time and referred to the House Regulatory Reform Committee as well.  Also, the Michigan 
House of Representatives introduced House Bill 4063 which adds source of income protection to 
the now existing House and Discrimination Prohibitions.  On February 1, 2023, House Bill 4063 
was read for the first time and referred to the House Judiciary Committee.   

While it has been said that the State of Michigan has been looking at such legislative changes for 
a while, these are new House Bills that are being reviewed by Committee at this time.  It is the 
City Attorney’s recommendation that the City of Birmingham use its assets and political pressure 
to the State to pass legislation protecting all residents and to do what is necessary to protect all 
persons in the State of Michigan.  You will find in the attachments a proposed letter that could 
be offered as a template and encourages residents of the City of Birmingham, and its 
representatives to send these letters to each of our state representatives asking them for 
assistance in passing these two (2) pieces of legislation.   

While it is a noble endeavor for the City of Birmingham to tackle such important and necessary 
legislation, doing so would cause the City to be exposed to a potential onslaught of litigation.  In 
the attachments is an article regarding tenants in one (1) jurisdiction using new laws to fight 
housing bias throughout the country, and a demonstration of the onslaught of litigation that 
ensued.  

Another idea that was presented at a City Commission meeting previously was to encourage our 
landlords to voluntarily agree to a Landlord Code of Conduct.  The City could create the Code of 
Conduct signs and give them to landlords who may choose to voluntarily post them in their offices 
and on their websites.  The landlords could use this as an opportunity to convey to their tenants 
that they intend to act in a way that would be supportive to tenants’ rights to renew and to not 
discriminate based upon a source of income.  This would be a voluntary program.   

FISCAL IMPACT:  
The suggested resolution and Commission action will save the City finances by avoiding lengthy 
and costly litigation. 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
The public has been very involved in this topic since the beginning with presentations regarding 
tenants’ rights from last December of 2022, and the two (2) prior meetings as discussed above. 
Notice has been given via the agenda packet regarding this issue on tonight’s agenda. 

SUMMARY: 
The City Attorney’s office is advising the City Commission to take no further action regarding 
amendments to the City’s ordinances regarding renters at this time. However, we are 
recommending making letter templates available to encourage State representatives to pass 

6A



House Bills 4063 and 6565 and to encourage landlords to voluntarily participate in a Code of 
Conduct. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Current ordinance
2. Article
3. Proposed Letter
4. House Bill 6565.
5. House Bill 4063.
6. Birmingham Landlord Code of Conduct.

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to table discussions of amending the City Code of 
Ordinances, Part II. Chapter 66 – Human Relations, Article II. – Discrimination, Division to Fair 
Housing at this time and to further direct the City Clerk’s office to disseminate the letter included 
with this packet to advocate to the House and Senate of Michigan to pass House Bill Nos. 6565 
and 4063, and to encourage landlords to sign a voluntary Code of Conduct. 

6A



6A



6A



6A



6A



6A



6A



6A



6A



6A



6A



6A



6A



6A



6A



6A



6A



6A



6A



6A



6A



6A



6A



6A



6A



6A



6A



6A



6A



6A



6A



6A



6A



As a landlord operating in the City of Birmingham, 

I voluntarily make this pledge:

No prospective or existing tenants will be treated less favorably

by me than any other person or group of persons because of

their race, color, ethnic or national origin, source of income,

religion, gender, disability, appearance, marital status, sexuality,

politics, social status, or their responsibility for dependents. I

promise to always act in a fair and honest way in my dealings

and communications, and in the event that I choose not to sign a

lease with a particular person, I will give them ample advance

notice and reveal the truth as to why I cannot enter into a lease. 

I also vow to make every effort to renew leases in a reasonable

way.

Dated:_________________ Landlord: _________________________

Landlord Code of Conduct

6A



6A



6A



6A



6A



6A



6A



6A



MEMORANDUM 
Planning Division 

DATE: August 14, 2023 

TO: Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 

FROM: Nicholas Dupuis, Planning Director 

SUBJECT: Leaf Blowers 

INTRODUCTION: 
As leaf blowers continue to gain national attention, the conversation has come to Birmingham 
and has remained present in the thoughts of many. The science is clear – leaf blowers with two-
stroke engines are uniquely dirty, dangerously loud…and potentially unnecessary. As cities 
continue to grapple with what to do with these machines, the problem continues to compound, 
and the health of the public and environment continues to suffer. At this time, the Planning 
Division would like to discuss a phased regulation of leaf blowers, with several short, mid and 
long term actions that could result in a better environment for all.  

BACKGROUND: 
On October 3, 2022 (Agenda – Minutes), the City Commission held a workshop in which leaf 
blowers were discussed. City Staff presented general information about the problem, as well as 
some potential actions that could be taken. The City Commission held a cautious interest in further 
exploring a potential ban of leaf blowers, but determined that more study would be necessary 
before any clear direction could be given on next steps. After some time, the City Commission 
revived the discussion on June 5, 2023 (Agenda – Minutes) and moved to place the discussion of 
leaf blowers on a future agenda as a regular agenda item. 

As for the “problem” referenced above, it may be summarized into three main categories: 
emissions, noise and environment. 

When it comes to emissions, it is important to understand the basic design of a two-stroke engine 
and how they compare to four-stroke engines. The main difference can be discerned from the 
nomenclature: two-stroke engines complete the combustion and exhaust cycle in two strokes of 
the piston, while four-stroke engines complete the cycle in four. As we understand it, this basic 
design has a large impact on efficiency, which is where the principal emissions problem arises. In 

6B

https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Basic%20Agendas/2022/20221003%20Workshop%20Agenda%20Packet.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Minutes/2022/20221003%20City%20Commission%20Workshop%20Minutes%20SIGNED.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Full%20Agenda%20Packet/2023/-%2020230605%20Agenda%20Packet%20Amended.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Minutes/2023/20230605%20City%20Commission%20Minutes%20Signed.pdf
https://youtu.be/0rza6B5mDQ4


a two-stroke engine, not all of the fuel (which includes oil) is burned in the process, which means 
that the engine is emitting both burned fuel and unburned fuel into the atmosphere. These carbon 
dioxide and hydrocarbon-based emissions have direct impacts on climate change and public 
health. The two-stroke engine design is lighter weight and easy to maintain, but remains 
antiquated and unable to perform to the emissions standards of the more common four-stroke 
engine. 

In terms of loud and penetrating noise, which is perhaps the most common refrain, consideration 
should be given to the public, but also the user. Research generally states that gas powered leaf 
blowers are the noisiest at 80-90 decibels, while electric models fall in the 65-70 decibel range. 
The decibel levels of leaf blowers are measured/rated from a distance of 50 ft. away, which means 
that the users of this equipment are experiencing a much higher decibel level. According to the 
World Health Organization, noise exposure levels should not exceed 70 decibels over a 24-hour 
period and 85 decibels over a 1-hour period to avoid hearing impairment. The Centers for Disease 
Control and Prevention has produced Statistics about the Public Health Burden of Noise-Induced 
Hearing Loss that demonstrate effects to all ages and with varying economic costs. These levels 
can of course vary with proximity, but the low-frequency sound waves often mean that being 
inside a building may not even provide relief from the nuisance.  

As was mentioned during the 2022 workshop, the City of Birmingham has had noise ordinances 
on the books for quite some time. The City Code states that the decibel level prohibitions are to 
be enforced at or beyond the property line of the property on which the work or noise-emitting 
activity is being conducted. In a residential setting, those levels are not to exceed 75 decibels 
from 7 AM to 7 PM and 60 decibels overnight from 7 PM to 7 AM. With typical urban residential 
fabric that can be found all over Birmingham (40 ft. x 120 ft. lots, for example), it is easy to infer 
that these decibel levels are surely being exceeded by gas powered leaf blowers. However, as 
was also discussed at the 2022 workshop, these sort of standards are difficult to enforce. 

Regarding the environment, gas powered leaf blowers have the power to completely destroy 
essential environments for insects, birds, and other wildlife, thus impacting biodiversity. It is worth 
noting here that this issue is not limited to gas powered leaf blowers – all leaf blowers can damage 
biodiversity. Leaf blowers can produce air at over 200 mph, which will completely blow away 
valuable food sources and habitats for organisms that our ecosystem relies on. It was also stated 
at the 2022 workshop that people experience leaf blowers in all seasons including winter snow 
removal and summer lawn maintenance cleanup. However, the fall leaf cleanup is inferred to be 
the most active season, with the most risk to biodiversity. It is also worth noting that electric leaf 
blowers typically utilize a lithium ion battery than can be recycled. Alternatively, there are readily 
available plug-in electric leaf blowers as well. 

When it comes to a solution, and based on the prevalence of gas powered leaf blowers used by 
not only commercial and private operations, but also in Birmingham’s own governmental 
operations, a phased approach to regulation may be the most appropriate way to address the 
situation. The Planning Division suggests discussing a 3-year approach, which could include 
educational actions, policy actions, and regulatory actions. A graphic representation of this 
approach is provided on the following page for conversation purposes only. 

6B

https://www.cdc.gov/nceh/hearing_loss/public_health_scientific_info.html#:%7E:text=The%20World%20Health%20Organization%20(WHO,period%20to%20avoid%20hearing%20impairment.
https://www.cdc.gov/nceh/hearing_loss/public_health_scientific_info.html#:%7E:text=The%20World%20Health%20Organization%20(WHO,period%20to%20avoid%20hearing%20impairment.
https://library.municode.com/mi/birmingham/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICICO_CH50EN_ARTIINU_DIV4NO


 
 
 
 2024 2025 2026 
Task Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 
City Commission Resolution             
First Notice/Information Campaign             
Dedicated Page on City Website             
Ordinance Drafting & Approval             
Second Notice/Information Campaign             
Phase-Out of City-Owned Leaf Blowers             
Creation of Landscaper Registration System              
Gas Powered Leaf Blowers Banned             

 
 
 
Policy Actions  
Educational Actions  
Regulatory Actions  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(This space intentionally left blank) 
 
 
 
 

6B



When it comes to the regulatory/policy actions, the City of Birmingham can take notes from 
several other communities that have addressed this issue. In southeast Michigan, Ann Arbor 
passed an ordinance that has banned the use of two-cycle outdoor power equipment in their 
Downtown District. Ann Arbor has also launched a Pollinator-Aware Yard Care Program that 
emphasizes the reduction of turf grass lawns and promotes the “leaving-alone” of fallen leaves 
to promote habitat. 
 
In California, the City of Sonoma (among many others) has completely banned gas-powered leaf 
blowers from the City, and further regulates electric leaf blowers to certain times. The State of 
California itself has enacted a gas-powered leaf blower ban for the state starting in 2024. 
 
On the east coast, the Township of Maplewood, New Jersey has banned leaf blowers within the 
Township limits. 
 
The City of Newton, Massachusetts has adopted a seasonal ban for gas-powered leaf blowers, 
and further requires registration for all leaf blower users. 
 
Based on the availability of language from other communities to reference, as well as various 
scientific studies that support the transition from gas-powered to electric leaf blowers, the 
decision appears to be easily justifiable. With that being said, the City will very likely face some 
criticism from landscaping service providers, as well as their customers. Although they perform 
the same function, research indicates that the power difference between gas-powered and electric 
leaf blowers may cause jobs to take longer, which could wind up costing the consumer more. In 
addition to time spent performing the service, there is also the issue of cost to replace existing, 
functioning equipment. In one example, a backpack-style gas-powered leaf blower can cost 
anywhere from $200-$300 on the lower end, where an electric of the same style can cost $400-
$500. These issues must also be considered in the conversation. 
 
Finally, it is worth mentioning that four-stroke leaf blowers exist and are used by contractors and 
private citizens alike, but research suggests that this style of leaf blower tends to be quieter and 
is much more efficient – often even meeting Environmental Protection Agency emissions 
standards. For this reason, the Planning Division suggests targeting regulations towards two-cycle 
leaf blowers at this time.  
 
LEGAL REVIEW:  
No legal review is required at this time. The City Attorney will review any future proposed 
ordinance language that is brought to the City Commission. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
As noted above, two-stroke leaf blowers are easier to maintain and have a lifespan that could 
exceed 10 years. Because of this, the City may incur an additional cost to replace gas-powered 
leaf blowers with electric leaf blowers. This cost may be offset by the sale of the City’s existing 
leaf blowers, as well as the reduction in gas/oil consumption over time. In addition, any 
registration that is required of landscaping contractors will generate a revenue stream for the 
City, as well as the revenue from any tickets that are issued as a result of new ordinances. 
 
 
 

6B

http://a2gov.legistar.com/View.ashx?M=F&ID=7093250&GUID=194741FB-D884-4AAE-B8CA-DFB0F3575D62
https://www.a2gov.org/departments/sustainability/Sustainability%20Natural%20Resources/Pages/Pollinator-Aware-Yard-Care.aspx
https://www.sonomacity.org/documents/leaf-blower-guidelines-english/
https://www.latimes.com/california/story/2021-12-09/california-regulators-phaseout-new-gas-powered-lawnmowers-and-leaf-blowers
https://www.latimes.com/california/story/2021-12-09/california-regulators-phaseout-new-gas-powered-lawnmowers-and-leaf-blowers
https://www.maplewoodnj.gov/home/showpublisheddocument/1020/638095054574670000
https://www.newtonma.gov/home/showpublisheddocument/69328/637655688575030000
https://www.lowes.com/pd/Husqvarna-150BT-Backpack-Blower/5006015189?cm_mmc=shp-_-c-_-prd-_-sol-_-ggl-_-SS_SOL_000_Priority_Items-_-5006015189-_-local-_-0-_-0&gclid=Cj0KCQjwz8emBhDrARIsANNJjS446ngqI0XK00JB_ulPO8OolwQCm9fJaJwC2Uh5D24foRXCAdzT1sUaAuBSEALw_wcB&gclsrc=aw.ds
https://www.leafblowersdirect.com/Greenworks-2420502-Leaf-Blower/p125366.html?gad=1&gclid=Cj0KCQjwz8emBhDrARIsANNJjS7bx4S1RkOtKXnMFwUncSUs2iuZFXSg2LxaFm9_B6FtIViNcrri24waAlEfEALw_wcB


SUSTAINABILITY: 
This agenda item has a direct tie to the City’s sustainability goals. As noted in several places 
above, two-cycle leaf blowers have a uniquely detrimental effect on the environment, and the 
phased transition to electric or manual leaf removal will significantly reduce the effects on the 
environment and public health. 
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
There are no public communications required for this agenda item at this time. 
SUMMARY: 
The Planning Division requests that the City Commission consider directing the Planning Division, 
through the City Manager, to study a phased approach to eliminating the use of two-stroke, gas 
powered leaf blowers in the City of Birmingham. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
There are no attachments for this agenda item. 
 
SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to direct the Planning Division, through the City Manager, 
to study a phased approach to eliminating the use of two-stroke, gas powered leaf blowers in the 
City of Birmingham. 
 
 

6B



MEMORANDUM 
City Clerk’s Office 

DATE: July 20, 2023 

TO: Jana Ecker, City Manager 

FROM: Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 

SUBJECT: Designation of Voting Delegate(s) for the Michigan Municipal League 
Annual Meeting 

INTRODUCTION: 
The City of Birmingham is a member of the Michigan Municipal League (MML).  The MML is 
holding its annual meeting in Traverse City, MI on October 18, 2023. On the agenda for the 
meeting is the election of five members to the MML Board of Trustees and a vote on the Core 
Legislative Principles document. 

BACKGROUND: 
A resolution by the City Commission is required to designate a voting delegate and alternate 
voting delegate to vote on behalf of the City.  The deadline to submit delegate information to 
the MML is September 18, 2023.  Assistant City Manager Melissa Fairbairn will attend the 
October 18, 2023 Michigan Municipal League meeting in Traverse City, MI. 

LEGAL REVIEW: 
n/a 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
n/a 

SUSTAINABILITY: 
n/a 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
Information regarding this appointment will be provided along with the agenda packet on the city 
website and public communication is permissible in accordance with standard commission 
procedure. 

7A



SUMMARY: 
The City Commission is being asked to appoint a City Commission member or City Official 
as official voting delegate and appoint a City Commission member or City Official as the 
alternate voting delegate, for the MML Annual Meeting to be held October 18, 2023 in Traverse 
City, MI. 

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Letter from MML dated July 10, 2023

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to appoint __________ as the City of Birmingham’s official 
voting delegate and ___________ as the alternate delegate, for the Michigan Municipal League 
Annual Meeting to be held in Traverse City, Michigan on October 18, 2023. 

7A



7A



7A



7A



MEMORANDUM 
Police Department 

DATE: August 8, 2023 

TO: Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 

FROM: Ryan J. Kearney, Operations Captain 

APPROVED BY: Scott A. Grewe, Chief of Police 

SUBJECT:  Speed Humps 

INTRODUCTION: 
At a recent City Commission meeting, Commissioner Host raised the topic of speed humps being 
installed in other cities, such as Beverly Hills.  Further discussion was requested about where 
Birmingham stood on the issue.   

BACKGROUND: 
In August 2023, Chief Grewe spoke with Richard Torongeau, Director of Beverly Hills Department 
of Public Safety, regarding speed humps.  Director Torongeau stated that the topic was recently 
mentioned in Beverly Hills.  However, they have not conducted any studies or have completed 
any plans to install speed humps thus far. 

The Birmingham Multi-Modal Transportation Board (MMTB) previously examined speed humps 
and speed tables.  The following is a historical breakdown: 

March 3, 2022 
City staff and consultants MKSK and Fleis & Vandenbrink conducted a study session regarding 
traffic calming measures.  This included speed humps and best practices presented to the MMTB. 

Based on past information and previous examinations of speed tables and speed humps as part 
of a more significant traffic calming measure, the MMTB, City staff, and the City's consultants 
agreed that the City did not need speed tables or humps.  The MMTB indicated the Police 
Department should continue to monitor speeds, and if a street meets the criteria, it could be used 
as an area where a pilot program would be considered.   

7B1



August 15, 2022 
At the City Commission meeting, several commissioners proposed the issue of installing speed 
humps in Birmingham during commissioner comments.   

August 29, 2022 
Former Police Chief Clemence completed a staff report apprising the Commission of what the 
MMTB had previously discussed regarding the topic.  The Commission requested that the subject 
of speed humps and speed tables be an agenda item for the MMTB in October 2022.  The City 
Commission asked for the MMTB to identify streets that could be utilized for a pilot project to 
install a speed hump or table. 

October 6, 2022 
City staff and consultants researched speed humps, including draft criteria compiled from other 
cities (Ann Arbor, Farmington Hills, Rochester Hills, Detroit, Grand Rapids, and Ypsilanti Twp.) 
that have adopted speed hump policies.  Sample draft criteria and specifically identified 
Birmingham streets were presented to the MMTB for further consideration and discussion 
regarding the following: 

1. Traffic studies were recalled or conducted, including speed and volume for Northlawn
Drive and Shirley Drive.

2. Existing speed hump criteria from other cities were examined.
3. A preliminary set of standards was developed for the City of Birmingham.

November 3, 2022 
The Police Department, City staff, and consultants further studied speed hump criteria and 
presented the findings to the MMTB.  Twelve residential streets were identified as sources of 
recent and frequent speeding complaints.  Of these, three streets were identified with the 
following 85th percentile of speed:  Saxon Drive (30 mph), Pleasant Street (30.9 mph), and 
Northlawn (32.4 mph).  Using these streets would require lowering the criteria of 10+ mph over 
the 85th percentile, a standard developed through research from established, comparable City 
policies.  In addition, the City of Birmingham only controls the northern portion of Saxon Drive, 
and the parts of Northlawn Drive and Pleasant Street recording higher speeds are considered 
unimproved.   

City staff, consultants, and the MMTB discussed nearby cities, such as Farmington Hills, Rochester 
Hills, and Ann Arbor, with traffic calming and speed hump policies.  Consensus indicated that it is 
more common to implement speed humps along streets where the 85th percentile of speeds is 
10+ mph above the speed limit.  No residential streets in Birmingham meet these criteria.   

If a residential street did meet the criteria, the MMTB discussed a petition process similar to the 
process for residential permit parking.  Additionally, the Engineering Department and the 
Department of Public Services noted that installing speed humps on unimproved roads is difficult 
since they lack a sufficient base.  An unimproved road is a gravel roadway with a cape seal 
treatment less than 0.5 inches thick.  Constructing a speed hump with either asphalt or concrete 
would require pavement on top of an engineered stone base and a drainage condition 
review.  Prefabricated speed humps require security and stabilization, which is impossible to 
achieve on a gravel road.  Speed humps would be much more likely to be ripped out during winter 
plowing operations and become a hazard on unimproved roads. 

7B1



The MMTB considered a proposed speed hump policy for the City of Birmingham and what to 
recommend to the City Commission for both a pilot program and an installation policy.  City staff 
observed that most streets in Birmingham do not meet professional engineering criteria for the 
temporary or permanent installation of speed humps.  The consensus of the MMTB was not to 
recommend speed humps since not a single street would qualify without lowering the criteria 
used by the reviewing agencies.  The board felt we were lowering the criteria in order to institute 
a solution that wouldn't meet the criteria for other municipalities, demonstrating that Birmingham 
does not have a problem.  Board members also commented they were against speed hump 
installation for the following reasons: 

1. They would impede snow plows and emergency vehicles.
2. Poor aesthetics and the likelihood of obtaining the requisite number of residents on the

street to agree to speed hump installation and location.
3. Many residents would be more amenable to increased speed enforcement over physical

street changes.
4. Favored the City's recommendation of using data-driven criteria to evaluate the potential

installation of speed humps.
5. Favored other potential traffic calming measures rather than speed humps.

February 27, 2023 
Former City Manager Tom Markus requested the results of the speed hump study and MMTB 
consensus be included in the Manager's Report, summarized as follows: 

The City Commission directed City staff and traffic consultants—Fleis & Vandenbrink (F&V) and 
MKSK Studios to study speed humps as an October 2022 agenda item for research and possible 
implementation.  In preparation for review by the Multi-Modal Transportation Board (MMTB), 
several cities utilizing speed humps were analyzed to develop a baseline and speed hump criteria 
for the City of Birmingham.  Speed humps went before the MMTB on October 6, 2022, and again 
on November 3, 2022.  Based on the cities studied, no street in Birmingham met the criteria 
based on current conditions such as speed, volume, and if the road was improved/unimproved. 
This led to the discussion of lowering the proven and necessary criteria identified in other 
communities, which the MMTB did not support.  There was a general Board consensus not to 
recommend speed hump criteria at this time since there are no streets that would qualify based 
on established criteria used by others and existing conditions in the City of Birmingham. 

LEGAL REVIEW: 
N/A 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
N/A 

7B1



SUSTAINABILITY: 
N/A 
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
The topic of speed humps went before the MMTB on March 3, 2022, October 6, 2022, and 
November 3, 2022.  It was also listed in the Manager’s Report on February 27, 2023.  The 
agendas, packets, and minutes have been posted publicly. 
 
SUMMARY: 
After multiple MMTB meetings, thorough research, and review, City staff, consultants, and the 
MMTB determined that no streets in Birmingham meet the criteria other municipalities used for 
speed humps.  As a result, the MMTB does not recommend pursuing speed humps as a traffic 
calming measure.  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
MMTB packets from the following meeting: 

1. March 3, 2022 – MMTB Agenda/Packet for Traffic Calming/Speed Tables 
2. March 3, 2022 – MMTB Meeting Minutes 
3. October 6, 2022 – MMTB Agenda/Packet for Neighborhood Traffic Calming Program 
4. October 6, 2022 – MMTB Meeting Minutes 
5. November 3, 2022 – MMTB Agenda/Packet for Neighborhood Traffic Calming Program 
6. November 3, 2022 – MMTB Minutes 

 

 
 
 

 

7B1



AGENDA 

REGUAR MEETING OF THE BIRMINGHAM PLANNING BOARD 

THURSDAY MARCH 3RD, 2022 

151 MARTIN ST., CITY COMMISSION ROOM 205, BIRMINGHAM MI* 

************************6:00 pm*********************** 

 

The highly transmissible COVID-19 Delta variant is spreading throughout the nation at an alarming rate.  As a result, the CDC is 

recommending that vaccinated and unvaccinated personnel wear a facemask indoors while in public if you live or work in a substantial or 

high transmission area.  Oakland County is currently classified as a substantial transmission area.  The City has reinstated mask 

requirements for all employees while indoors. The mask requirement also applies to all board and commission members as well as the 

public attending public meetings. 

 

A. Roll Call 
B. Introductions & Chairpersons Comments 
C. Review of the Agenda 
D. Approval of Minutes, Meeting of February 3rd, 2021 
E. Unfinished Business 
F. New Business 

1. Best Practices in Transportation: Traffic Calming and Speed Tables 
2. MMTP Roadway Improvements  

i. Redding at Woodward 
3. Woodward Road Diet  

G. Meeting Open to the Public for items not on the Agenda 
H. Miscellaneous Communications  
I. Next Meeting – April 7th, 2022 
J. Adjournment 

 

 

**** 

Please note that board meetings will be conducted in person once again.  Members of the public can 

attend in person at Birmingham City Hall or may attend virtually at 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/88295194746 or dial: 929 205 6099 US Toll-free, Meeting ID: 824 

7795 4435 

 

 

 

7B1

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/88295194746


MEMORANDUM 
 

(Planning Division) 
 
DATE:   February 24th, 2022  
 
TO:   Multi-Modal Transportation Board 
 
FROM:  Brooks Cowan, City Planner 

Scott Zielinski, Assistant City Engineer 
   Commander Scott Grewe, Police Department  
 
SUBJECT: Best Practices in Transportation: Traffic Calming and Speed 

Tables 
 
 
 
Reducing vehicular speed throughout the City is a common discussion point to enhance 
pedestrian and non-motorized transportation safety. The Multi-Modal Transportation Board has 
previously inquired about policy related to speed tables in residential neighborhoods as a 
method to encourage vehicles to slow down.  
 
In order to assist the MMTB in considering if the wish to further explore such a policy, the City’s 
traffic consultants have put together a presentation going over best practices for speed tables. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

7B1



traffic calming overview
multimodal transportation consulting

March 3, 2022

7B1



 UTILITY NOTE  
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF SOME OF THE
EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THE
SURVEY DRAWING WERE OBTAINED FROM MUNICIPAL
AND UTILITY COMPANY RECORDS AND MAPS.
THEREFORE, NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY
THEREOF.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE
FOR DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND
ELEVATIONS PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

B. Buchholz

H. 1" = 20'
V. 1"=20'

N
F

N

SCALE:

Know what's below
Call before you dig.

R

07-05-16

CLIENT

PROJECT LOCATION

SHEET

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

APPROVED BY:

DATE:

NF

NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS
46777 Woodward Ave.
Pontiac, MI 48342-5032

Tel. (248) 332-7931
Fax.  (248) 332-8257

civil Engineers
Land Surveyors
Land Planners

ENGINEERS

sheet no.

J230
NFE JOB NO.

Part of the SW/NE 1/4
Section 25/36, Town 2 North,
Range 10 East, City of
Birmingham, Oakland
County, Michigan

PROJECT

Engineering Department
151 Martin Street
Birmingham, MI 48012

N./S. Old Woodward Ave.
Reconstruction Project
Contract # 1-17(P)

11-03-16 Preliminary Utility Design

 UTILITY NOTE  
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF SOME OF THE
EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THE
SURVEY DRAWING WERE OBTAINED FROM MUNICIPAL
AND UTILITY COMPANY RECORDS AND MAPS.
THEREFORE, NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY
THEREOF.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE
FOR DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND
ELEVATIONS PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

Utility Plan
N./S. Old Woodard Ave
Sta. P.O.B. to 4+00

P. Tulikangas

C1

N
F

N

SCALE:

Know what's below
Call before you dig.

R

07-05-16

CLIENT

PROJECT LOCATION

SHEET

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

APPROVED BY:

DATE:

NF

NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS
46777 Woodward Ave.
Pontiac, MI 48342-5032

Tel. (248) 332-7931
Fax.  (248) 332-8257

civil Engineers
Land Surveyors
Land Planners

ENGINEERS

sheet no.

J230
NFE JOB NO.

Part of the SW/NE 1/4
Section 25/36, Town 2 North,
Range 10 East, City of
Birmingham, Oakland
County, Michigan

PROJECT

Engineering Department
151 Martin Street
Birmingham, MI 48012

N./S. Old Woodward Ave.
Reconstruction Project
Contract # 1-17(P)

*SEWER SERVICE NOTE  
EXISTING SANITARY SEWER BUILDING SERVICES
DESIGNATED AS "EX SAN*" ARE SHOWN BASED ON A
VIDEO INSPECTION  OF THE EXISTING SEWER MAINS
PERFORMED FOR THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM. OTHER
SANITARY SERVICES ARE SHOWN PER AVAILABLE
MUNICIPAL RECORDS, AND DESIGNATED  WITH AN (R).

SB

12-07-16 Utility Coordination

01-16-17 Updated Layout

02-01-17 Updated Layout

traffic calming

•  Common complaints about vehicles speeding on 

residential streets to the Birmingham Police Department 

and the Multimodal Transportation Board

•  We reviewed national best practice manuals

•  We reviewed traffic calming programs in other cities 

in the area (Rochester Hills, Farmington Hills, Ferndale, 

Pleasant Ridge, Detroit, Ann Arbor, Grand Rapids)

•  This presentation covers what we have learned so the 

Board can direct us if and how we should proceed.

7B1



 UTILITY NOTE  
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF SOME OF THE
EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THE
SURVEY DRAWING WERE OBTAINED FROM MUNICIPAL
AND UTILITY COMPANY RECORDS AND MAPS.
THEREFORE, NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY
THEREOF.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE
FOR DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND
ELEVATIONS PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

B. Buchholz

H. 1" = 20'
V. 1"=20'

N
F

N

SCALE:

Know what's below
Call before you dig.

R

07-05-16

CLIENT

PROJECT LOCATION

SHEET

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

APPROVED BY:

DATE:

NF

NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS
46777 Woodward Ave.
Pontiac, MI 48342-5032

Tel. (248) 332-7931
Fax.  (248) 332-8257

civil Engineers
Land Surveyors
Land Planners

ENGINEERS

sheet no.

J230
NFE JOB NO.

Part of the SW/NE 1/4
Section 25/36, Town 2 North,
Range 10 East, City of
Birmingham, Oakland
County, Michigan

PROJECT

Engineering Department
151 Martin Street
Birmingham, MI 48012

N./S. Old Woodward Ave.
Reconstruction Project
Contract # 1-17(P)

11-03-16 Preliminary Utility Design

 UTILITY NOTE  
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF SOME OF THE
EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THE
SURVEY DRAWING WERE OBTAINED FROM MUNICIPAL
AND UTILITY COMPANY RECORDS AND MAPS.
THEREFORE, NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY
THEREOF.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE
FOR DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND
ELEVATIONS PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

Utility Plan
N./S. Old Woodard Ave
Sta. P.O.B. to 4+00

P. Tulikangas

C1

N
F

N

SCALE:

Know what's below
Call before you dig.

R

07-05-16

CLIENT

PROJECT LOCATION

SHEET

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

APPROVED BY:

DATE:

NF

NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS
46777 Woodward Ave.
Pontiac, MI 48342-5032

Tel. (248) 332-7931
Fax.  (248) 332-8257

civil Engineers
Land Surveyors
Land Planners

ENGINEERS

sheet no.

J230
NFE JOB NO.

Part of the SW/NE 1/4
Section 25/36, Town 2 North,
Range 10 East, City of
Birmingham, Oakland
County, Michigan

PROJECT

Engineering Department
151 Martin Street
Birmingham, MI 48012

N./S. Old Woodward Ave.
Reconstruction Project
Contract # 1-17(P)

*SEWER SERVICE NOTE  
EXISTING SANITARY SEWER BUILDING SERVICES
DESIGNATED AS "EX SAN*" ARE SHOWN BASED ON A
VIDEO INSPECTION  OF THE EXISTING SEWER MAINS
PERFORMED FOR THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM. OTHER
SANITARY SERVICES ARE SHOWN PER AVAILABLE
MUNICIPAL RECORDS, AND DESIGNATED  WITH AN (R).

SB

12-07-16 Utility Coordination

01-16-17 Updated Layout

02-01-17 Updated Layout

Residential Speed Studies in Birmingham

Speed studies show most streets have speeds about 24-

28 MPH (85th percentile speeds), a few streets have higher 

speeds, mostly wider ones 

• Traffic speeds are actually lower than speeds in similar 

cities (often 32-35+ mph)

• Speed table signs are rotated so most streets have a 

speed sign every few years 

 

• Speed studies based on complaints and observations

7B1



 UTILITY NOTE  
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF SOME OF THE
EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THE
SURVEY DRAWING WERE OBTAINED FROM MUNICIPAL
AND UTILITY COMPANY RECORDS AND MAPS.
THEREFORE, NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY
THEREOF.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE
FOR DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND
ELEVATIONS PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

B. Buchholz

H. 1" = 20'
V. 1"=20'

N
F

N

SCALE:

Know what's below
Call before you dig.

R

07-05-16

CLIENT

PROJECT LOCATION

SHEET

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

APPROVED BY:

DATE:

NF

NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS
46777 Woodward Ave.
Pontiac, MI 48342-5032

Tel. (248) 332-7931
Fax.  (248) 332-8257

civil Engineers
Land Surveyors
Land Planners

ENGINEERS

sheet no.

J230
NFE JOB NO.

Part of the SW/NE 1/4
Section 25/36, Town 2 North,
Range 10 East, City of
Birmingham, Oakland
County, Michigan

PROJECT

Engineering Department
151 Martin Street
Birmingham, MI 48012

N./S. Old Woodward Ave.
Reconstruction Project
Contract # 1-17(P)

11-03-16 Preliminary Utility Design

 UTILITY NOTE  
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF SOME OF THE
EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THE
SURVEY DRAWING WERE OBTAINED FROM MUNICIPAL
AND UTILITY COMPANY RECORDS AND MAPS.
THEREFORE, NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY
THEREOF.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE
FOR DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND
ELEVATIONS PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

Utility Plan
N./S. Old Woodard Ave
Sta. P.O.B. to 4+00

P. Tulikangas

C1

N
F

N

SCALE:

Know what's below
Call before you dig.

R

07-05-16

CLIENT

PROJECT LOCATION

SHEET

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

APPROVED BY:

DATE:

NF

NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS
46777 Woodward Ave.
Pontiac, MI 48342-5032

Tel. (248) 332-7931
Fax.  (248) 332-8257

civil Engineers
Land Surveyors
Land Planners

ENGINEERS

sheet no.

J230
NFE JOB NO.

Part of the SW/NE 1/4
Section 25/36, Town 2 North,
Range 10 East, City of
Birmingham, Oakland
County, Michigan

PROJECT

Engineering Department
151 Martin Street
Birmingham, MI 48012

N./S. Old Woodward Ave.
Reconstruction Project
Contract # 1-17(P)

*SEWER SERVICE NOTE  
EXISTING SANITARY SEWER BUILDING SERVICES
DESIGNATED AS "EX SAN*" ARE SHOWN BASED ON A
VIDEO INSPECTION  OF THE EXISTING SEWER MAINS
PERFORMED FOR THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM. OTHER
SANITARY SERVICES ARE SHOWN PER AVAILABLE
MUNICIPAL RECORDS, AND DESIGNATED  WITH AN (R).

SB

12-07-16 Utility Coordination

01-16-17 Updated Layout

02-01-17 Updated Layout

resources

•  Highway Safety Manual (HSM)

•  FHWA Proven Safety Countermeasures

•  Michigan Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices 

(MMUTCD)

•  NACTO

•  National Cooperative Highway Research Program 

(NCHRP)

•  MDOT Multi Modal Development & Delivery Guidebook 

(M2D2)

•  ITE Community Web Exchange

•  Our team’s experience in over 100 cities

•  FHWA TAP (Transportation Alternatives Program) Grant

•  MDOT Small Urban Program (Grant)

•  SEMCOG Crash Information 

7B1



 UTILITY NOTE  
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF SOME OF THE
EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THE
SURVEY DRAWING WERE OBTAINED FROM MUNICIPAL
AND UTILITY COMPANY RECORDS AND MAPS.
THEREFORE, NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY
THEREOF.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE
FOR DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND
ELEVATIONS PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

B. Buchholz

H. 1" = 20'
V. 1"=20'

N
F

N

SCALE:

Know what's below
Call before you dig.

R

07-05-16

CLIENT

PROJECT LOCATION

SHEET

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

APPROVED BY:

DATE:

NF

NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS
46777 Woodward Ave.
Pontiac, MI 48342-5032

Tel. (248) 332-7931
Fax.  (248) 332-8257

civil Engineers
Land Surveyors
Land Planners

ENGINEERS

sheet no.

J230
NFE JOB NO.

Part of the SW/NE 1/4
Section 25/36, Town 2 North,
Range 10 East, City of
Birmingham, Oakland
County, Michigan

PROJECT

Engineering Department
151 Martin Street
Birmingham, MI 48012

N./S. Old Woodward Ave.
Reconstruction Project
Contract # 1-17(P)

11-03-16 Preliminary Utility Design

 UTILITY NOTE  
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF SOME OF THE
EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THE
SURVEY DRAWING WERE OBTAINED FROM MUNICIPAL
AND UTILITY COMPANY RECORDS AND MAPS.
THEREFORE, NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY
THEREOF.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE
FOR DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND
ELEVATIONS PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

Utility Plan
N./S. Old Woodard Ave
Sta. P.O.B. to 4+00

P. Tulikangas

C1

N
F

N

SCALE:

Know what's below
Call before you dig.

R

07-05-16

CLIENT

PROJECT LOCATION

SHEET

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

APPROVED BY:

DATE:

NF

NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS
46777 Woodward Ave.
Pontiac, MI 48342-5032

Tel. (248) 332-7931
Fax.  (248) 332-8257

civil Engineers
Land Surveyors
Land Planners

ENGINEERS

sheet no.

J230
NFE JOB NO.

Part of the SW/NE 1/4
Section 25/36, Town 2 North,
Range 10 East, City of
Birmingham, Oakland
County, Michigan

PROJECT

Engineering Department
151 Martin Street
Birmingham, MI 48012

N./S. Old Woodward Ave.
Reconstruction Project
Contract # 1-17(P)

*SEWER SERVICE NOTE  
EXISTING SANITARY SEWER BUILDING SERVICES
DESIGNATED AS "EX SAN*" ARE SHOWN BASED ON A
VIDEO INSPECTION  OF THE EXISTING SEWER MAINS
PERFORMED FOR THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM. OTHER
SANITARY SERVICES ARE SHOWN PER AVAILABLE
MUNICIPAL RECORDS, AND DESIGNATED  WITH AN (R).

SB

12-07-16 Utility Coordination

01-16-17 Updated Layout

02-01-17 Updated Layout

Resources: semcog

https://maps.semcog.org/

7B1



 UTILITY NOTE  
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF SOME OF THE
EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THE
SURVEY DRAWING WERE OBTAINED FROM MUNICIPAL
AND UTILITY COMPANY RECORDS AND MAPS.
THEREFORE, NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY
THEREOF.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE
FOR DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND
ELEVATIONS PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

B. Buchholz

H. 1" = 20'
V. 1"=20'

N
F

N

SCALE:

Know what's below
Call before you dig.

R

07-05-16

CLIENT

PROJECT LOCATION

SHEET

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

APPROVED BY:

DATE:

NF

NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS
46777 Woodward Ave.
Pontiac, MI 48342-5032

Tel. (248) 332-7931
Fax.  (248) 332-8257

civil Engineers
Land Surveyors
Land Planners

ENGINEERS

sheet no.

J230
NFE JOB NO.

Part of the SW/NE 1/4
Section 25/36, Town 2 North,
Range 10 East, City of
Birmingham, Oakland
County, Michigan

PROJECT

Engineering Department
151 Martin Street
Birmingham, MI 48012

N./S. Old Woodward Ave.
Reconstruction Project
Contract # 1-17(P)

11-03-16 Preliminary Utility Design

 UTILITY NOTE  
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF SOME OF THE
EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THE
SURVEY DRAWING WERE OBTAINED FROM MUNICIPAL
AND UTILITY COMPANY RECORDS AND MAPS.
THEREFORE, NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY
THEREOF.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE
FOR DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND
ELEVATIONS PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

Utility Plan
N./S. Old Woodard Ave
Sta. P.O.B. to 4+00

P. Tulikangas

C1

N
F

N

SCALE:

Know what's below
Call before you dig.

R

07-05-16

CLIENT

PROJECT LOCATION

SHEET

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

APPROVED BY:

DATE:

NF

NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS
46777 Woodward Ave.
Pontiac, MI 48342-5032

Tel. (248) 332-7931
Fax.  (248) 332-8257

civil Engineers
Land Surveyors
Land Planners

ENGINEERS

sheet no.

J230
NFE JOB NO.

Part of the SW/NE 1/4
Section 25/36, Town 2 North,
Range 10 East, City of
Birmingham, Oakland
County, Michigan

PROJECT

Engineering Department
151 Martin Street
Birmingham, MI 48012

N./S. Old Woodward Ave.
Reconstruction Project
Contract # 1-17(P)

*SEWER SERVICE NOTE  
EXISTING SANITARY SEWER BUILDING SERVICES
DESIGNATED AS "EX SAN*" ARE SHOWN BASED ON A
VIDEO INSPECTION  OF THE EXISTING SEWER MAINS
PERFORMED FOR THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM. OTHER
SANITARY SERVICES ARE SHOWN PER AVAILABLE
MUNICIPAL RECORDS, AND DESIGNATED  WITH AN (R).

SB

12-07-16 Utility Coordination

01-16-17 Updated Layout

02-01-17 Updated Layout

traffic calming measures

Speeds are usually influenced by the width of the street, 

its design, on-street parking, and the context (street trees, 

setbacks, sight distance)

 

•  Stop signs - don’t usually work

•  Reduced street width  - may or may not impact speeds 

•  Add bike lanes, parking, etc. to reduce the width for driving

•  Chicanes

•  Pedestrian crossings - midblock crossing and rasied                    

crossings

•  Raised intersections

•  Traffic calming islands 

•  Speed humps 

•  Speed warning and other signs

Buffered Bike Lane 

MidBlock Crossing 

Curb Bumpouts

Rectangular Rapid Flashing Beacon (RRFB)
7B1



 UTILITY NOTE  
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF SOME OF THE
EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THE
SURVEY DRAWING WERE OBTAINED FROM MUNICIPAL
AND UTILITY COMPANY RECORDS AND MAPS.
THEREFORE, NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY
THEREOF.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE
FOR DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND
ELEVATIONS PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

B. Buchholz

H. 1" = 20'
V. 1"=20'

N
F

N

SCALE:

Know what's below
Call before you dig.

R

07-05-16

CLIENT

PROJECT LOCATION

SHEET

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

APPROVED BY:

DATE:

NF

NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS
46777 Woodward Ave.
Pontiac, MI 48342-5032

Tel. (248) 332-7931
Fax.  (248) 332-8257

civil Engineers
Land Surveyors
Land Planners

ENGINEERS

sheet no.

J230
NFE JOB NO.

Part of the SW/NE 1/4
Section 25/36, Town 2 North,
Range 10 East, City of
Birmingham, Oakland
County, Michigan

PROJECT

Engineering Department
151 Martin Street
Birmingham, MI 48012

N./S. Old Woodward Ave.
Reconstruction Project
Contract # 1-17(P)

11-03-16 Preliminary Utility Design

 UTILITY NOTE  
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF SOME OF THE
EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THE
SURVEY DRAWING WERE OBTAINED FROM MUNICIPAL
AND UTILITY COMPANY RECORDS AND MAPS.
THEREFORE, NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY
THEREOF.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE
FOR DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND
ELEVATIONS PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

Utility Plan
N./S. Old Woodard Ave
Sta. P.O.B. to 4+00

P. Tulikangas

C1

N
F

N

SCALE:

Know what's below
Call before you dig.

R

07-05-16

CLIENT

PROJECT LOCATION

SHEET

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

APPROVED BY:

DATE:

NF

NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS
46777 Woodward Ave.
Pontiac, MI 48342-5032

Tel. (248) 332-7931
Fax.  (248) 332-8257

civil Engineers
Land Surveyors
Land Planners

ENGINEERS

sheet no.

J230
NFE JOB NO.

Part of the SW/NE 1/4
Section 25/36, Town 2 North,
Range 10 East, City of
Birmingham, Oakland
County, Michigan

PROJECT

Engineering Department
151 Martin Street
Birmingham, MI 48012

N./S. Old Woodward Ave.
Reconstruction Project
Contract # 1-17(P)

*SEWER SERVICE NOTE  
EXISTING SANITARY SEWER BUILDING SERVICES
DESIGNATED AS "EX SAN*" ARE SHOWN BASED ON A
VIDEO INSPECTION  OF THE EXISTING SEWER MAINS
PERFORMED FOR THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM. OTHER
SANITARY SERVICES ARE SHOWN PER AVAILABLE
MUNICIPAL RECORDS, AND DESIGNATED  WITH AN (R).

SB

12-07-16 Utility Coordination

01-16-17 Updated Layout

02-01-17 Updated Layout

Raised intersections & pedestrian crossings

Raised Intersections

•  ADA-compliant and detector strips required

•  Reinforce slow speeds 

•  Bollards along corners keep motorists from crossing into   

 pedestrian zones

Raised pedestrian crossings

•  Where an unsignalized crossing exists at a transit stop,    

 enhanced crossing treatments or actuated signals should   

 be added 

7B1



 UTILITY NOTE  
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF SOME OF THE
EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THE
SURVEY DRAWING WERE OBTAINED FROM MUNICIPAL
AND UTILITY COMPANY RECORDS AND MAPS.
THEREFORE, NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY
THEREOF.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE
FOR DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND
ELEVATIONS PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

B. Buchholz

H. 1" = 20'
V. 1"=20'

N
F

N

SCALE:

Know what's below
Call before you dig.

R

07-05-16

CLIENT

PROJECT LOCATION

SHEET

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

APPROVED BY:

DATE:

NF

NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS
46777 Woodward Ave.
Pontiac, MI 48342-5032

Tel. (248) 332-7931
Fax.  (248) 332-8257

civil Engineers
Land Surveyors
Land Planners

ENGINEERS

sheet no.

J230
NFE JOB NO.

Part of the SW/NE 1/4
Section 25/36, Town 2 North,
Range 10 East, City of
Birmingham, Oakland
County, Michigan

PROJECT

Engineering Department
151 Martin Street
Birmingham, MI 48012

N./S. Old Woodward Ave.
Reconstruction Project
Contract # 1-17(P)

11-03-16 Preliminary Utility Design

 UTILITY NOTE  
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF SOME OF THE
EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THE
SURVEY DRAWING WERE OBTAINED FROM MUNICIPAL
AND UTILITY COMPANY RECORDS AND MAPS.
THEREFORE, NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY
THEREOF.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE
FOR DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND
ELEVATIONS PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

Utility Plan
N./S. Old Woodard Ave
Sta. P.O.B. to 4+00

P. Tulikangas

C1

N
F

N

SCALE:

Know what's below
Call before you dig.

R

07-05-16

CLIENT

PROJECT LOCATION

SHEET

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

APPROVED BY:

DATE:

NF

NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS
46777 Woodward Ave.
Pontiac, MI 48342-5032

Tel. (248) 332-7931
Fax.  (248) 332-8257

civil Engineers
Land Surveyors
Land Planners

ENGINEERS

sheet no.

J230
NFE JOB NO.

Part of the SW/NE 1/4
Section 25/36, Town 2 North,
Range 10 East, City of
Birmingham, Oakland
County, Michigan

PROJECT

Engineering Department
151 Martin Street
Birmingham, MI 48012

N./S. Old Woodward Ave.
Reconstruction Project
Contract # 1-17(P)

*SEWER SERVICE NOTE  
EXISTING SANITARY SEWER BUILDING SERVICES
DESIGNATED AS "EX SAN*" ARE SHOWN BASED ON A
VIDEO INSPECTION  OF THE EXISTING SEWER MAINS
PERFORMED FOR THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM. OTHER
SANITARY SERVICES ARE SHOWN PER AVAILABLE
MUNICIPAL RECORDS, AND DESIGNATED  WITH AN (R).

SB

12-07-16 Utility Coordination

01-16-17 Updated Layout

02-01-17 Updated Layout

Speed tables vs Speed humps - Typicals

Speed table: 

  • 22’ long, 3”-3.5” height for streets

  •  For streets posted for 25-40 MPH 

  • Can be used on collector streets and/or transit  

   emergency response routes 

  • Can be designed as midblock crossings (raised  

   crosswalks) or in conjunction with curb    

   extensions (bump outs)

  • Can be as shown, or more decorative (brick   

   pavers, etc. = more expensive)

Speed hump:

  • 12-14’ long, 3-3.5” height

  • Space no more than 500 feet to 

   achieve 25-30 MPH

  • Can cause some noise

7B1



 UTILITY NOTE  
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF SOME OF THE
EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THE
SURVEY DRAWING WERE OBTAINED FROM MUNICIPAL
AND UTILITY COMPANY RECORDS AND MAPS.
THEREFORE, NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY
THEREOF.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE
FOR DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND
ELEVATIONS PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

B. Buchholz

H. 1" = 20'
V. 1"=20'

N
F

N

SCALE:

Know what's below
Call before you dig.

R

07-05-16

CLIENT

PROJECT LOCATION

SHEET

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

APPROVED BY:

DATE:

NF

NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS
46777 Woodward Ave.
Pontiac, MI 48342-5032

Tel. (248) 332-7931
Fax.  (248) 332-8257

civil Engineers
Land Surveyors
Land Planners

ENGINEERS

sheet no.

J230
NFE JOB NO.

Part of the SW/NE 1/4
Section 25/36, Town 2 North,
Range 10 East, City of
Birmingham, Oakland
County, Michigan

PROJECT

Engineering Department
151 Martin Street
Birmingham, MI 48012

N./S. Old Woodward Ave.
Reconstruction Project
Contract # 1-17(P)

11-03-16 Preliminary Utility Design

 UTILITY NOTE  
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF SOME OF THE
EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THE
SURVEY DRAWING WERE OBTAINED FROM MUNICIPAL
AND UTILITY COMPANY RECORDS AND MAPS.
THEREFORE, NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY
THEREOF.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE
FOR DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND
ELEVATIONS PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

Utility Plan
N./S. Old Woodard Ave
Sta. P.O.B. to 4+00

P. Tulikangas

C1

N
F

N

SCALE:

Know what's below
Call before you dig.

R

07-05-16

CLIENT

PROJECT LOCATION

SHEET

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

APPROVED BY:

DATE:

NF

NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS
46777 Woodward Ave.
Pontiac, MI 48342-5032

Tel. (248) 332-7931
Fax.  (248) 332-8257

civil Engineers
Land Surveyors
Land Planners

ENGINEERS

sheet no.

J230
NFE JOB NO.

Part of the SW/NE 1/4
Section 25/36, Town 2 North,
Range 10 East, City of
Birmingham, Oakland
County, Michigan

PROJECT

Engineering Department
151 Martin Street
Birmingham, MI 48012

N./S. Old Woodward Ave.
Reconstruction Project
Contract # 1-17(P)

*SEWER SERVICE NOTE  
EXISTING SANITARY SEWER BUILDING SERVICES
DESIGNATED AS "EX SAN*" ARE SHOWN BASED ON A
VIDEO INSPECTION  OF THE EXISTING SEWER MAINS
PERFORMED FOR THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM. OTHER
SANITARY SERVICES ARE SHOWN PER AVAILABLE
MUNICIPAL RECORDS, AND DESIGNATED  WITH AN (R).

SB

12-07-16 Utility Coordination

01-16-17 Updated Layout

02-01-17 Updated Layout

Purpose

•  Slows traffic

•  Distinct from speed “bumps”

•  Commonly implemented mid-block

•  Commonly implemented on local streets

• 

Implementation Factors to Consider

•  Distance between driveways

•  Snow plowing

•  Appropriate MUTCD markings and signage

Speed Humps

ITE Speed Hump Effectiveness Study

• Study of 26 sites
• Pre-installation: 14% were >10mph over speed limit
• Post-installation: down to 1%
• 85th Percentile speeds expected to drop
• Volumes may drop if alternate routes

Ypsilanti Township, MI

Detroit, MI
7B1



 UTILITY NOTE  
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF SOME OF THE
EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THE
SURVEY DRAWING WERE OBTAINED FROM MUNICIPAL
AND UTILITY COMPANY RECORDS AND MAPS.
THEREFORE, NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY
THEREOF.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE
FOR DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND
ELEVATIONS PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

B. Buchholz

H. 1" = 20'
V. 1"=20'

N
F

N

SCALE:

Know what's below
Call before you dig.

R

07-05-16

CLIENT

PROJECT LOCATION

SHEET

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

APPROVED BY:

DATE:

NF

NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS
46777 Woodward Ave.
Pontiac, MI 48342-5032

Tel. (248) 332-7931
Fax.  (248) 332-8257

civil Engineers
Land Surveyors
Land Planners

ENGINEERS

sheet no.

J230
NFE JOB NO.

Part of the SW/NE 1/4
Section 25/36, Town 2 North,
Range 10 East, City of
Birmingham, Oakland
County, Michigan

PROJECT

Engineering Department
151 Martin Street
Birmingham, MI 48012

N./S. Old Woodward Ave.
Reconstruction Project
Contract # 1-17(P)

11-03-16 Preliminary Utility Design

 UTILITY NOTE  
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF SOME OF THE
EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THE
SURVEY DRAWING WERE OBTAINED FROM MUNICIPAL
AND UTILITY COMPANY RECORDS AND MAPS.
THEREFORE, NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY
THEREOF.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE
FOR DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND
ELEVATIONS PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

Utility Plan
N./S. Old Woodard Ave
Sta. P.O.B. to 4+00

P. Tulikangas

C1

N
F

N

SCALE:

Know what's below
Call before you dig.

R

07-05-16

CLIENT

PROJECT LOCATION

SHEET

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

APPROVED BY:

DATE:

NF

NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS
46777 Woodward Ave.
Pontiac, MI 48342-5032

Tel. (248) 332-7931
Fax.  (248) 332-8257

civil Engineers
Land Surveyors
Land Planners

ENGINEERS

sheet no.

J230
NFE JOB NO.

Part of the SW/NE 1/4
Section 25/36, Town 2 North,
Range 10 East, City of
Birmingham, Oakland
County, Michigan

PROJECT

Engineering Department
151 Martin Street
Birmingham, MI 48012

N./S. Old Woodward Ave.
Reconstruction Project
Contract # 1-17(P)

*SEWER SERVICE NOTE  
EXISTING SANITARY SEWER BUILDING SERVICES
DESIGNATED AS "EX SAN*" ARE SHOWN BASED ON A
VIDEO INSPECTION  OF THE EXISTING SEWER MAINS
PERFORMED FOR THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM. OTHER
SANITARY SERVICES ARE SHOWN PER AVAILABLE
MUNICIPAL RECORDS, AND DESIGNATED  WITH AN (R).

SB

12-07-16 Utility Coordination

01-16-17 Updated Layout

02-01-17 Updated Layout

farmington hills

• Traffic Safe-te3 Program: the first Traffic Calming 

 program in SE Michigan (20+ Year history) 

• Installation is determined by traffic engineering 

 analysis and four main factors:

  o Residential street must be functionally 

   classified as a local roadway 

  o Topography and sight distance (trees, hills,   

   curves, and intersections)

  o Presence of existing traffic controls 

   (traffic signals and stop signs)
  

7B1



 UTILITY NOTE  
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF SOME OF THE
EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THE
SURVEY DRAWING WERE OBTAINED FROM MUNICIPAL
AND UTILITY COMPANY RECORDS AND MAPS.
THEREFORE, NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY
THEREOF.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE
FOR DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND
ELEVATIONS PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

B. Buchholz

H. 1" = 20'
V. 1"=20'

N
F

N

SCALE:

Know what's below
Call before you dig.

R

07-05-16

CLIENT

PROJECT LOCATION

SHEET

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

APPROVED BY:

DATE:

NF

NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS
46777 Woodward Ave.
Pontiac, MI 48342-5032

Tel. (248) 332-7931
Fax.  (248) 332-8257

civil Engineers
Land Surveyors
Land Planners

ENGINEERS

sheet no.

J230
NFE JOB NO.

Part of the SW/NE 1/4
Section 25/36, Town 2 North,
Range 10 East, City of
Birmingham, Oakland
County, Michigan

PROJECT

Engineering Department
151 Martin Street
Birmingham, MI 48012

N./S. Old Woodward Ave.
Reconstruction Project
Contract # 1-17(P)

11-03-16 Preliminary Utility Design

 UTILITY NOTE  
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF SOME OF THE
EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THE
SURVEY DRAWING WERE OBTAINED FROM MUNICIPAL
AND UTILITY COMPANY RECORDS AND MAPS.
THEREFORE, NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY
THEREOF.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE
FOR DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND
ELEVATIONS PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

Utility Plan
N./S. Old Woodard Ave
Sta. P.O.B. to 4+00

P. Tulikangas

C1

N
F

N

SCALE:

Know what's below
Call before you dig.

R

07-05-16

CLIENT

PROJECT LOCATION

SHEET

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

APPROVED BY:

DATE:

NF

NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS
46777 Woodward Ave.
Pontiac, MI 48342-5032

Tel. (248) 332-7931
Fax.  (248) 332-8257

civil Engineers
Land Surveyors
Land Planners

ENGINEERS

sheet no.

J230
NFE JOB NO.

Part of the SW/NE 1/4
Section 25/36, Town 2 North,
Range 10 East, City of
Birmingham, Oakland
County, Michigan

PROJECT

Engineering Department
151 Martin Street
Birmingham, MI 48012

N./S. Old Woodward Ave.
Reconstruction Project
Contract # 1-17(P)

*SEWER SERVICE NOTE  
EXISTING SANITARY SEWER BUILDING SERVICES
DESIGNATED AS "EX SAN*" ARE SHOWN BASED ON A
VIDEO INSPECTION  OF THE EXISTING SEWER MAINS
PERFORMED FOR THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM. OTHER
SANITARY SERVICES ARE SHOWN PER AVAILABLE
MUNICIPAL RECORDS, AND DESIGNATED  WITH AN (R).

SB

12-07-16 Utility Coordination

01-16-17 Updated Layout

02-01-17 Updated Layout

city of detroit

Speed table:

When to use them:

 • Can be used on 2-lane or 3-lane  

  roads with speed limits of 30 mph 

  or less, AADTS below 9,000 where 

  regular pedestrian crossing is

  expected

 • Ex: Popular side street crossings on 

  commercial corridors or roundabouts

 • Avoid speed tables/raised crosswalks on major 

  emergency vehicles or truck routes 

7B1



 UTILITY NOTE  
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF SOME OF THE
EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THE
SURVEY DRAWING WERE OBTAINED FROM MUNICIPAL
AND UTILITY COMPANY RECORDS AND MAPS.
THEREFORE, NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY
THEREOF.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE
FOR DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND
ELEVATIONS PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

B. Buchholz

H. 1" = 20'
V. 1"=20'

N
F

N

SCALE:

Know what's below
Call before you dig.

R

07-05-16

CLIENT

PROJECT LOCATION

SHEET

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

APPROVED BY:

DATE:

NF

NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS
46777 Woodward Ave.
Pontiac, MI 48342-5032

Tel. (248) 332-7931
Fax.  (248) 332-8257

civil Engineers
Land Surveyors
Land Planners

ENGINEERS

sheet no.

J230
NFE JOB NO.

Part of the SW/NE 1/4
Section 25/36, Town 2 North,
Range 10 East, City of
Birmingham, Oakland
County, Michigan

PROJECT

Engineering Department
151 Martin Street
Birmingham, MI 48012

N./S. Old Woodward Ave.
Reconstruction Project
Contract # 1-17(P)

11-03-16 Preliminary Utility Design

 UTILITY NOTE  
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF SOME OF THE
EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THE
SURVEY DRAWING WERE OBTAINED FROM MUNICIPAL
AND UTILITY COMPANY RECORDS AND MAPS.
THEREFORE, NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY
THEREOF.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE
FOR DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND
ELEVATIONS PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

Utility Plan
N./S. Old Woodard Ave
Sta. P.O.B. to 4+00

P. Tulikangas

C1

N
F

N

SCALE:

Know what's below
Call before you dig.

R

07-05-16

CLIENT

PROJECT LOCATION

SHEET

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

APPROVED BY:

DATE:

NF

NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS
46777 Woodward Ave.
Pontiac, MI 48342-5032

Tel. (248) 332-7931
Fax.  (248) 332-8257

civil Engineers
Land Surveyors
Land Planners

ENGINEERS

sheet no.

J230
NFE JOB NO.

Part of the SW/NE 1/4
Section 25/36, Town 2 North,
Range 10 East, City of
Birmingham, Oakland
County, Michigan

PROJECT

Engineering Department
151 Martin Street
Birmingham, MI 48012

N./S. Old Woodward Ave.
Reconstruction Project
Contract # 1-17(P)

*SEWER SERVICE NOTE  
EXISTING SANITARY SEWER BUILDING SERVICES
DESIGNATED AS "EX SAN*" ARE SHOWN BASED ON A
VIDEO INSPECTION  OF THE EXISTING SEWER MAINS
PERFORMED FOR THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM. OTHER
SANITARY SERVICES ARE SHOWN PER AVAILABLE
MUNICIPAL RECORDS, AND DESIGNATED  WITH AN (R).

SB

12-07-16 Utility Coordination

01-16-17 Updated Layout

02-01-17 Updated Layout

city of ann arbor

Speed table:

 • 22’ wide including a 10’ wide center 

  platform and slopes tapering down each side

 • 3” high 

 • Extend the full width of the street except for the 

  gutter

 • 12% average traffic volume reduction

 • 45% average collision reduction

 • Less speed reduction than speed

  humps 

Speed hump:

 • 12’ wide, 3” high and have a parabolic

  shape

 • 20-25% speed reduction on average

 • 18% average traffic volume reduction

7B1



 UTILITY NOTE  
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF SOME OF THE
EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THE
SURVEY DRAWING WERE OBTAINED FROM MUNICIPAL
AND UTILITY COMPANY RECORDS AND MAPS.
THEREFORE, NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY
THEREOF.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE
FOR DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND
ELEVATIONS PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

B. Buchholz

H. 1" = 20'
V. 1"=20'

N
F

N

SCALE:

Know what's below
Call before you dig.

R

07-05-16

CLIENT

PROJECT LOCATION

SHEET

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

APPROVED BY:

DATE:

NF

NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS
46777 Woodward Ave.
Pontiac, MI 48342-5032

Tel. (248) 332-7931
Fax.  (248) 332-8257

civil Engineers
Land Surveyors
Land Planners

ENGINEERS

sheet no.

J230
NFE JOB NO.

Part of the SW/NE 1/4
Section 25/36, Town 2 North,
Range 10 East, City of
Birmingham, Oakland
County, Michigan

PROJECT

Engineering Department
151 Martin Street
Birmingham, MI 48012

N./S. Old Woodward Ave.
Reconstruction Project
Contract # 1-17(P)

11-03-16 Preliminary Utility Design

 UTILITY NOTE  
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF SOME OF THE
EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THE
SURVEY DRAWING WERE OBTAINED FROM MUNICIPAL
AND UTILITY COMPANY RECORDS AND MAPS.
THEREFORE, NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY
THEREOF.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE
FOR DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND
ELEVATIONS PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

Utility Plan
N./S. Old Woodard Ave
Sta. P.O.B. to 4+00

P. Tulikangas

C1

N
F

N

SCALE:

Know what's below
Call before you dig.

R

07-05-16

CLIENT

PROJECT LOCATION

SHEET

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

APPROVED BY:

DATE:

NF

NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS
46777 Woodward Ave.
Pontiac, MI 48342-5032

Tel. (248) 332-7931
Fax.  (248) 332-8257

civil Engineers
Land Surveyors
Land Planners

ENGINEERS

sheet no.

J230
NFE JOB NO.

Part of the SW/NE 1/4
Section 25/36, Town 2 North,
Range 10 East, City of
Birmingham, Oakland
County, Michigan

PROJECT

Engineering Department
151 Martin Street
Birmingham, MI 48012

N./S. Old Woodward Ave.
Reconstruction Project
Contract # 1-17(P)

*SEWER SERVICE NOTE  
EXISTING SANITARY SEWER BUILDING SERVICES
DESIGNATED AS "EX SAN*" ARE SHOWN BASED ON A
VIDEO INSPECTION  OF THE EXISTING SEWER MAINS
PERFORMED FOR THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM. OTHER
SANITARY SERVICES ARE SHOWN PER AVAILABLE
MUNICIPAL RECORDS, AND DESIGNATED  WITH AN (R).

SB

12-07-16 Utility Coordination

01-16-17 Updated Layout

02-01-17 Updated Layout

city of grand rapids

Phase 1 Tools – Education and Enforcement 

  o Neighborhood awareness programs

  o Selective police patrols 

  o Speed boards

Phase 2 Tools - Engineering

  o Signs and pavement markings

  o Vertical deflections (Speed humps and speed 

   tables)

  o Horizontal deflections (traffic circles and 

   chicanes)

  o Street narrowing (chokers/bulb-outs and center   

   island narrowing)

7B1



 UTILITY NOTE  
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF SOME OF THE
EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THE
SURVEY DRAWING WERE OBTAINED FROM MUNICIPAL
AND UTILITY COMPANY RECORDS AND MAPS.
THEREFORE, NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY
THEREOF.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE
FOR DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND
ELEVATIONS PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

B. Buchholz

H. 1" = 20'
V. 1"=20'

N
F

N

SCALE:

Know what's below
Call before you dig.

R

07-05-16

CLIENT

PROJECT LOCATION

SHEET

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

APPROVED BY:

DATE:

NF

NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS
46777 Woodward Ave.
Pontiac, MI 48342-5032

Tel. (248) 332-7931
Fax.  (248) 332-8257

civil Engineers
Land Surveyors
Land Planners

ENGINEERS

sheet no.

J230
NFE JOB NO.

Part of the SW/NE 1/4
Section 25/36, Town 2 North,
Range 10 East, City of
Birmingham, Oakland
County, Michigan

PROJECT

Engineering Department
151 Martin Street
Birmingham, MI 48012

N./S. Old Woodward Ave.
Reconstruction Project
Contract # 1-17(P)

11-03-16 Preliminary Utility Design

 UTILITY NOTE  
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF SOME OF THE
EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THE
SURVEY DRAWING WERE OBTAINED FROM MUNICIPAL
AND UTILITY COMPANY RECORDS AND MAPS.
THEREFORE, NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY
THEREOF.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE
FOR DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND
ELEVATIONS PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

Utility Plan
N./S. Old Woodard Ave
Sta. P.O.B. to 4+00

P. Tulikangas

C1

N
F

N

SCALE:

Know what's below
Call before you dig.

R

07-05-16

CLIENT

PROJECT LOCATION

SHEET

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

APPROVED BY:

DATE:

NF

NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS
46777 Woodward Ave.
Pontiac, MI 48342-5032

Tel. (248) 332-7931
Fax.  (248) 332-8257

civil Engineers
Land Surveyors
Land Planners

ENGINEERS

sheet no.

J230
NFE JOB NO.

Part of the SW/NE 1/4
Section 25/36, Town 2 North,
Range 10 East, City of
Birmingham, Oakland
County, Michigan

PROJECT

Engineering Department
151 Martin Street
Birmingham, MI 48012

N./S. Old Woodward Ave.
Reconstruction Project
Contract # 1-17(P)

*SEWER SERVICE NOTE  
EXISTING SANITARY SEWER BUILDING SERVICES
DESIGNATED AS "EX SAN*" ARE SHOWN BASED ON A
VIDEO INSPECTION  OF THE EXISTING SEWER MAINS
PERFORMED FOR THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM. OTHER
SANITARY SERVICES ARE SHOWN PER AVAILABLE
MUNICIPAL RECORDS, AND DESIGNATED  WITH AN (R).

SB

12-07-16 Utility Coordination

01-16-17 Updated Layout

02-01-17 Updated Layout

city of ferndale traffic calming program

• Needs identified by residents 

• Improvements coordinated through road bond fund

• Speed humps on 11 streets

• Specs 3-4”, 12-14’ wide

• Not allowed on fire routes

7B1



 UTILITY NOTE  
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF SOME OF THE
EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THE
SURVEY DRAWING WERE OBTAINED FROM MUNICIPAL
AND UTILITY COMPANY RECORDS AND MAPS.
THEREFORE, NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY
THEREOF.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE
FOR DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND
ELEVATIONS PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

B. Buchholz

H. 1" = 20'
V. 1"=20'

N
F

N

SCALE:

Know what's below
Call before you dig.

R

07-05-16

CLIENT

PROJECT LOCATION

SHEET

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

APPROVED BY:

DATE:

NF

NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS
46777 Woodward Ave.
Pontiac, MI 48342-5032

Tel. (248) 332-7931
Fax.  (248) 332-8257

civil Engineers
Land Surveyors
Land Planners

ENGINEERS

sheet no.

J230
NFE JOB NO.

Part of the SW/NE 1/4
Section 25/36, Town 2 North,
Range 10 East, City of
Birmingham, Oakland
County, Michigan

PROJECT

Engineering Department
151 Martin Street
Birmingham, MI 48012

N./S. Old Woodward Ave.
Reconstruction Project
Contract # 1-17(P)

11-03-16 Preliminary Utility Design

 UTILITY NOTE  
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF SOME OF THE
EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THE
SURVEY DRAWING WERE OBTAINED FROM MUNICIPAL
AND UTILITY COMPANY RECORDS AND MAPS.
THEREFORE, NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY
THEREOF.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE
FOR DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND
ELEVATIONS PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

Utility Plan
N./S. Old Woodard Ave
Sta. P.O.B. to 4+00

P. Tulikangas

C1

N
F

N

SCALE:

Know what's below
Call before you dig.

R

07-05-16

CLIENT

PROJECT LOCATION

SHEET

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

APPROVED BY:

DATE:

NF

NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS
46777 Woodward Ave.
Pontiac, MI 48342-5032

Tel. (248) 332-7931
Fax.  (248) 332-8257

civil Engineers
Land Surveyors
Land Planners

ENGINEERS

sheet no.

J230
NFE JOB NO.

Part of the SW/NE 1/4
Section 25/36, Town 2 North,
Range 10 East, City of
Birmingham, Oakland
County, Michigan

PROJECT

Engineering Department
151 Martin Street
Birmingham, MI 48012

N./S. Old Woodward Ave.
Reconstruction Project
Contract # 1-17(P)

*SEWER SERVICE NOTE  
EXISTING SANITARY SEWER BUILDING SERVICES
DESIGNATED AS "EX SAN*" ARE SHOWN BASED ON A
VIDEO INSPECTION  OF THE EXISTING SEWER MAINS
PERFORMED FOR THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM. OTHER
SANITARY SERVICES ARE SHOWN PER AVAILABLE
MUNICIPAL RECORDS, AND DESIGNATED  WITH AN (R).

SB

12-07-16 Utility Coordination

01-16-17 Updated Layout

02-01-17 Updated Layout

city of Rochester hills

•  Streets are typically 27ft. or 36 ft. wide
•  Traffic calming since 2006
•  Different designs were tested

 o Tables

 o Mini roundabouts

 o Speed humps - preferred

Lessons learned: 

•  3” high when average speeds are 31+ mph
•  400+ daily vehicles per day
•  Signs are important

7B1



 UTILITY NOTE  
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF SOME OF THE
EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THE
SURVEY DRAWING WERE OBTAINED FROM MUNICIPAL
AND UTILITY COMPANY RECORDS AND MAPS.
THEREFORE, NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY
THEREOF.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE
FOR DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND
ELEVATIONS PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

B. Buchholz

H. 1" = 20'
V. 1"=20'

N
F

N

SCALE:

Know what's below
Call before you dig.

R

07-05-16

CLIENT

PROJECT LOCATION

SHEET

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

APPROVED BY:

DATE:

NF

NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS
46777 Woodward Ave.
Pontiac, MI 48342-5032

Tel. (248) 332-7931
Fax.  (248) 332-8257

civil Engineers
Land Surveyors
Land Planners

ENGINEERS

sheet no.

J230
NFE JOB NO.

Part of the SW/NE 1/4
Section 25/36, Town 2 North,
Range 10 East, City of
Birmingham, Oakland
County, Michigan

PROJECT

Engineering Department
151 Martin Street
Birmingham, MI 48012

N./S. Old Woodward Ave.
Reconstruction Project
Contract # 1-17(P)

11-03-16 Preliminary Utility Design

 UTILITY NOTE  
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF SOME OF THE
EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THE
SURVEY DRAWING WERE OBTAINED FROM MUNICIPAL
AND UTILITY COMPANY RECORDS AND MAPS.
THEREFORE, NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY
THEREOF.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE
FOR DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND
ELEVATIONS PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

Utility Plan
N./S. Old Woodard Ave
Sta. P.O.B. to 4+00

P. Tulikangas

C1

N
F

N

SCALE:

Know what's below
Call before you dig.

R

07-05-16

CLIENT

PROJECT LOCATION

SHEET

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

APPROVED BY:

DATE:

NF

NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS
46777 Woodward Ave.
Pontiac, MI 48342-5032

Tel. (248) 332-7931
Fax.  (248) 332-8257

civil Engineers
Land Surveyors
Land Planners

ENGINEERS

sheet no.

J230
NFE JOB NO.

Part of the SW/NE 1/4
Section 25/36, Town 2 North,
Range 10 East, City of
Birmingham, Oakland
County, Michigan

PROJECT

Engineering Department
151 Martin Street
Birmingham, MI 48012

N./S. Old Woodward Ave.
Reconstruction Project
Contract # 1-17(P)

*SEWER SERVICE NOTE  
EXISTING SANITARY SEWER BUILDING SERVICES
DESIGNATED AS "EX SAN*" ARE SHOWN BASED ON A
VIDEO INSPECTION  OF THE EXISTING SEWER MAINS
PERFORMED FOR THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM. OTHER
SANITARY SERVICES ARE SHOWN PER AVAILABLE
MUNICIPAL RECORDS, AND DESIGNATED  WITH AN (R).

SB

12-07-16 Utility Coordination

01-16-17 Updated Layout

02-01-17 Updated Layout

traffic calming in birmingham

•  Need to identify threshold, petition?

•  Studies show most speeds are below 30mph

•  Consider for repaving projects 

•  Homeowners to fund?

•  Develop a standard specification

7B1



City Of Birmingham Multi-Modal Transportation Board 
Thursday, March 3, 2022 

151 Martin Street, City Commission Room 205, Birmingham, MI 

Minutes of the regular meeting of the City of Birmingham Multi-Modal Transportation Board held 
Thursday, March 3, 2022. Chair Doug White convened the meeting at 6:00 p.m.  

A. Rollcall 
Present: Chair Doug White; Board Members David Hocker, Tom Peard, Victoria Policicchio,  

Joe Zane; Alternate Board Member Amanda Fishburn 
 

Absent: Board Member Anthony Long 
 
Administration:   

Brooks Cowan, Senior Planner  
Scott Grewe, Operations Commander 
Jim Surhigh, Consulting City Engineer 

  Scott Zielinski, Assistant City Engineer  
 
F&V:   Julie Kroll 
 
MKSK: Brad Strader 
 
B. Approval of MMTB Minutes of February 3, 2022 
 
Motion by Mr. Hocker 
Seconded by Mr. Zane to approve the MMTB Minutes of February 3, 2022 as 
submitted.  
 
Motion carried, 7-0.  
 
VOICE VOTE  
Yeas: Zane, Peard, Hocker, White, Long, Policicchio, Fishburn 
Nays: None  
 
C. Introductions & Chair Comments  
 
D. Review of the Agenda 
 
E. Unfinished Business 
 
None. 
 
F. New Business 

1. Best Practices in Transportation: Traffic Calming and Speed Tables 
 

7B1



Mr. Strader and OC Grewe presented the item. 
 
In reply to Ms. Policicchio, there was a brief discussion of which fines and fees derived from traffic 
violations become City revenue. 
 
Ms. Policicchio asked Staff to look into using the fines and fees from traffic violations, which 
become City revenue after cost sharing with the 48th District Court is deducted, for safety and 
traffic calming programs. 
 
SP Cowan said he would clarify with FD Gerber how those revenues are allocated once the City 
receives them. 
 
Chair White thanked Staff. 
 

2. Redding Rd. / Woodward Ave Intersection Redesign 
 
CCE Surhigh introduced the item. 
 
Mr. Strader and CCE Surhigh presented the item. 
 
After discussion, the Board expressed a general preference for alternative two as proposed by 
MKSK. 
 

3. Woodward Road Diet 
 
SP Cowan presented the item. 
 
After Board discussion, SP Cowan summarized the Board’s preferences as: 

● Prioritizing pedestrian safety, first and foremost; 
● Staying up-to-date on how transit lane discussions evolve between SMART, RTA, MDOT, 

and other stakeholders; and, 
● Staying up-to-date on the broader recommended changes for Woodward so multi-modal 

enhancements such as safer bus stops, larger divider islands, and bike lanes can be 
considered appropriately at a later date within Woodward’s evolving context. 

 
The Board confirmed. 
 
G. Meeting Open to the Public for Items not on the Agenda 
 
H. Miscellaneous Communications  
 
SP Cowan informed the Board that the Birmingham Shopping District (BSD) is investigating 
putting together a discounted bus pass program in order to attract employees and reduce the 
parking costs of BSD businesses.  
 
SP Cowan said he was also in discussion with the Assistant City Manager about putting together 
a visit to Ferndale to discuss Ferndale’s efforts towards implementation of a Woodward road diet, 
its multi-modal improvements including bike lanes, and its last-mile infrastructure. He asked the 

7B1



Board whether they would be interested in joining. 
 
The Board expressed enthusiasm for the proposal.  
 
SP Cowan said he would aim to organize something during warmer weather.  
 
I. Adjournment  
 
No further business being evident, the Board adjourned at 7:39 p.m.  

Brooks Cowan, Senior Planner 

 

 
Laura Eichenhorn 
City Transcriptionist 

 

 

7B1



AGENDA 
REGUAR MEETING OF THE BIRMINGHAM MULTI-MODAL TRANSPORTATION BOARD 

THURSDAY OCTOBER 4TH, 2022 
151 MARTIN ST., CITY COMMISSION ROOM 205, BIRMINGHAM MI* 
************************6:00 pm*********************** 

 
The highly transmissible COVID-19 Delta variant is spreading throughout the nation at an alarming rate.  As a result, the CDC is 
recommending that vaccinated and unvaccinated personnel wear a facemask indoors while in public if you live or work in a substantial or 
high transmission area.  Oakland County is currently classified as a substantial transmission area.  The City has reinstated mask 
requirements for all employees while indoors. The mask requirement also applies to all board and commission members as well as the 
public attending public meetings. 

 
A. Roll Call 
B. Introductions & Chairpersons Comments 
C. Review of the Agenda 
D. Approval of Minutes, Meeting of September 1st, 2022 
E. New Business 
F. Unfinished Business 

1. E. Brown Street, S. Old Woodward to Woodward Ave 
2. Pierce Street Considerations 
3. Neighborhood Traffic Calming Program 
4. Scooter Policy 

G. Meeting Open to the Public for items not on the Agenda 
H. Miscellaneous Communications  

1. Letters from residents regarding sidewalk gap priorities  
I. Next Meeting – November 3rd, 2022 
J. Adjournment 

 
 
**** 
Please note that board meetings will be conducted in person once again.  Members of the public can 
attend in person at Birmingham City Hall or may attend virtually at 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/88295194746 or dial: 929 205 6099 US Toll-free, Meeting ID: 824 
7795 4435 
 
 
 

7B1

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/88295194746


 
MEMORANDUM 
Police Department 
 

 
DATE:  September 30th, 2022  
 
TO:  Multi-Modal Transportation Board 
 
FROM: Ryan Kearney, Police Lieutenant 
  Scott Zielinski, Engineering Department 
  Brooks Cowan, City Planning 
  With assistance from:  
  Brad Strader, MKSK 
  Julie Kroll, Fleis & Vandenbrink 
 
SUBJECT:  Neighborhood Traffic Calming Program 
 
 
INTRODUCTION: 
 
At the August 15, 2022, City Commission meeting, several commissioners proposed the issue of 
installing speed humps in the city under commissioner comments.  Police Chief Clemence 
completed a staff report apprising the Commission of what the Multi-Modal Traffic Board (MMTB) 
had previously done regarding the topic.   
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
The staff report went to the City Commission on August 29, 2022.  The Commission has requested 
that the topic of speed humps and speed tables be an agenda item for the MMTB in October of 
2022.  The City Commission would like the MMTB to identify streets that could be utilized for 
a pilot project to install a speed hump or table. Once identified, city staff, the city's contracted 
traffic engineers and the MMTB shall formulate a plan of study to set up a pilot program for 
installing a speed hump or table. This plan would include all associated costs of the project, the 
description of the project and how the success or failure of the pilot project would be 
determined. The Memo from Police Chief Clemence to the City Commission is attached for the 
MMTB to review. 
 
The section “Draft Criteria” in the attached presentation from MKSK and F&V proposes 
requirements for a street to qualify for a speed hump. Such criteria are proposed as such: 

• Baseline Criteria 
o Classified as a residential street. 

7B1



o 50% of residents must petition for the installation AND agree to pay for the 
installation and maint. of devices 

o The street must be paved. 
o 15+ % of traffic is over the posted speed limit (speed study). 

 
• Speed Hump Criteria 

o Traffic volumes greater than 200, less than 1,200 vehicles per day. 
o Not a fire or snow emergency route. 
o Not along a major school bus or transit route. 
o Room for speed humps 300 – 600 feet apart. 
o Room for speed humps to avoid driveways. 
o 100% written concurrence by owners within 200 feet of hump.  

 
The police department and city staff have identified the following residential streets as sources 
of recent and frequent speeding complaints: 

• Cole   
• Grant 
• Northlawn 
• Oak 
• Oakland 
• Ruffner 

 

• Saxon 
• Pleasant 
• Shipman 
• Shirley 
• E Lincoln 
• Redding

The Police Department has provided speed and traffic information for Northlawn Drive and Shirley 
Drive as an example for staff, consultants and the MMTB to review in comparison to the proposed 
speed hump criteria. 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION: 

1. Traffic studies including speed and volume for Northlawn Drive and Shirley Drive were 
recalled or conducted and are included in this report.   

2. Existing speed hump criteria from other cities were examined. 
3. A preliminary set of standards developed for the City of Birmingham. 

 

SUGGESTED ACTION: 

Consider and discuss the proposed speed hump policy for the City of Birmingham. 

 

 

 

7B1



Birmingham Speed Hump Pilot Program 

Street Speed 
Limit 

85th 
Percentile 

Avg 
Speed 

>30 mph Volume 

Cole (Eton/Torry, 2021) 25 29.9 23.9 Unavailable 1,305 

Grant (Chapin/Bennaville, 2022) 25 29.9 23.9 429 3,508 

Northlawn (Golfview/Pleasant, 2022) 25 29.9 24.9 598 2,239 

Oak (Lakeside/Lakepark, 2022) 25 28.9 24.9 580 10,548 

Oakland (Poppleton/Rosedale, 2022) 25 24.9 19.9 10 1,377 

Ruffner (Grant/Woodward, 2022) 25 27.9 22.9 104 1,992 

Saxon (Latham/Southfield, 2017) 25 30 27 101 5,948 

Shipman (Northlawn/Southlawn, 2022) 25 27.5 22.9 37 580 

Redding (Lakeside/Lakepark, 2022) 25 28.5 23.5 Unavailable 2,029 

E. Lincoln (Woodward/Torry, 2022) 25 29.9 26.9 436 9,997 

Shirley (Brandon/Lincoln, 2022) 25 24.9 20.9 13 2,496 

Pleasant (Maple/Lincoln, 2021) 25 30.9 26.9 Unavailable 2,862 

      

Source: Birmingham Police Department traffic counts; speed & volume / 48-hour period (Wednesday – Thursday) 
 

7B1



1 

MEMORANDUM 
Police Department 

DATE: August 24, 2022 

TO: Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Mark H. Clemence, Chief of Police 

SUBJECT: Traffic Calming Measures – Speed Tables/Speed Humps 

INTRODUCTION: 

The issue of speed bumps (humps) was brought up at the City Commission meeting on 
Monday, August 15, 2022.  Reducing vehicular speed throughout the City is a common 
discussion point to enhance pedestrian safety, non-motorized transportation safety and 
vehicle safety. The Multi-Modal Transportation Board (MMTB) has previously examined 
the issue of speed tables and speed bumps as a method to encourage vehicles to slow 
down in residential neighborhoods. On March 3, 2022, the primary focus of the MMTB 
meeting was a presentation by staff and the City’s traffic engineering consultants about 
traffic calming measures that included speed tables and speed bumps.   

BACKGROUND: 

The MMTB members have commented that most of the negative comments they hear 
from residents are about traffic speeds in their neighborhoods. City commissioners would 
most likely agree that they too receive complaints from residents about speeding vehicles.  
The police department receives many complaints about speeding vehicles and has a policy 
in place to address those complaints with increased speed traffic enforcement, radar 
trailers, radar speed boards and in person/telephone discussions with residents.  On 
March 3, 2022, staff made a presentation to the MMTB about how speed studies are 
requested and completed in the City and what measures can be used to lower speeds. 

Commander Scott Grewe from the police department reviewed how speed studies are 
conducted by the police department.  Other City departments, like the engineering 
department, also conduct traffic surveys.  This information is shared between all City 
departments who request it. Speed studies are usually conducted for three reasons:  

7G27B1



2 
 

1. At the request of a citizen. 

2. In conjunction with a proposed City project or traffic change. 

3. As part of the police department’s on-going speed survey project to obtain speed 

and traffic volume measurements on the majority of the City’s residential streets.  

When conducting speed and volume surveys, the police department uses a small black 
box (clandestine radar) that is virtually invisible to motorists to record speeds for each 
vehicle (not a police cruiser with a radar gun) and record the number of vehicles traveling 
on the street (volume of vehicles). Speeds are measured and recorded using the 85th 
Percentile, which is a national standard. This 85th Percentile describes the speed in miles 
per hour for the 85th car out of 100, with the idea that 85% of the traffic drives at or 
below a safe speed, and 15% drive above that speed, including some outliers who drive 
much too fast and are the biggest concerns in terms of safety. 
 
Police department speed survey data shows that for most streets, the actual traffic speeds 
are at or below 25 miles per hour.  In the State of Michigan, all public residential streets 
have a 25 mph speed limit. The police department also uses some permanent electronic 
speed boards, where the motorists are alerted about their actual speed compared to the 
posted speed (such as along Southfield Road north of 14 Mile by Crestview Park) to assist 
drivers in monitoring their speed. 
  
In the recent past, the City Commission spent a considerable amount of time developing 
a City policy on residential street width.  The MMTB, in consideration of bicycling and the 
need for on-street parking, did not support reducing street width except for in cases 
where streets were more than 30 feet wide. This was based on studies reviewed by the 
City’s traffic engineering consultants (MKSK and Fleiss and Vanderbrink), at the request 
of the City Commission, that showed that reducing the street width by a few feet had a 
negligible impact on speeds (speeds are affected more by landscaping, the presence of 
sidewalks, crosswalks, setbacks and the general character of the neighborhood). 
 
According to the City’s contracted traffic engineers, when implemented for speed control, 
speed humps are constructed as raised areas approximately 12 to 20 feet long and about 
3 to 4 inches high. A series of speed humps (two or more) is necessary to be effective 
for speed control and need to be placed in a series at 300 to 600 foot spacing. The 
driveway density and on street parking throughout Birmingham makes it difficult to 
implement throughout the City. Additionally, many streets do not have curbs and 
additional steps must be taken to prevent circumnavigation around the humps. 
 
Additional items to consider when installing speed humps on a corridor include: 
 
1. They have a jarring “rideability” for all drivers and can cause severe pain for elderly 

drivers and those with certain disabilities. 

2. They force large vehicles, such as emergency vehicles and those with rigid 

suspensions, to travel at slower speeds, adding approximately 3-10 seconds of 

response time for each location. 

3. They may increase noise and air pollution. 

4. The aesthetics of installing 10-20 speed humps and associated signing and striping 

on a corridor may not be desirable. 

7B1



3 
 

5. Some damage from snowplows may be experienced; however, in most cases there 

was no damage since snowplow operators do not plow down to the pavement on 

local streets where speed humps are located. 

The MMTB also wanted to know what other measures are being used by other cities to 
lower speeds and how their programs work. Again, the City’s traffic engineering 
consultants (MKSK and Fleiss and Vanderbrink) surveyed some of the leading 
communities in traffic calming including Farmington Hills (a 20 plus year history), 
Rochester Hills, Ann Arbor, Grand Rapids and Detroit. The general findings were: 
 

1. Several cities use speed tables (a longer version of speed humps in terms of 
length). 

 
2. Speed humps are usually used where the 85th percentile is 32-35 MPH or more. 

When speeds are at or below 25 MPH, as is the case on the studied streets in 
Birmingham, speeds are not impacted.  Some cities indicated that speeds actually 
went up between the speed humps.  
 

3. One problematic issue arose where speed humps were added to a particular street, 
motorists began to use the parallel streets instead, pushing the original problem 
to other streets.  In Birmingham, with much of the City laid out in a grid pattern, 
this could be very difficult to overcome.  The City has seen this type of behavior 
in the past with residential permit parking.  Once one street received permit 
parking, the vehicles began parking on the next street over.  

 
4. Most cities start with a process to involve the residents in the study (to see who 

are the speeders) to determine if the problem is perceived or real, based on 85th 
percentile speeds. 
 

5. If there is a speeding problem, most cities require the residents to agree to the 
system with the residents paying a percentage of the cost of installation. (Cost 
varies depending upon if the speed humps are more temporary looking or have 
pavers, landscaping and other enhancements. The cost varies from $2,000 to 
$5,000 per location). 
 

6. Some cities, like Rochester Hills, require that all the homeowners adjacent to the 
proposed speed humps must sign off or approve of the installation. 

 
 

LEGAL REVIEW: 
 
None at this time. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
 
None at this time. 
 
 

7B1



4 
 

 
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
 
The MMTB is a public meeting with published agendas and minutes.  The police 
department, planning department and the engineering department are all participatory 
staff liaisons to the MMTB.  The police department encourages residents to bring their 
issues before the MMTB for discussion and assistance.  In addition to the March 3, 2022 
meeting on traffic calming and speed tables/humps, the MMTB held informational 
meetings on traffic calming on the following dates: 
 

1. November 5, 2020: the City’s contract traffic engineers presented a best practice 

training session on traffic calming.  The training covered the Federal Highway 

Administration’s Guide for improving pedestrian safety at uncontrolled crossing 

locations and the six phases that go into selecting the proper countermeasures. 

  

2. December 3, 2020: Speed tables were discussed during conversations about traffic 

calming best practices and how speed tables are less detrimental for snowplows 

than speed humps.  The conversation also included that while speed tables are 

more expensive, they are better for fire engines, more effective at slowing traffic 

and provide a useful space for pedestrians to cross the street.   

SUMMARY: 
 
Reducing vehicular speed throughout the City is a common discussion point to enhance 
pedestrian safety, non-motorized transportation safety and vehicle safety. The MMTB has 
previously examined the issue of speed tables and speed humps as a method to 
encourage vehicles to slow down in residential neighborhoods as part of a larger 
discussion on traffic calming as a whole.  
 
Based on past information and previous examinations of speed tables and speed humps 
as part of a larger traffic calming measure, the MMTB, City staff and the City’s contracted 
traffic engineers agreed that City did not need speed tables or humps at the time.  The 
MMTB indicated that the police department should continue to monitor speeds and 
determine if there was a street or area where a pilot program could be considered for a 
speed table or hump (The police department has identified Ruffner Street as a potential 
pilot project location and a new speed/volume study has been ordered).  Based upon the 
City Commission’s renewed interest in speed tables and/or speed humps, the City 
Manager could direct staff to have the topic of speed tables and/or speed humps 
specifically added as an agenda item for the MMTB for examination and consideration.  
Staff would then complete a staff report with the recommendations of the MMTB on the 
topic.   
 

7B1



Multi-Modal 
Transportation Board 
Neighborhood Traffic 
Calming Program

October 6, 2022 7B1



AGENDA TOPICS

▪ Background

▪ Comparable Communities

▪ Traffic Calming Measures

▪ Draft Criteria

▪ Candidate Streets

▪ Next Steps

7B1



BACKGROUND

▪ City Commission 
» Tasked MMTB with evaluating 

traffic calming criteria
» Sited neighborhood streets with 

high speeds, cut through traffic

7B1



COMPARABLE COMMUNITY PROGRAMS

Farmington Hills, MI

▪ Developed the Safe-te3 
Program 

▪ First Traffic Calming 
program in SE Michigan

▪ Focused on neighborhood 
traffic safety concerns. 

Farmington Hills Safe-te3 
Program Phases/Outline 

7B1



COMPARABLE CITY TRAFFIC CALMING

Grand Rapids, MI
▪ Created a Traffic Plan 

using studies requested 
by residents.

▪ Used to develop the 
correct program, 
including speed humps. 

▪ If Phase One tools do not 
resolve the issue, the City 
will begin Phase Two 
tools.

Grand Rapids Traffic Calming 
Program Process

7B1



COMPARABLE CITY TRAFFIC CALMING

Ann Arbor, MI
▪ Traffic Calming Program 

to help slow down traffic 
through physical 
changes (such as speed 
humps)

▪ Emphasizes resident 
initiation and 
participations through a 
5-step process

Ann Arbor Traffic Calming 
Process Overview Diagram 

7B1



TRAFFIC CALMING MEASURES

▪ Speeds are usually influenced by the width of the 
street, its design, on-street parking, and the context 
(street trees, setbacks, sight distance)

▪ Stop signs - don’t usually work

▪ Reduced street width - may or may not impact 
speeds

▪ Add bike lanes, parking, etc. to reduce the width for 
driving

▪ Chicanes

▪ Pedestrian crossings - midblock crossing and raised 
crossings

▪ Raised intersections

▪ Traffic calming islands

▪ Speed humps

▪ Speed warning and other signs

7B1



RAISED INTERSECTIONS & 
PEDESTRIAN CROSSINGS

Raised Intersections

▪ ADA-compliant and detector strips 
required

▪ Reinforce slow speeds

▪ Bollards along corners keep motorists 
from crossing into pedestrian zones

Raised pedestrian crossings

▪ Where an unsignalized crossing exists at 
a transit stop, enhanced crossing 
treatments or actuated signals should be 
added

7B1



SPEED HUMPS

Purpose

▪ Slows traffic

▪ Distinct from speed “bumps”

▪ Commonly implemented mid-block

▪ Commonly implemented on local streets

Implementation Factors to Consider

▪ Distance between driveways

▪ Snow plowing

▪ Appropriate MUTCD markings and signage

Ypsilanti Township,MI

Detroit, MI

ITE Speed HumpEffectiveness Study
▪ Study of26sites
▪ Pre-installation: 14% were >10mphover speed limit
▪ Post-installation: downto1%
▪ 85thPercentile speeds expectedtodrop
▪ Volumesmay dropif alternateroutes7B1



SPEED TABLES VS. 
SPEED HUMPS - TYPICALS

Speed table:

▪ 22’ long, 3”-3.5” height for streets

▪ For streets posted for 25-40 MPH

▪ Can be used on collector streets and/or transit emergency 
response routes

▪ Can be designed as midblock crossings (raised crosswalks) or 
in conjunction with curb extensions (bump outs)

▪ Can be as shown, or more decorative (brick pavers, etc. = more 
expensive)

Speed hump:

▪ 12-14’ long, 3-3.5” height

▪ Space no more than 500 feet to achieve 25-30 MPH

▪ Can cause some noise

7B1



DRAFT CRITERIA 

▪ Baseline Criteria
» Classified as a residential street.
» 50% of residents must petition for the installation 

AND agree to pay for the installation and maint. of 
devices

» The street must be paved.
» 15+ % of traffic is over the posted speed limit (speed 

study).

▪ Speed Hump Criteria
» Traffic volumes greater than 200, less than 1,200 

vehicles per day. 
» Not a fire or snow emergency route.
» Not along a major school bus or transit route.
» Room for speed humps 300 – 600 feet apart.
» Room for speed humps to avoid driveways.
» 100% written concurrence by owners within 200 feet 

of hump.

7B1



CANDIDATE STREETS

Locations with past complaints about speed and 
volumes:
1. Northlawn Blvd, Cranbrook to Southfield

2. Shipman Blvd, 14 Mile to Lincoln 

3. Redding Rd, Glenhurst to Old Woodward 

4. Oak St, Glenhurst to Old Woodward

5. Grant St, along the park 

6. Shirley Rd, Lincoln to Maple

7. Pleasant St, Lincoln to Maple 

8. Cole St, Adams to S Eton

9. Saxon St, west of Southfield

10. Ruffner, Woodward to Grant

11. Lincoln, Woodward to Torry 7B1



EXAMPLE – NORTHLAWN

▪ Residents have 
noted high speeds 
and cut-through 
traffic 

▪ Bi-Pass route 
▪ Requested an 

evaluation of traffic 
calming

7B1



EXAMPLE – NORTHLAWN

Baseline Criteria Meet 
Criteria

Notes

Signed petition 50% + of residents on roadway want traffic calming devises 
installed AND agrees to pay for installation and maint. of devices

Paved Road

Residential Street

85th% + 5 mph over Posted Speed 31 mph

Recommendation: Perform Study to evaluate traffic calming

7B1



EXAMPLE – NORTHLAWN

Speed Hump Criteria Meets 
Criteria

Notes

Average Daily Traffic volumes between 200- 1,200 vehicles per day. 

Not a Fire or Snow Emergency Route

Adequate distance to provide at least 2 speed humps at 300-600 ft separation

Adequate space to avoid driveways

7B1



EXAMPLE – SHIRLEY ROAD

▪ Residents have noted high 
speeds and cut-through 
traffic 

▪ N/S route between Lincoln 
and Maple

▪ Requested an evaluation of 
traffic calming

7B1



EXAMPLE – SHIRLEY ROAD

Criteria Meet 
Criteria

Notes

Signed petition 50% + of residents on roadway want traffic calming devises 
installed AND agrees to pay for installation and maint. of devices

Paved Road

Residential Street

85th% + 5 mph over Posted Speed 25 mph

Recommendation: 85th% speeds do not meet criteria, BPD to continue to monitor

7B1



NEXT STEPS 

1. MMTB provide comments on the proposed
program and participation by residents
a. Baseline Criteria Review
b. Traffic Calming Devises to be considered
c. Identify Pilot Projects: Northlawn, Others?

2. Finalize Neighborhood Traffic Calming Program
and provide a recommendation to City
Commission

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

04292022
Northlawn
Fairway/Cranbrook

Northlawn
Averaged Totals Fairway/Cranbrook

Combined
<= 10 >10

to 12
>12

to 14
>14

to 16
>16

to 18
>18

to 20
>20

to 22
>22

to 24
>24

to 26
>26

to 28
>28

to 30
>30

to 32
>32

to 34
>34

to 36
>36

to 38
>38

to 40
>40

to 42
>42

to 44
>44

to 46
>46

to 48
>48

to 50
>50

to 52
>52

to 54
>54

to 56
>56

to 58
>58

to 60
>60

to 62
>62

to 64
>64

to 66
> 66 Total

23 33 37 53 67 84 167 283 409 561 509 410 245 126 59 31 5 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,107

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

04292022
Northlawn
Fairway/Cranbrook

Northlawn
Fairway/Cranbrook

1

Combined Lanes 9/6/2022

Pace Speed - MPH
Classes Excluded From Pace: None
Speed Number Percent
23 - 33 449 74.09241%

Percentile Speeds
Percentile 5th 10th 15th 20th 25th 30th 35th 40th 45th 50th 55th 60th 65th 70th 75th 80th 85th 90th 95th 100th
Speed - MPH 16.9 19.9 21.9 22.9 23.9 24.9 25.9 25.9 26.9 26.9 27.9 27.9 28.9 28.9 29.9 30.9 30.9 31.9 33.9 38.9

Vehicles Traveling Greater Than 50.0 MPH
Total Volume 606
Total Greater Than 50.0 0
Percent Greater Than 50.0  0.0%

Mean, Median, and Mode Averages
Mean: 26.7
Median (50th %): 26.9
Mode: 27.0

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

04292022
Northlawn
Fairway/Cranbrook

Northlawn
Fairway/Cranbrook

2

Combined Lanes 9/7/2022

Pace Speed - MPH
Classes Excluded From Pace: None
Speed Number Percent
24 - 33 741 69.57746%

Percentile Speeds
Percentile 5th 10th 15th 20th 25th 30th 35th 40th 45th 50th 55th 60th 65th 70th 75th 80th 85th 90th 95th 100th
Speed - MPH 17.9 20.9 22.9 23.9 24.9 25.9 26.9 26.9 27.9 27.9 28.9 29.9 29.9 30.9 31.9 31.9 32.9 34.9 35.9 42.9

Vehicles Traveling Greater Than 50.0 MPH
Total Volume 1,065
Total Greater Than 50.0 0
Percent Greater Than 50.0  0.0%

Mean, Median, and Mode Averages
Mean: 28.1
Median (50th %): 27.9
Mode: 27.0

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

04292022
Northlawn
Fairway/Cranbrook

Northlawn
Fairway/Cranbrook

3

Combined Lanes 9/8/2022

Pace Speed - MPH
Classes Excluded From Pace: None
Speed Number Percent
24 - 33 821 69.93185%

Percentile Speeds
Percentile 5th 10th 15th 20th 25th 30th 35th 40th 45th 50th 55th 60th 65th 70th 75th 80th 85th 90th 95th 100th
Speed - MPH 15.9 19.9 21.9 22.9 23.9 24.9 25.9 26.9 26.9 27.9 27.9 28.9 29.9 29.9 30.9 30.9 31.9 32.9 34.9 43.9

Vehicles Traveling Greater Than 50.0 MPH
Total Volume 1,174
Total Greater Than 50.0 0
Percent Greater Than 50.0  0.0%

Mean, Median, and Mode Averages
Mean: 27.2
Median (50th %): 27.9
Mode: 27.0

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

04292022
Northlawn
Fairway/Cranbrook

Northlawn
Fairway/Cranbrook

4

Combined Lanes 9/6/2022 to 9/9/2022

Pace Speed - MPH
Classes Excluded From Pace: None
Speed Number Percent
24 - 33 2,185 70.34772%

Percentile Speeds
Percentile 5th 10th 15th 20th 25th 30th 35th 40th 45th 50th 55th 60th 65th 70th 75th 80th 85th 90th 95th 100th
Speed - MPH 16.9 20.9 22.9 23.9 24.9 24.9 25.9 26.9 26.9 27.9 27.9 28.9 29.9 29.9 30.9 31.9 32.9 33.9 34.9 44.9

Vehicles Traveling Greater Than 50.0 MPH
Total Volume 3,107
Total Greater Than 50.0 0
Percent Greater Than 50.0  0.0%

Mean, Median, and Mode Averages
Mean: 27.4
Median (50th %): 27.9
Mode: 27.0

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

04292022
Northlawn
Fairway/Cranbrook

Northlawn
Averaged Daily Totals Fairway/Cranbrook

Combined
<=
10

>10
to 12

>12
to 14

>14
to 16

>16
to 18

>18
to 20

>20
to 22

>22
to 24

>24
to 26

>26
to 28

>28
to 30

>30
to 32

>32
to 34

>34
to 36

>36
to 38

>38
to 40

>40
to 42

>42
to 44

>44
to 46

>46
to 48

>48
to 50

>50
to 52

>52
to 54

>54
to 56

>56
to 58

>58
to 60

>60
to 62

>62
to 64

>64
to 66

> 66 Total

Sund
ay

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Mon
day

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Tues
day

3 2 4 17 19 17 39 65 85 129 94 76 36 13 3 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 606

Wed
nesda

y

9 15 5 11 18 28 49 91 129 180 175 156 88 61 32 14 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 01,065

Thur
sday

10 16 20 18 28 33 66 110 161 201 197 147 95 37 20 11 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 01,174

Frida
y

1 0 8 7 2 6 13 17 34 51 43 31 26 15 4 2 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 262

Satur
day

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 23 33 37 53 67 84 167 283 409 561 509 410 245 126 59 31 5 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 03,107

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

04292022
Northlawn
Fairway/Cranbrook

Northlawn
Daily Totals Fairway/Cranbrook

Combined
<=
10

>10
to 12

>12
to 14

>14
to 16

>16
to 18

>18
to 20

>20
to 22

>22
to 24

>24
to 26

>26
to 28

>28
to 30

>30
to 32

>32
to 34

>34
to 36

>36
to 38

>38
to 40

>40
to 42

>42
to 44

>44
to 46

>46
to 48

>48
to 50

>50
to 52

>52
to 54

>54
to 56

>56
to 58

>58
to 60

>60
to 62

>62
to 64

>64
to 66

> 66 Total

9/6/2
022

3 2 4 17 19 17 39 65 85 129 94 76 36 13 3 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 606

9/7/2
022

9 15 5 11 18 28 49 91 129 180 175 156 88 61 32 14 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 01,065

9/8/2
022

10 16 20 18 28 33 66 110 161 201 197 147 95 37 20 11 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 01,174

9/9/2
022

1 0 8 7 2 6 13 17 34 51 43 31 26 15 4 2 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 262

Total 23 33 37 53 67 84 167 283 409 561 509 410 245 126 59 31 5 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 03,107

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

04292022
Northlawn
Fairway/Cranbrook

Northlawn
Averaged Hourly Totals Fairway/Cranbrook

Combined - Sunday
<=
10

>10
to 12

>12
to 14

>14
to 16

>16
to 18

>18
to 20

>20
to 22

>22
to 24

>24
to 26

>26
to 28

>28
to 30

>30
to 32

>32
to 34

>34
to 36

>36
to 38

>38
to 40

>40
to 42

>42
to 44

>44
to 46

>46
to 48

>48
to 50

>50
to 52

>52
to 54

>54
to 56

>56
to 58

>58
to 60

>60
to 62

>62
to 64

>64
to 66

> 66 Total

12:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

2:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

3:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

4:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

5:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

6:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

7:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

8:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

9:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

10:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

11:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

12:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

2:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

3:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

04292022
Northlawn
Fairway/Cranbrook

Northlawn
Averaged Hourly Totals Fairway/Cranbrook

4:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

5:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

6:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

7:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

8:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

9:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

10:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

11:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

04292022
Northlawn
Fairway/Cranbrook

Northlawn
Averaged Hourly Totals Fairway/Cranbrook

Combined - Monday
<=
10

>10
to 12

>12
to 14

>14
to 16

>16
to 18

>18
to 20

>20
to 22

>22
to 24

>24
to 26

>26
to 28

>28
to 30

>30
to 32

>32
to 34

>34
to 36

>36
to 38

>38
to 40

>40
to 42

>42
to 44

>44
to 46

>46
to 48

>48
to 50

>50
to 52

>52
to 54

>54
to 56

>56
to 58

>58
to 60

>60
to 62

>62
to 64

>64
to 66

> 66 Total

12:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

2:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

3:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

4:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

5:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

6:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

7:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

8:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

9:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

10:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

11:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

12:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

2:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

3:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

04292022
Northlawn
Fairway/Cranbrook

Northlawn
Averaged Hourly Totals Fairway/Cranbrook

4:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

5:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

6:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

7:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

8:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

9:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

10:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

11:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

04292022
Northlawn
Fairway/Cranbrook

Northlawn
Averaged Hourly Totals Fairway/Cranbrook

Combined - Tuesday
<=
10

>10
to 12

>12
to 14

>14
to 16

>16
to 18

>18
to 20

>20
to 22

>22
to 24

>24
to 26

>26
to 28

>28
to 30

>30
to 32

>32
to 34

>34
to 36

>36
to 38

>38
to 40

>40
to 42

>42
to 44

>44
to 46

>46
to 48

>48
to 50

>50
to 52

>52
to 54

>54
to 56

>56
to 58

>58
to 60

>60
to 62

>62
to 64

>64
to 66

> 66 Total

12:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

2:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

3:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

4:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

5:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

6:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

7:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

8:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

9:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

10:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

11:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

12:00
PM

2 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 2 6 4 5 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 25

1:00
PM

0 0 0 5 2 1 6 6 8 12 6 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50

2:00
PM

0 0 2 1 4 1 8 12 10 14 15 11 5 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 84

3:00
PM

1 0 0 6 5 2 7 21 24 23 21 8 7 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 127

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

04292022
Northlawn
Fairway/Cranbrook

Northlawn
Averaged Hourly Totals Fairway/Cranbrook

4:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 2 2 4 12 17 14 12 7 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 71

5:00
PM

0 0 1 1 3 4 2 2 6 19 16 12 6 5 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 78

6:00
PM

0 2 1 3 0 1 2 5 7 16 8 15 4 2 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 68

7:00
PM

0 0 0 1 0 2 3 8 8 12 5 7 3 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 51

8:00
PM

0 0 0 0 1 3 2 2 7 8 2 2 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 30

9:00
PM

0 0 0 0 4 1 5 3 1 2 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 20

10:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

11:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 3 2 4 17 19 17 39 65 85 129 94 76 36 13 3 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 606

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

04292022
Northlawn
Fairway/Cranbrook

Northlawn
Averaged Hourly Totals Fairway/Cranbrook

Combined - Wednesday
<=
10

>10
to 12

>12
to 14

>14
to 16

>16
to 18

>18
to 20

>20
to 22

>22
to 24

>24
to 26

>26
to 28

>28
to 30

>30
to 32

>32
to 34

>34
to 36

>36
to 38

>38
to 40

>40
to 42

>42
to 44

>44
to 46

>46
to 48

>48
to 50

>50
to 52

>52
to 54

>54
to 56

>56
to 58

>58
to 60

>60
to 62

>62
to 64

>64
to 66

> 66 Total

12:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

2:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

3:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

4:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

5:00
AM

1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5

6:00
AM

0 0 0 1 0 3 0 1 0 3 3 1 1 1 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 17

7:00
AM

1 2 0 1 2 1 1 9 10 12 10 15 8 9 6 5 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 94

8:00
AM

0 1 0 2 1 1 2 5 6 7 14 16 14 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 79

9:00
AM

2 1 0 1 0 2 4 3 5 10 6 7 5 4 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 52

10:00
AM

0 0 0 1 1 4 2 1 6 11 11 8 6 1 3 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 58

11:00
AM

0 4 0 0 3 1 2 4 8 9 12 10 6 1 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 63

12:00
PM

0 0 0 1 1 2 5 1 9 17 11 7 9 5 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 70

1:00
PM

0 2 0 1 0 3 5 6 5 5 12 8 2 1 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 54

2:00
PM

1 0 0 0 3 1 4 17 14 16 13 9 5 6 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 94

3:00
PM

0 0 0 1 2 1 2 9 8 14 19 21 9 7 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 96

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

04292022
Northlawn
Fairway/Cranbrook

Northlawn
Averaged Hourly Totals Fairway/Cranbrook

4:00
PM

1 0 0 0 0 2 3 9 15 21 20 9 12 8 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 103

5:00
PM

0 1 0 0 1 3 9 9 13 24 16 12 3 3 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 97

6:00
PM

2 2 2 1 3 3 4 8 10 10 11 13 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 72

7:00
PM

1 1 2 1 0 0 2 2 9 11 6 9 2 2 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 49

8:00
PM

0 0 1 0 0 1 4 6 11 5 6 5 1 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 43

9:00
PM

0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 2 3 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10

10:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3

11:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4

Total 9 15 5 11 18 28 49 91 129 180 175 156 88 61 32 14 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 01,065

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

04292022
Northlawn
Fairway/Cranbrook

Northlawn
Averaged Hourly Totals Fairway/Cranbrook

Combined - Thursday
<=
10

>10
to 12

>12
to 14

>14
to 16

>16
to 18

>18
to 20

>20
to 22

>22
to 24

>24
to 26

>26
to 28

>28
to 30

>30
to 32

>32
to 34

>34
to 36

>36
to 38

>38
to 40

>40
to 42

>42
to 44

>44
to 46

>46
to 48

>48
to 50

>50
to 52

>52
to 54

>54
to 56

>56
to 58

>58
to 60

>60
to 62

>62
to 64

>64
to 66

> 66 Total

12:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

2:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

3:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

4:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

5:00
AM

1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

6:00
AM

0 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 5 2 0 2 1 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 17

7:00
AM

1 2 0 3 2 1 4 7 14 12 13 17 5 4 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 90

8:00
AM

1 0 3 0 3 3 6 14 28 25 25 24 12 5 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 152

9:00
AM

0 0 1 1 2 4 7 7 7 11 10 10 4 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 66

10:00
AM

1 3 2 2 2 2 10 11 11 5 6 1 1 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 60

11:00
AM

0 3 2 1 1 4 3 13 7 28 12 3 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 80

12:00
PM

2 1 2 0 2 2 3 5 4 10 11 7 7 3 1 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 63

1:00
PM

2 2 2 0 3 1 5 10 6 13 6 7 7 2 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 69

2:00
PM

0 1 0 1 3 4 4 6 11 15 27 14 12 6 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 105

3:00
PM

0 0 5 3 1 3 8 8 22 14 15 14 14 2 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 111

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

04292022
Northlawn
Fairway/Cranbrook

Northlawn
Averaged Hourly Totals Fairway/Cranbrook

4:00
PM

0 0 0 0 1 1 3 3 8 14 21 11 8 4 1 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 78

5:00
PM

0 0 1 4 1 6 7 10 12 12 15 13 8 3 2 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 95

6:00
PM

1 1 1 1 2 0 0 6 9 12 11 6 7 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 59

7:00
PM

1 3 0 1 2 1 1 4 7 13 12 10 6 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 62

8:00
PM

0 0 0 0 1 0 2 4 3 6 8 6 1 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 34

9:00
PM

0 0 0 1 2 0 2 1 7 6 5 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 25

10:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3

11:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 10 16 20 18 28 33 66 110 161 201 197 147 95 37 20 11 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 01,174

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

04292022
Northlawn
Fairway/Cranbrook

Northlawn
Averaged Hourly Totals Fairway/Cranbrook

Combined - Friday
<=
10

>10
to 12

>12
to 14

>14
to 16

>16
to 18

>18
to 20

>20
to 22

>22
to 24

>24
to 26

>26
to 28

>28
to 30

>30
to 32

>32
to 34

>34
to 36

>36
to 38

>38
to 40

>40
to 42

>42
to 44

>44
to 46

>46
to 48

>48
to 50

>50
to 52

>52
to 54

>54
to 56

>56
to 58

>58
to 60

>60
to 62

>62
to 64

>64
to 66

> 66 Total

12:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

2:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

3:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

4:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

5:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3

6:00
AM

0 0 0 1 0 0 2 5 2 2 4 0 1 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 20

7:00
AM

0 0 3 2 0 2 4 4 18 22 18 15 7 6 4 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 108

8:00
AM

0 0 0 0 2 0 2 3 7 14 12 12 13 4 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 70

9:00
AM

1 0 4 2 0 4 4 2 5 7 8 3 4 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 46

10:00
AM

0 0 1 2 0 0 0 2 2 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12

11:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

12:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

2:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

3:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

04292022
Northlawn
Fairway/Cranbrook

Northlawn
Averaged Hourly Totals Fairway/Cranbrook

4:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

5:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

6:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

7:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

8:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

9:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

10:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

11:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 1 0 8 7 2 6 13 17 34 51 43 31 26 15 4 2 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 262

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

04292022
Northlawn
Fairway/Cranbrook

Northlawn
Averaged Hourly Totals Fairway/Cranbrook

Combined - Saturday
<=
10

>10
to 12

>12
to 14

>14
to 16

>16
to 18

>18
to 20

>20
to 22

>22
to 24

>24
to 26

>26
to 28

>28
to 30

>30
to 32

>32
to 34

>34
to 36

>36
to 38

>38
to 40

>40
to 42

>42
to 44

>44
to 46

>46
to 48

>48
to 50

>50
to 52

>52
to 54

>54
to 56

>56
to 58

>58
to 60

>60
to 62

>62
to 64

>64
to 66

> 66 Total

12:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

2:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

3:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

4:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

5:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

6:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

7:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

8:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

9:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

10:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

11:00
AM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

12:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

2:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

3:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

04292022
Northlawn
Fairway/Cranbrook

Northlawn
Averaged Hourly Totals Fairway/Cranbrook

4:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

5:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

6:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

7:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

8:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

9:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

10:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

11:00
PM

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

7B1



 

 
MEMORANDUM 
(Police Department) 
 

 
DATE:  September 27, 2022  
 
TO:  Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 
 
FROM: Ryan Kearney, Police Lieutenant 
 
SUBJECT:  Shirley Rd Speed/Volume Survey 
 
 
INTRODUCTION:  
 
On August 29, 2022, the City Commission discussed the topic of speeding vehicles on residential 
streets within the city.  Subsequently, the Commission requested the Multi-Modal Transportation 
Board to add speed humps/tables as an agenda item for their next meeting in October.  The 
Commission asked the MMTB to identify a test site or two that could be utilized for a pilot project 
to install speed humps or tables.   
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
Shirley Rd was one location mentioned at the Commission meeting as a source of cut-through 
traffic and having a speeding problem.  As a result, a speed and volume survey was conducted 
on Shirley Rd between W Lincoln and Brandon from 9/20/22 – 9/26/22.  The data was reported 
as a whole and broken down by specific dates.  The best practice for traffic analysis is the middle 
of the week (Wednesday – Thursday).    

 
LEGAL REVIEW: 
 
N/A  
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
 
The police department owns and operates covert traffic data collectors.  There was no fiscal 
impact to conducting this survey. 
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
 
N/A 
 
  

7B1



SUMMARY: 
 
The survey resulted in a traffic volume of 6,178 vehicles traveling Shirley Rd between Tuesday, 
9/20/22, and Monday, 9/26/22.  The 85th percentile speed on each day was either 24.9 mph or 
25.9 mph.  The average speed varied from 20.9 to 22.9.  Only one vehicle reached 40 mph during 
the entire test period. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:   
 
The following graphs and charts are attached: 
 

• Speed data analysis set for a 5 mph tolerance from 9/20/22 – 9/26/22 
• Speed data analysis set for a 5 mph tolerance from Wed, 9/21/22 – Thurs, 9/22/22 
• Percentile speeds  
• One Line Summary of averaged totals 
• Volume graph sorted by speed (Combined lanes, Unknown 1=Southbound, Unknown 

2=Northbound) 
• Daily totals by speed and volume 
• Averaged Daily totals by speed and volume 

 
SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
 
The purpose of this data is informational. 
 

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

SPEED DATA ANALYSIS

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

SPEED DATA ANALYSIS

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

9/20/22 - 9/26/22
Tues - Mon

Location 1: Shirley
Location 2: (Brandon/W Lincoln)

Averaged Totals
Combined
<= 10 >10

to 12
>12

to 14
>14

to 16
>16

to 18
>18

to 20
>20

to 22
>22

to 24
>24

to 26
>26

to 28
>28

to 30
>30

to 32
>32

to 34
>34

to 36
>36

to 38
>38

to 40
>40

to 42
>42

to 44
>44

to 46
>46

to 48
>48

to 50
>50

to 52
>52

to 54
>54

to 56
>56

to 58
>58

to 60
>60

to 62
>62

to 64
>64

to 66
> 66 Total

37 130 215 357 618 1020 1209 1217 804 387 134 40 7 2 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6,180

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

9/20/22 - 9/26/22
Tues - Mon
Location 1: Shirley
Location 2: (Brandon/W Lincoln)

1

Combined Lanes 9/20/2022

Pace Speed - MPH
Classes Excluded From Pace: None
Speed Number Percent
17 - 26 419 81.20155%

Percentile Speeds
Percentile 5th 10th 15th 20th 25th 30th 35th 40th 45th 50th 55th 60th 65th 70th 75th 80th 85th 90th 95th 100th
Speed - MPH 14.9 15.9 17.9 18.9 18.9 19.9 20.9 20.9 21.9 21.9 22.9 22.9 22.9 23.9 23.9 24.9 25.9 25.9 27.9 32.9

Vehicles Traveling Greater Than 50.0 MPH
Total Volume 516
Total Greater Than 50.0 0
Percent Greater Than 50.0  0.0%

Mean, Median, and Mode Averages
Mean: 21.8
Median (50th %): 21.9
Mode: 23.0

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

9/20/22 - 9/26/22
Tues - Mon
Location 1: Shirley
Location 2: (Brandon/W Lincoln)

2

Combined Lanes 9/21/2022

Pace Speed - MPH
Classes Excluded From Pace: None
Speed Number Percent
17 - 26 983 78.38915%

Percentile Speeds
Percentile 5th 10th 15th 20th 25th 30th 35th 40th 45th 50th 55th 60th 65th 70th 75th 80th 85th 90th 95th 100th
Speed - MPH 13.9 15.9 16.9 17.9 18.9 18.9 19.9 20.9 20.9 20.9 21.9 21.9 22.9 22.9 23.9 24.9 24.9 25.9 26.9 39.9

Vehicles Traveling Greater Than 50.0 MPH
Total Volume 1,254
Total Greater Than 50.0 0
Percent Greater Than 50.0  0.0%

Mean, Median, and Mode Averages
Mean: 21.2
Median (50th %): 20.9
Mode: 22.0

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

9/20/22 - 9/26/22
Tues - Mon
Location 1: Shirley
Location 2: (Brandon/W Lincoln)

3

Combined Lanes 9/22/2022

Pace Speed - MPH
Classes Excluded From Pace: None
Speed Number Percent
16 - 26 940 75.68438%

Percentile Speeds
Percentile 5th 10th 15th 20th 25th 30th 35th 40th 45th 50th 55th 60th 65th 70th 75th 80th 85th 90th 95th 100th
Speed - MPH 12.9 14.9 15.9 16.9 17.9 18.9 18.9 19.9 19.9 20.9 20.9 21.9 21.9 22.9 23.9 23.9 24.9 25.9 26.9 37.9

Vehicles Traveling Greater Than 50.0 MPH
Total Volume 1,242
Total Greater Than 50.0 0
Percent Greater Than 50.0  0.0%

Mean, Median, and Mode Averages
Mean: 20.5
Median (50th %): 20.9
Mode: 20.0

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

9/20/22 - 9/26/22
Tues - Mon
Location 1: Shirley
Location 2: (Brandon/W Lincoln)

4

Combined Lanes 9/23/2022

Pace Speed - MPH
Classes Excluded From Pace: None
Speed Number Percent
17 - 26 1,017 77.87136%

Percentile Speeds
Percentile 5th 10th 15th 20th 25th 30th 35th 40th 45th 50th 55th 60th 65th 70th 75th 80th 85th 90th 95th 100th
Speed - MPH 12.9 14.9 16.9 17.9 18.9 18.9 19.9 19.9 20.9 20.9 21.9 21.9 22.9 22.9 23.9 24.9 24.9 25.9 26.9 34.9

Vehicles Traveling Greater Than 50.0 MPH
Total Volume 1,306
Total Greater Than 50.0 0
Percent Greater Than 50.0  0.0%

Mean, Median, and Mode Averages
Mean: 21.0
Median (50th %): 20.9
Mode: 23.0

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

9/20/22 - 9/26/22
Tues - Mon
Location 1: Shirley
Location 2: (Brandon/W Lincoln)

5

Combined Lanes 9/24/2022

Pace Speed - MPH
Classes Excluded From Pace: None
Speed Number Percent
18 - 26 705 81.12773%

Percentile Speeds
Percentile 5th 10th 15th 20th 25th 30th 35th 40th 45th 50th 55th 60th 65th 70th 75th 80th 85th 90th 95th 100th
Speed - MPH 15.9 17.9 17.9 18.9 19.9 20.9 20.9 21.9 21.9 22.9 22.9 22.9 23.9 23.9 24.9 25.9 25.9 26.9 28.9 38.9

Vehicles Traveling Greater Than 50.0 MPH
Total Volume 869
Total Greater Than 50.0 0
Percent Greater Than 50.0  0.0%

Mean, Median, and Mode Averages
Mean: 22.4
Median (50th %): 22.9
Mode: 23.0

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

9/20/22 - 9/26/22
Tues - Mon
Location 1: Shirley
Location 2: (Brandon/W Lincoln)

6

Combined Lanes 9/25/2022

Pace Speed - MPH
Classes Excluded From Pace: None
Speed Number Percent
17 - 26 633 82.74509%

Percentile Speeds
Percentile 5th 10th 15th 20th 25th 30th 35th 40th 45th 50th 55th 60th 65th 70th 75th 80th 85th 90th 95th 100th
Speed - MPH 15.9 16.9 17.9 18.9 19.9 20.9 20.9 21.9 21.9 21.9 22.9 22.9 23.9 23.9 24.9 24.9 25.9 26.9 27.9 34.9

Vehicles Traveling Greater Than 50.0 MPH
Total Volume 765
Total Greater Than 50.0 0
Percent Greater Than 50.0  0.0%

Mean, Median, and Mode Averages
Mean: 22.2
Median (50th %): 21.9
Mode: 23.0

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

9/20/22 - 9/26/22
Tues - Mon
Location 1: Shirley
Location 2: (Brandon/W Lincoln)

7

Combined Lanes 9/20/2022 to 9/26/2022

Pace Speed - MPH
Classes Excluded From Pace: None
Speed Number Percent
17 - 26 4,868 78.77023%

Percentile Speeds
Percentile 5th 10th 15th 20th 25th 30th 35th 40th 45th 50th 55th 60th 65th 70th 75th 80th 85th 90th 95th 100th
Speed - MPH 13.9 15.9 16.9 17.9 18.9 19.9 19.9 20.9 20.9 21.9 21.9 22.9 22.9 23.9 23.9 24.9 24.9 25.9 27.9 39.9

Vehicles Traveling Greater Than 50.0 MPH
Total Volume 6,180
Total Greater Than 50.0 0
Percent Greater Than 50.0  0.0%

Mean, Median, and Mode Averages
Mean: 21.4
Median (50th %): 21.9
Mode: 23.0

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

9/20/22 - 9/26/22
Tues - Mon

Location 1: Shirley
Location 2: (Brandon/W Lincoln)

Averaged Daily Totals

Combined
<=
10

>10
to 12

>12
to 14

>14
to 16

>16
to 18

>18
to 20

>20
to 22

>22
to 24

>24
to 26

>26
to 28

>28
to 30

>30
to 32

>32
to 34

>34
to 36

>36
to 38

>38
to 40

>40
to 42

>42
to 44

>44
to 46

>46
to 48

>48
to 50

>50
to 52

>52
to 54

>54
to 56

>56
to 58

>58
to 60

>60
to 62

>62
to 64

>64
to 66

> 66 Total

Sund
ay

4 3 19 24 66 109 158 179 121 56 17 8 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 765

Mon
day

0 3 3 10 23 25 46 57 37 16 6 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 228

Tues
day

3 7 14 28 37 84 109 108 81 29 11 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 516

Wed
nesda

y

8 25 45 78 136 209 267 231 140 85 21 7 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 01,254

Thur
sday

12 50 57 107 137 226 237 207 130 53 22 1 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 01,242

Frida
y

9 36 54 80 146 248 224 241 158 78 21 10 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 01,306

Satur
day

1 6 23 30 73 119 168 194 137 70 36 8 3 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 869

Total 37 130 215 357 6181,0201,2091,217 804 387 134 40 7 2 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 06,180

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

9/20/22 - 9/26/22
Tues - Mon

Location 1: Shirley
Location 2: (Brandon/W Lincoln)

Daily Totals

Combined
<=
10

>10
to 12

>12
to 14

>14
to 16

>16
to 18

>18
to 20

>20
to 22

>22
to 24

>24
to 26

>26
to 28

>28
to 30

>30
to 32

>32
to 34

>34
to 36

>36
to 38

>38
to 40

>40
to 42

>42
to 44

>44
to 46

>46
to 48

>48
to 50

>50
to 52

>52
to 54

>54
to 56

>56
to 58

>58
to 60

>60
to 62

>62
to 64

>64
to 66

> 66 Total

9/20/
2022

3 7 14 28 37 84 109 108 81 29 11 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 516

9/21/
2022

8 25 45 78 136 209 267 231 140 85 21 7 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 01,254

9/22/
2022

12 50 57 107 137 226 237 207 130 53 22 1 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 01,242

9/23/
2022

9 36 54 80 146 248 224 241 158 78 21 10 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 01,306

9/24/
2022

1 6 23 30 73 119 168 194 137 70 36 8 3 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 869

9/25/
2022

4 3 19 24 66 109 158 179 121 56 17 8 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 765

9/26/
2022

0 3 3 10 23 25 46 57 37 16 6 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 228

Total 37 130 215 357 6181,0201,2091,217 804 387 134 40 7 2 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 06,180

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

9/20/22 -
9/26/22
Tues - Mon

Location 1: Shirley
Location 2: (Brandon/W

Lincoln)
Volume Sorted by Speed for 9/20/2022 to 9/26/2022

Combined

Speed

(MPH)

Volume

0 0

1 0

2 0

3 0

4 0

5 0

6 0

7 0

8 6

9 12

10 19

11 50

12 80

13 91

14 124

15 150

16 207

17 260

18 358

19 495

20 525

21 572

22 637

23 652

24 565

25 461

26 343

27 222

28 165

29 83

30 51

31 24

32 16

33 4

34 3

35 2

36 0

37 0

38 1

39 1

40 1

41 0

42 0

43 0

44 0

45 0

46 0

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

9/20/22 -
9/26/22
Tues - Mon

Location 1: Shirley
Location 2: (Brandon/W

Lincoln)
Volume Sorted by Speed for 9/20/2022 to 9/26/2022

Unknown, 1

Speed

(MPH)

Volume

0 0

1 0

2 0

3 0

4 0

5 0

6 0

7 0

8 4

9 8

10 8

11 13

12 21

13 43

14 55

15 75

16 98

17 137

18 168

19 236

20 278

21 313

22 346

23 373

24 325

25 277

26 234

27 149

28 113

29 62

30 37

31 17

32 11

33 4

34 2

35 1

36 0

37 0

38 0

39 0

40 0

41 0

42 0

43 0

44 0

45 0

46 0

7B1



Birmingham Police Department

9/20/22 -
9/26/22
Tues - Mon

Location 1: Shirley
Location 2: (Brandon/W

Lincoln)
Volume Sorted by Speed for 9/20/2022 to 9/26/2022

Unknown, 2

Speed

(MPH)

Volume

0 0

1 0

2 0

3 0

4 0

5 0

6 0

7 0

8 2

9 4

10 11

11 37

12 59

13 48

14 69

15 75

16 109

17 123

18 190

19 259

20 247

21 259

22 291

23 279

24 240

25 184

26 109

27 73

28 52

29 21

30 14

31 7

32 5

33 0

34 1

35 1

36 0

37 0

38 1

39 1

40 1

41 0

42 0

43 0

44 0

45 0

46 0

7B1



 

1 

City Of Birmingham Multi-Modal Transportation Board 

Thursday, October 4, 2022 

151 Martin Street, City Commission Room 205, Birmingham, MI 

Minutes of the regular meeting of the City of Birmingham Multi-Modal Transportation Board held 

Thursday, October 4, 2022. Vice-Chair Tom Peard convened the meeting at 6:00 p.m.  

A. Rollcall 

Present: Board Members David Hocker, Anthony Long, Tom Peard, Joe Zane; Alternate  
Board Member Mark Doolittle 
 

Absent: Chair Doug White; Board Member Victoria Policicchio; Alternate Board Member  
Amanda Fishburn; Student Representatives Isabela Betanzos, Ben Rosenfield 

 
Staff:   Senior Planner Cowan, Operations Commander Grewe, Lieutenant Kierney,  

Assistant City Engineer Zielinski 

 

F&V:  Julie Kroll 

 

MKSK: Brad Strader 
 
B. Approval of MMTB Minutes of September 1, 2022 
 
Motion by Mr. Hocker 
Seconded by Mr. Long to approve the MMTB Minutes of September 1, 2022 as 
submitted.  
 
Motion carried, 5-0.  
 
VOICE VOTE  
Yeas:  Long, Hocker, Peard, Doolittle, Zane 
Nays:  None  
 
C. Introductions & Chair Comments  
 
D. Review of the Agenda 
 
E. New Business 
 
F. Unfinished Business 

1. E. Brown Street, S. Old Woodward to Woodward Ave 
 
SP Cowan introduced the item.  
 
Staff and consultants answered informational questions from the Board.  
 

7B1



Multi-Modal Transportation Board Proceedings 
October 4, 2022 

2 

Mr. Hocker said that, given the complications of the intersection, he was not in favor of adding 
parking to E. Brown. 
 
Mr. Long noted that once the few proposed spaces for E. Brown are filled up, vehicles would likely 
either conduct illegal maneuvers to try and access them and/or would continue to park illegally 
on Peabody. 
 
Mr. Zane said that if the proposed spots on E. Brown were limited to five minutes, the quick 
turnover would likely prevent double-parking or vehicles stopped in the road. 
 
Mr. Doolittle concurred with Messrs. Hocker and Long. 
 
Mr. Long spoke in favor of the right-in only access from Alternate A, saying that the other option 
results in slowed traffic entering Jax’s off of Woodward, which could be more dangerous. 
 
Motion by Mr. Doolittle 
Seconded by Mr. Long to Alternative A of the proposed Brown Street design to the 
City Commission for the purpose of enhancing the safety and flow of pedestrian and 
vehicular traffic along Brown Street and Woodward Avenue. 
 
Motion carried, 3-2.  
 
ROLL CALL VOTE  
Yeas:  Long, Hocker, Doolittle 
Nays:  Peard, Zane 
 

2. Pierce Street Considerations 
 
SP Cowan introduced the item. Mr. Strader and ACE Zielinski presented the item. 
 
Staff and consultants answered informational questions from the Board.  
 
Mr. Zane said that if these options were to be explored further, he would first like to hear from 
the neighborhood and school community whether a bike lane would be used. He noted that 
sharrows were not required for cyclists to be able to share the road with vehicles. 
 
Mr. Long concurred, and added that it would be worth knowing whether much conflict between 
pedestrians in the area and children riding their bikes on the sidewalk. He said that without that 
sort of conflict, there would be no reason to add a bike lane that would result in children being 
closer to traffic. 
 
Mr. Doolittle said he lived in the area and rarely sees cyclists of any ages on Pierce.  
 
Mr. Strader explained the options considered for the area and stated that the consensus among 
the consultants and Staff was that the options would be disruptive with little value added. 
 
ACE Zielinski concurred. 
 

7B1



Multi-Modal Transportation Board Proceedings 
October 4, 2022 

3 

Mr. Long said that in light of Staff’s recommendation, he would be comfortable leaving the area 
as-is. 
 
The Board concurred. 
 

3. Neighborhood Traffic Calming Program 
 
SP Cowan introduced the item. Mr. Strader, Ms. Kroll, and SP Cowan presented the item. 
 
Staff and consultants answered informational questions from the Board.  
 
Mr. Long said 100% written concurrence by owners within 200 feet of a speed hump would likely 
be too limiting a criterion, given the other criteria that need to be considered. 
 
Mr. Strader and Ms. Kroll suggested that a better criterion could be that a majority of the street 
is in support of a speed hump, and that the City determines where it needs to be placed.  
 
Mr. Zane observed that a different municipality that requires 100% written concurrence by owners 
within 200 feet of a speed hump likely would have an easier time obtaining approval because the 
homes are spaced further apart, so fewer homeowners would need to approve. In Birmingham, 
a higher number of homeowners would need to approve if the same criterion were applied. 
 
OC Grewe noted that the City’s residential parking petitions currently require 75% agreement 
among residents of a street. 
 
The Board concurred that 75% was a reasonable standard for the second baseline criterion, 
instead of 50%. 
 
Mr. Strader recommended that ‘100% written concurrence by owners within 200 feet of hump’ 
be replaced with a criterion that 75% of residents agree that a speed hump would be selected 
based on whatever would be most effective for the street. 
 
Mr. Doolittle noted that homeowners with a bump in front of their home would be 
disproportionately affected. He said that needed to be considered. He noted that would be one 
reason to require that more than a simple majority of the residents on the street agree. 
 
In reply to Mr. Long, ACE Zielinski said it was difficult to install speed humps on unimproved roads 
since they lack a sufficient base. He said speed humps would be much more likely to be ripped 
out and to become a hazard on unimproved roads. 
 
Messrs. Long and Peard noted that speeds on unimproved roads were also likely limited by poorer 
road conditions relative to improved roads.  
 
Mr. Strader asked the Board and Staff to consider other candidate corridors for speed humps for 
next meeting’s discussion.  
 
The Board noted that Farmington Hills begins to consider speed humps when the 85th percentile 
speeds are over 35 mph.  

7B1



Multi-Modal Transportation Board Proceedings 
October 4, 2022 

4 

 
SP Cowan asked the Board to consider whether they wanted the threshold for considering speed 
humps to be 85th percentile speeds over 35 mph, over 30 mph, or another figure. 
 
In reply to Mr. Peard, Ms. Kroll said success would be indicated if the the 85th percentile speeds 
were at or below the speed limit. 
 
In reply to Mr. Doolittle, Ms. Kroll and Mr. Strader explained that they would recommend lower-
volume streets with higher speeds first because 1. Speed humps create noise, so too much volume 
could create more noise; 2. Lower volumes are more reasonable for speed humps; 3. Adding 
speed humps to higher-volume streets can divert traffic and increase the volume on other roads; 
and, 4. If success is seen on the lower-volume streets, then speed humps could be considered 
on streets with more moderate volume. 
 
In reply to Mr. Hocker, Mr. Strader and Ms. Kroll clarified that the baseline criteria would indicate 
a need for traffic calming, but would not necessarily indicate that speed humps would be the 
appropriate mechanism.  
 
Ms. Kroll noted that the speed hump criteria would determine whether they were the appropriate 
mechanism in a given case. 
 

4. Scooter Policy 
 
SP Cowan introduced the item. OC Grewe presented the item. 
 
Staff and consultants answered informational questions from the Board.  
 
OC Grewe noted that most of the riders on sidewalks in the downtown area tend to be younger 
residents. 
 
In reply, Mr. Zane suggested that the City could better publicize the current scooter policy by 
going to the Birmingham schools. He said that enforcement would be less of an issue if working 
with a fleet of rental scooters since they offer more precise enforcement mechanisms. 
 
G. Meeting Open to the Public for Items not on the Agenda 
 
Wendy Dewindt, Randy Davis, Laura Stevenson, and two additional Fairway residents spoke in 
favor of sidewalks on Fairway. 
 
Darin McBride, resident of Fairway, spoke against sidewalks on Fairway. 
 
Renee Suchara said that while she was not in favor of sidewalks on Fairway, she would accept 
Fairway being designated as a third-tier priority for sidewalk installation instead of a first-tier 
priority. 
 
Janelle Whipple-Boyce recommended that the City hold a study session regarding the City’s 
sidewalk implementation policy along a question and answer period. She noted that the City could 
likely reduce resident confusion by addressing residents’ questions and supporting those answers 

7B1



Multi-Modal Transportation Board Proceedings 
October 4, 2022 

5 

with data. She spoke in favor of the City’s sidewalk implementation policy in general. 
 
Mark Nickita said the speed study did not indicate a need for speed humps in the neighborhoods. 
He said he was not in favor of Birmingham joining a scooter rental program, that bicycles and 
scooters on sidewalks pose a significant safety issue, and recommended some ideas for 
enforcement. He spoke in favor of the City’s sidewalk implementation policy in general. 
 
Tony Merolla spoke in support of installing sidewalks in the City in general, and called for the 
process of installing sidewalks to be expedited.  
 
Mr. Zane noted that the Board recommended that stretches of road without sidewalks be 
prioritized for sidewalk installation. He explained that was how Fairway became one of the streets 
with the highest priority for sidewalk installation.  
 
Mr. Long noted that Fairway was only designated a high priority for sidewalk installation because 
the majority of the road currently lacks sidewalks. He noted that there are a number of other 
streets in Birmingham ranked at the same priority level in terms of sidewalk installation for the 
same reason.  
 
H. Miscellaneous Communications 

1. Letters from residents regarding sidewalk gap priorities 
 
Mr. Long and Zane recommended adding a study session to a future agenda to review the 
criteria used to rank streets in terms of sidewalk implementation priority and to explain how 
those recommendations interact with the City’s capital improvement plan.  
 
In reply to Mr. Peard, SP Cowan said the study session could be publicized via the City’s social 
media and online newsletter. 
 
Mr. Hocker recommended the sidewalk priority map be updated to include a brief description of 
the priorities, noting that priority one is for roads with no sidewalks, and so on.  
 
I. Adjournment  
 
No further business being evident, the Board adjourned at 8:33 p.m.  

Brooks Cowan, Senior Planner 

 

 
Laura Eichenhorn, City Transcriptionist 

 

7B1



Multi-Modal Transportation Board Proceedings 
October 4, 2022 

6 

 

7B1



AGENDA 
REGUAR MEETING OF THE BIRMINGHAM MULTI-MODAL TRANSPORTATION BOARD 

THURSDAY NOVEMBER 3rd, 2022 
151 MARTIN ST., CITY COMMISSION ROOM 205, BIRMINGHAM MI 
************************6:00 pm*********************** 

 
 

The City recommends members of the public wear a mask if they have been exposed to 
COVID-19 or have a respiratory illness. City staff, City Commission and all board and 
committee members must wear a mask if they have been exposed to COVID-19 or actively 
have a respiratory illness. The City continues to provide KN-95 respirators and triple layered masks 
for attendees. 

 
 

A. Roll Call 
B. Introductions & Chairpersons Comments 
C. Review of the Agenda 
D. Approval of Minutes, Meeting of October 6th, 2022 
E. Unfinished Business 

1. Multi-Modal Transportation Plan Sidewalk Priorities 
2. Neighborhood Traffic Calming Program – Speed Humps 
3. S. Eton, Villa to 14 Mile 

F. New Business 
1. Brown & Southfield Intersection 

G. Meeting Open to the Public for items not on the Agenda 
H. Miscellaneous Communications  

1. SMART Bus Millage  
2. Letters from residents regarding sidewalk gap priorities  

I. Next Meeting – December 1st, 2022 
J. Adjournment 

 
 
**** 
Please note that board meetings will be conducted in person once again.  Members of the public can 
attend in person at Birmingham City Hall or may attend virtually at 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/88295194746 or dial: 929 205 6099 US Toll-free 
 
Meeting ID: 824 7795 4435 
 
 
 

7B1

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/88295194746


MEMORANDUM 
Police Department 

DATE: October 28th, 2022  

TO: Multi-Modal Transportation Board 

FROM: Brooks Cowan, City Planning 
Ryan Kearney, Police Lieutenant 
Scott Zielinski, Engineering Department 
With assistance from:  
Brad Strader, MKSK 
Julie Kroll, Fleis & Vandenbrink 

SUBJECT:  Neighborhood Traffic Calming Program 

INTRODUCTION: 

On August 15th, 2022, several City Commissioners proposed the issue of installing speed humps in 
the City during Commissioner comments.  Police Chief Clemence completed a staff report 
apprising the City Commission of what the Multi-Modal Traffic Board (MMTB) had previously done 
regarding the topic. 

BACKGROUND: 

On August 29, 2022, the City Commission reviewed a staff report by the Police Chief.  The 
Commission requested that the topic of speed humps and speed tables be an agenda item for 
the MMTB in October of 2022.  The City Commission would like the MMTB to identify streets that 
could be utilized for a pilot project to install a speed hump or table. Once identified, city staff, the 
city's contracted traffic engineers and the MMTB shall formulate a plan of study to set up a pilot 
program for installing a speed hump or table. This plan would include all associated costs of the 
project, the description of the project and how the success or failure of the pilot project would 
be determined. The Memo from Police Chief Clemence to the City Commission is attached for the 
MMTB to review. 

On October 3rd, 2022, the MMTB reviewed draft language for traffic calming measures and speed 
humps that was put together by the City’s traffic consultants in conjunction with City staff. The 
first round of “Draft Criteria” on October 3rd, 2022 from MKSK and F&V proposed requirements 
for traffic calming measures as such: 

7B1



• Baseline Criteria
o Classified as a residential street.
o 50% of residents must petition for the installation AND agree to pay for the

installation and maint. of devices
o The street must be paved.
o 15+ % of traffic is over the posted speed limit (speed study).

• Speed Hump Criteria
o Traffic volumes greater than 200, less than 1,200 vehicles per day.
o Not a fire or snow emergency route.
o Not along a major school bus or transit route.
o Room for speed humps 300 – 600 feet apart.
o Room for speed humps to avoid driveways.
o 100% written concurrence by owners within 200 feet of hump.

The Police Department and City staff identified 12 residential streets as sources of recent and 
frequent speeding complaints and provided data related to speed limits, traffic counts, and 85th 
percentile speeds recorded. The data provided concluded that the 85th percentile of speeds on 
streets receiving speed complaints ranged between 0.1 under to 7.9 mph over the speed limit of 
25 mph. Only three streets, Saxon Drive, Northlawn Drive, and Pleasant Street were found to 
have an 85th percentile speed above 30 mph, 5 mph over the speed limit. The City of Birmingham 
only controls the northern portion of Saxon Drive, While the portions of Northlawn Drive and 
Pleasant Street recording higher speeds are considered unimproved. 

F&V and MKSK discussed nearby City policies such as Farmington Hills, Rochester, and Ann Arbor 
who have traffic calming and speed hump policies. The traffic consultants indicated that it is more 
common to implement speed humps along streets where the 85th percentile of speeds is 10+ 
mph above the speed limit which is not the case for any recorded data in Birmingham. 

It was clarified between the MMTB and staff that “paved” alluded to an improved street in the 
baseline criteria. The MMTB also discussed petitions and residential buy-in for speed humps. The 
Board felt that 50% was too low, and there was general consensus that 75% was a more ideal 
majority. In regards to speed hump criteria, it was discussed that the location should be up to 
the discretion of the Engineering Department vs. attempting to have 100% buy-in from adjacent 
neighbors on the exact location. 

Updated DRAFT criteria for traffic calming measures addressing items discussed in October of 
2022 is provided below. The criteria has been consolidated into one category vs. the prior baseline 
criteria followed by speed hump criteria.  

Speed Hump Criteria: 
 Classified as a residential street
 Street is defined by the City as “improved” so that it can support a speed

hump/infrastructure
 75% of residents on the subject block must petition for the installation (City Commission

to decide on who pays, most cities expect the residents to pay)
 15+% of traffic is over the posted speed limit (a speed study shows that the 85th percentile

speed is 5+ mph over the speed limit)

7B1



 Not a fire or snow emergency route
 Not along a major school bus or transit route
 Speed humps need to be placed 300-600 feet apart, avoiding driveways and storm sewer

drains
 Engineering Department to determine the placement

MKSK and F&V have provided a map of the candidate streets listed and indicated whether they 
are improved or unimproved streets. Of the table of candidate streets where the City receives 
speed complaints, Saxon Drive is the only road that is close to meeting professional engineering 
standards for speed hump installation as it is the only improved road with an 85th percentile speed 
that is 5 mph above the speed limit. The issue with Saxon Drive is that Beverley Hills owns the 
southern portion and the City of Birmingham would have to coordinate with them on the 
installation for both sides of the street. 

SUGGESTED ACTION: 

The Multi-Modal Transportation Board may wish to consider the proposed speed hump policy for 
the City of Birmingham and what to recommend to City Commission for both a pilot program and 
an installation policy. It is the observation of City staff that most streets in Birmingham do not 
meet professional engineering criteria for the temporary or permanent installation of speed 
humps. The Multi-Modal Transportation Board may wish to recommend to City Commission that 
the City consider alternative traffic calming mitigations to reduce speeds in areas where speed 
limits are commonly exceeded. 

7B1



Birmingham Speed Hump Pilot Program **Revised 10/28/22 

Street Speed 
Limit 

85th 
Percentile 

Avg 
Speed 

>30 mph Volume

Cole (Eton/Torry, 2022) 25 26.9 21.9 14 636 

Grant (Chapin/Bennaville, 2022) 25 29.9 24.9 434 3,508 

Northlawn (Golfview/Pleasant, 2022) 25 32.9 27.9 669 2,239 

Oak (Lakeside/Lakepark, 2022) 25 28.9 24.9 580 10,548 

Oakland (Poppleton/Rosedale, 2022) 25 24.9 19.9 10 1,377 

Ruffner (Grant/Woodward, 2022) 25 26.9 22.9 102 1,992 

Saxon (Latham/Southfield, 2022) 25 33.9 29.9 1,984 4,889 

Shipman (Northlawn/Southlawn, 2022) 25 27.9 22.9 37 580 

Redding (Lakeside/Lakepark, 2021) 25 28.5 23.5 Unavailable 2,029 

E. Lincoln (Woodward/Torry, 2022) 25 29.9 26.9 1,184 9,997 

Shirley (Brandon/Lincoln, 2022) 25 24.9 20.9 13 2,496 

Pleasant (Maple/Lincoln, 2021) 25 30.9 26.9 Unavailable 2,862 

Source: Birmingham Police Department traffic counts; speed & volume / 48-hour period (Wednesday – Thursday) 

7B1



Multi-Modal  
Transportat ion B o a r d
N e i g h b o r h o o d Traff ic
C a l m i n g P r o g r a m

November 3, 2022 7B1



A G E N D A T O P I C S

 Request from City Commission

 Revised Traffic Calming
Program Draft Criteria

 Candidate Streets

 Pilot Projects

 Recommendations to the City
Commission

7B1



R E Q U E S T  F R O M  C I T Y  C O M M I S S I O N

 Residents along certain streets have expressed

concern with traffic speeds and/or volumes

 Traffic volumes have increased along several

streets due to personal navigation (Northlawn,

Oak, Ruffner, etc.)

 City Commission asked the Multi-Modal

Transportation Board to evaluate and provide

recommendations on speed humps and traffic

calming

7B1



B A C K G R O U N D  O N  S P E E D  H U M P S

P u r p o s e

 Slows traffic
 Distinct from speed “bumps”
 Commonly implemented mid-block
 Commonly implemented on local streets
I m p l e m e n t a t i o n F a c t o r s to C o n s i d er

 Distance between driveways
 Snow plowing
 Appropriate MUTCD markings and signage

Ypsilanti Township, MI

Detroit, MI

ITE Speed H u m p Effectiveness S t u d y
 Study of26 sites
 Pre-installation: 14% were >10 mph over speedl imit
 Post-installation: down to 1%
 85th Percentile speedsexpectedto drop
 Volumes may drop if alternate routes7B1



D A T A  O N  T R A F F I C  V O L U M E S

The Police Department has data on traffic volumes (and 

increases) and speed studies

 Pace Speeds / Percentile Speeds

 Measures vehicle travel speeds to determine 85th percentile

 Example speed study below

7B1



S P E E D  F I N D I N G S

Findings per Research and the Board’s Comments:

1. Most cities reviews with traffic calming and speed hump

programs have streets with speeds 10 mph or more over

the posted speed limit

2. Birmingham’s speeds are generally less than the posted

speed limit, a few are 5 mph or less over the posted

speed limit. Only a few streets are more than 5 mph over

3. Traffic calming could be considered for a few streets as a

Pilot project

7B1



D R A F T  C R I T E R I A

T r a f f i c  C a l m i n g  M e a s u r e  B a s e l i n e  C r i t e r i a :
 Classified as a residential street

 Street is defined by the City as “improved” so 
that it can support a speed hump/infrastructure

 70% of residents must petition for the installation 
(City Commission to decide on who pays, most 
cities expect the residents to pay)

 15+% of traffic is over the posted speed limit (a 
speed study shows that the 85th percentile speed 
is 5+ mph over the speed limit)

I m p r o v e d  v s  U n i m p r o v e d :
 Improved includes a concrete or asphalt surface 

with underlying base material and curbs

 Unimproved may be “paved” with just a surface 
coating and no base to support a speed hump or 
islands

7B1



D R A F T C R I T E R I A

S p e e d  H u m p  C r i t e r i a :
 Engineering Department to determine the

placement

 Not a fire or snow emergency route

 Not along a major school bus or transit route

 Speed humps need to be placed 300-600 feet
apart, avoiding driveways and storm sewer
drains

 Where speed hump criteria is not met, other
traffic calming measures may be applied

7B1



T R A F F I C  C A L M I N G  C A N D I D A T E S T R E E T S

Selected Pilot Projects:
1 . N o r t h l a w n B lvd  (Un im p r oved  Road ) , Cranbrook

to Southfield

2 . G r a n t  S t ( I m p r o v e d  R o a d ) , along the park

Other Streets for Future Consideration:
1 . S h i p m a n B l v d ( I m p r o v e d  R o a d ) , 14 Mile to

Lincoln

2 . S a x o n St, west of Southfield

3 . C o l e St, Adams to S Eton

4 . Ru ffn er , Woodward to Grant

5 . L i n c o l n , Woodward to Torry

6 . O a k St, Glenhurst to Old Woodward

7 . R e d d i n g R d , Glenhurst to Old Woodward

8 . P l e a s a n t St, Lincoln to Maple

Locations Not Under Consideration:
1. Shirley, Lincoln to Maple

7B1



O T H E R  T R A F F I C CALMING MEASURES

 Speeds are usually influenced by the width of the
street, its design, on-street parking, and the context
(street trees, setbacks, sight distance)

 Stop signs - don’t usually work
 Reduced street width - may or may not impact

speeds
 Add bike lanes, parking, etc. to reduce the width for

driving
 Islands and Medians
 Pedestrian crossings - midblock crossing and raised

crossings
 Raised intersections
 Traffic calming islands
 Speed warning and other signs

MidBlock Crossing

Buffered Bike Lane

Rectangular Rapid Flashing Beacon (RRFB)

Curb Bumpouts

7B1



N E X T S T E P S

Multi-Modal Transportation Board to Provide 

Recommendations to the City Commission:

 Comments about use of speed humps

 Traffic Calming Criteria

 Identify the Pilot Projects and Process

7B1



DRAFT

City Of Birmingham Multi-Modal Transportation Board
Thursday, November 3, 2022

151 Martin Street, City Commission Room 205, Birmingham, MI

Minutes of the regular meeting of the City of Birmingham Multi-Modal Transportation Board held
Thursday, November 3, 2022. Chair Doug White convened the meeting at 6:00 p.m.

A. Rollcall
Present: Chair Doug White; Board Members Mark Doolittle, David Hocker, Anthony Long,
Tom Peard, Victoria Policicchio; Alternate Board Member Gordon Davies (present but not
voting), Patrick Hillberg; Student Representative Ben Rosenfield (left 8:01 p.m.)

Absent: Board Member Joe Zane; Student Representative Isabela Betanzos

Staff: Senior Planner Cowan, Operations Commander Grewe, Lieutenant Kierney,
Assistant City Engineer Zielinski

F&V: Julie Kroll

MKSK: Brad Strader

B. Introductions & Chair Comments

The Board welcomed Messrs. Davies and Hillberg, and congratulated Mr. Doolittle on his
appointment to regular member.

C. Approval of MMTB Minutes of October 4, 2022

Motion by Mr. Long
Seconded by Mr. Hocker to approve the MMTB Minutes of October 4, 2022 as
submitted.

Motion carried, 6-0.

VOICE VOTE
Yeas:  Long, Hocker, Policicchio, Doolittle, Zane, Hillberg
Nays:  None
Abstain:  White

D. Review of the Agenda

E. Unfinished Business
1. Multi-Modal Transportation Plan Sidewalk Priorities

SP Cowan presented the item and Staff answered informational questions.

1

7B1



Multi-Modal Transportation Board Proceedings
November 3, 2022

Mr. Long summarized the MMTB’s September 2022 and October 2022 discussions pertaining to
this item and Fairway. He also stated that improvements to Fairway were not presently included
in the City’s capital improvement plans, and that residents would have advance notice and the
ability to provide input before any project would commence.

ACE Zielinski concurred.

Public Comment

Margaret Dufault, Dory Balian, Mark Baker, and Sheri Hunter, residents of Fairway, said Fairway
should be a tier-three priority.

Julia Cooney and Mark Schoeppe, residents of Fairway, spoke against sidewalks on Fairway.

Rackeline Hoff reiterated that residents would have the opportunity to provide feedback on
projects. She gave a brief overview of the process for potentially adding sidewalks to streets.

Janelle Whipple-Boyce spoke in favor of filling in sidewalk gaps.

Seeing no further public comment, the Chair returned the conversation to the Board.

Ms. Policicchio re-emphasized that community perspectives are solicited and taken into account
when planning City infrastructure projects.

Mr. Long advised the public that they could access City boards’ agendas, minutes, and
recordings on the City website in order to stay up-to-date on items being discussed. He noted
that all meetings of board members are held in public.

SP Cowan said members of the public could reach out to him to receive further instructions on
how to access those items.

2. Neighborhood Traffic Calming Program – Speed Humps

SP Cowan introduced the item. He noted that the packet said five miles over the speed limit but
that the presentation was updated to say 10 miles over the speed limit to align with City policy.
Mr. Strader and SP Cowan presented the item. Staff answered informational questions from the
Board.

Ms. Policicchio conjectured that many residents would be more amenable to increased speed
enforcement over physical changes to their streets.

Mr. Peard said he has seen enforcement work in keeping vehicle speeds lower in certain areas.
He also spoke in favor of Staff’s recommendation that the City use data-driven criteria to
evaluate the potential installation of speed humps.

Mr. Long supported other potential traffic calming measures.

2

7B1



Multi-Modal Transportation Board Proceedings
November 3, 2022

Mr. Strader noted that even in situations where speed humps might be appropriate, there may
traffic calming measures that would be comparably more effective.

There was general Board consensus not to recommend speed hump criteria presently since
few-to-no streets would qualify.

Ms. Policicchio added she was against speed humps also because they would impede snow
plows and emergency vehicles.

Mr. Long added that he was against speed humps also due to aesthetics and the likelihood that
it would be difficult to get the requisite number of residents on a street to agree to speed hump
installation.

Motion by Mr. Doolittle
Seconded by Mr. Long to recommend to the City Commission that the City consider
alternative traffic calming mitigations other than speed humps to reduce speeds in
areas where speed limits are commonly exceeded.

Motion carried, 7-0.

VOICE VOTE
Yeas:  Long, Hocker, Policicchio, Doolittle, Zane, Hillberg, White
Nays:  None

3. S. Eton, Villa to 14 Mile

SP Cowan introduced the item. Mr. Strader and SP Cowan presented the item. Staff answered
informational questions from the Board.

Mr. Peard said he had some preference for Option A due to its simplicity.

Mr. Long said he would email Staff an option he had seen in use in Bloomington, Indiana.

F. New Business
1. Brown & Southfield Intersection

SP Cowan introduced the item. Lt. Kearney and Ms. Kroll presented the item. Staff answered
informational questions from the Board.

Mr. Hocker suggested that if the condominium association applied to move its access drive
further north to be out-of-alignment with the left-turn lane from Brown that could be helpful.

Public Comment

Jim Arpin, president of the homeowners’ association, thanked the Board and Staff for its review.
He asked why Staff was against recommending LED lights for the intersection.

3

7B1



Multi-Modal Transportation Board Proceedings
November 3, 2022

Seeing no further public comment, the Chair returned the conversation to the Board.

Ms. Kroll stated that Staff did not recommend the addition of LED lights because the
intersection was signalized at all hours. She said the red light was visible from far away. She
said adding additional lights would be unlikely to resolve the concern.

Since, of the four accidents, three were the result of inebriation and one was the result of a
medical emergency, Mr. Doolittle noted that additional lighting would be unlikely to prevent
further accidents at the intersection.

In reply to Mr. Hocker, ACE Zielinski agreed that the optimal location for the added signage
would be centered by the left turn lane. It was noted that was not presently possible due to the
location of the condominium association’s driveway.

G. Meeting Open to the Public for items not on the Agenda
H. Miscellaneous Communications

1. SMART Bus Millage
2. Letters from residents regarding sidewalk gap priorities

Renee Suchara, resident of Fairway, asked why Fairway from Arden to Pleasant would not be
considered a gap street and thus a tier-three priority.

I. Adjournment

No further business being evident, the Board adjourned at 8:34 p.m.

Brooks Cowan, Senior Planner

Laura Eichenhorn, City Transcriptionist

4

7B1



NOTICE OF INTENTION TO APPOINT TO 
DESIGN REVIEW BOARD 

At the regular meeting of Monday, September 18, 2023 the Birmingham City Commission intends 
to appoint 2 Regular Members and 2 Alternate Members to the Design Review Board to serve a 
three-year term to expire September 25, 2026. 

Interested parties may submit an application available from the city clerk's office on or before 
noon on Wednesday, September 13, 2023. Applications will appear in the public agenda at 
which time the commission will discuss recommendations, and may make nominations and vote 
on appointments. 

The function and duty of the Design Review Board is to advise the City Commission in regard to 
the proper development of the City. The Design Review Board is specifically charged with 
carrying out the goals, objectives and intent of the City's adopted master plan and urban design 
plan and other development-oriented plans which may subsequently be adopted. The Design 
Review Board is authorized to advise and cooperate with the City Commission, City Planning 
Board, Historic District Commission and other City advisory boards and cooperate with the 
planning, historic district and legislative bodies of other governmental units in any area outside 
the boundaries of the City. 

NOTE: All members of boards and commissions are subject to the provisions of City of Birmingham City Code Chapter 2, Article 
IX, Ethics and the filing of the Affidavit and Disclosure Statement.   

Criteria/Qualifications of Open Position Date 
Applications Due 
(by noon) 

Date of 
Interview 

• Members shall represent, insofar as
possible, different occupations and
professions such as, but not limited to,
the legal profession, the financial or real
estate professions, and the planning or
design professions. Members shall be
residents.

9/13/23 9/18/23 

10A1



NOTICE OF INTENTION TO APPOINT TO 
HISTORIC DISTRICT COMMISSION 

At the regular meeting of Monday, September 18, 2023 the Birmingham City Commission 
intends to appoint two regular members and two alternate members to the Historic District 
Commission to serve three-year terms to expire September 25, 2026.  

Interested parties may submit an application available from the City Clerk's Office on or 
before noon on Wednesday, September 13, 2023.  Applications will appear in the public 
agenda at which time the commission will discuss recommendations, and may make 
nominations and vote on appointments. 

The function and duty of the Historic District Commission is to advise the City Commission 
with respect to the proper development of the City with primary emphasis upon the City’s 
established historic districts, sites, properties and historic resources.  The Commission is also 
authorized to recommend for the guidance of the City Commission amendments to the City 
Code relating to the control and development of lands within historic districts.   

NOTE: All members of boards and commissions are subject to the provisions of City of Birmingham City Code Chapter 2, 
Article IX, Ethics and the filing of the Affidavit and Disclosure Statement.   

Criteria/Qualifications of Open Position Date 
Applications Due 
(by noon) 

Date of 
Interview 

• A majority of the members shall have a
clearly demonstrated interest in or
knowledge of historic preservation

• Must be a resident

09/13/2023 09/18/2023 

10A2



10E1







10E1



10E1



10E1



10E1



10E1



10E1



10E1



10E1



10E1



10E1



10E1



10E1



10E1



10E1



INFORMATION ONLY



INFORMATION ONLY



7/25/23, 8:45 AM Cruising before the Woodward Dream Cruise generates noise complaints – The Oakland Press

https://www.theoaklandpress.com/2023/07/23/cruising-before-the-woodward-dream-cruise-generates-noise-complaints/?utm_email=742A54… 1/6

By By ANNE RUNKLEANNE RUNKLE |  | arunkle@medianewsgroup.comarunkle@medianewsgroup.com | The Oakland Press | The Oakland Press
July 23, 2023 at 11:01 a.m.July 23, 2023 at 11:01 a.m.

The 2022 Woodward Dream Cruise came to downtown Pontiac Saturday, Aug. 20. (A’Sante Lucas / for MediaNews Group)The 2022 Woodward Dream Cruise came to downtown Pontiac Saturday, Aug. 20. (A’Sante Lucas / for MediaNews Group)

Unofficial cruising begins months before the Woodward Dream Cruise in mid-August, often with cars that have modifiedUnofficial cruising begins months before the Woodward Dream Cruise in mid-August, often with cars that have modified

exhaust systems to make them louder.exhaust systems to make them louder.

LOCAL NEWSLOCAL NEWS

Cruising before the Woodward Dream CruiseCruising before the Woodward Dream Cruise
generates noise complaintsgenerates noise complaints
‘It starts as soon as the snow melts’‘It starts as soon as the snow melts’

Sign in to theoaklandpress.com with
Google

Jana Ecker
Jecker@bhamgov.org

Jana Ecker
janaecker71@gmail.com

INFORMATION ONLY

https://www.theoaklandpress.com/author/anne-runkle/
mailto:arunkle@medianewsgroup.com
https://www.theoaklandpress.com/local-news/


7/25/23, 8:45 AM Cruising before the Woodward Dream Cruise generates noise complaints – The Oakland Press

https://www.theoaklandpress.com/2023/07/23/cruising-before-the-woodward-dream-cruise-generates-noise-complaints/?utm_email=742A54… 2/6

“Unfortunately, it starts as soon as the snow melts,” said Chief Scott Grewe of the Birmingham Police Department.“Unfortunately, it starts as soon as the snow melts,” said Chief Scott Grewe of the Birmingham Police Department.

Almost as a rite of spring, residents in Birmingham and other Oakland County communities that border Woodward complain toAlmost as a rite of spring, residents in Birmingham and other Oakland County communities that border Woodward complain to

their police departments every year about the noise.their police departments every year about the noise.

Ferndale, Huntington Woods, Pleasant Ridge, Royal Oak, Berkley, Birmingham, Bloomfield Township, Bloomfield Hills andFerndale, Huntington Woods, Pleasant Ridge, Royal Oak, Berkley, Birmingham, Bloomfield Township, Bloomfield Hills and

Pontiac all border Woodward.Pontiac all border Woodward.

Up to 1 million people attend the annual dream cruise, one of the largest celebrations of vintage cars in the world, which will beUp to 1 million people attend the annual dream cruise, one of the largest celebrations of vintage cars in the world, which will be
held this year on Aug. 19.held this year on Aug. 19.

Some police departments in the nine communities have extra patrols on Woodward in the months before the official cruise.Some police departments in the nine communities have extra patrols on Woodward in the months before the official cruise.

Beginning in April, two Birmingham officers have worked overtime on Friday and Saturday nights to patrol Woodward.Beginning in April, two Birmingham officers have worked overtime on Friday and Saturday nights to patrol Woodward.

The officers, often armed with sound meters, are attempting to measure decibel levels and ticket cruisers who are generatingThe officers, often armed with sound meters, are attempting to measure decibel levels and ticket cruisers who are generating

noise complaints.noise complaints.

The problem, Grewe said, is that a local ordinance canʼt supersede state law.The problem, Grewe said, is that a local ordinance canʼt supersede state law.

The state s̓ rules make it difficult to write citations, he said. The officer has to be stationed a minimum number of feet awayThe state s̓ rules make it difficult to write citations, he said. The officer has to be stationed a minimum number of feet away

from the cars, which makes it hard to tell which one is creating the noise.from the cars, which makes it hard to tell which one is creating the noise.

State law says exhaust systems canʼt be modified, but allows exceptions that make enforcement difficult, Grewe said.State law says exhaust systems canʼt be modified, but allows exceptions that make enforcement difficult, Grewe said.

The officers write a few tickets for speeding and other offenses, but the real problem is the noise, Grewe said.The officers write a few tickets for speeding and other offenses, but the real problem is the noise, Grewe said.

He said maintaining a presence on Woodward discourages speeding and reckless driving in the months before the cruise.He said maintaining a presence on Woodward discourages speeding and reckless driving in the months before the cruise.

In Royal Oak, early cruisers generate complaints from residents about squealing tires, loud exhausts, blaring music, speeding,In Royal Oak, early cruisers generate complaints from residents about squealing tires, loud exhausts, blaring music, speeding,

reckless driving and drag racing, said Deputy Police Chief Patrick Stanton.reckless driving and drag racing, said Deputy Police Chief Patrick Stanton.

Traffic tickets for early cruisers are up this year in Royal Oak. Stanton said officers last month wrote at least a couple hundredTraffic tickets for early cruisers are up this year in Royal Oak. Stanton said officers last month wrote at least a couple hundred

violations.violations.

Oakland County Sheriff Michael Bouchard said his office, which provides police services for Pontiac, works with the otherOakland County Sheriff Michael Bouchard said his office, which provides police services for Pontiac, works with the other

affected police departments before and during the cruise to keep order. He agreed with Grewe that the state law addressing loudaffected police departments before and during the cruise to keep order. He agreed with Grewe that the state law addressing loud

vehicles is hard to enforce.vehicles is hard to enforce.

Grewe and other police chiefs and local elected officials in the Woodward communities have urged the state Legislature over theGrewe and other police chiefs and local elected officials in the Woodward communities have urged the state Legislature over the

last year to take action to make it easier to address the noise complaints.last year to take action to make it easier to address the noise complaints.

State Sen. Mallory McMorrow, D-Royal Oak, plans to introduce a measure as soon as this fall that will allow communities toState Sen. Mallory McMorrow, D-Royal Oak, plans to introduce a measure as soon as this fall that will allow communities to
enact their own noise ordinances.enact their own noise ordinances.

McMorrow s̓ represents the 8th District, which includes all of Birmingham, Ferndale, Huntington Woods and Pleasant Ridge andMcMorrow s̓ represents the 8th District, which includes all of Birmingham, Ferndale, Huntington Woods and Pleasant Ridge and

parts of Royal Oak and Berkley. The district also includes several other communities that donʼt border Woodward.parts of Royal Oak and Berkley. The district also includes several other communities that donʼt border Woodward.

McMorrow said the noise complaints grow every year.McMorrow said the noise complaints grow every year.

“It s̓ gotten so bad at all hours of the day and night,” she said.“It s̓ gotten so bad at all hours of the day and night,” she said.

Royal Oak police have noticed an uptick in early cruising over the past 10 years, and it first became an issue around 2001,Royal Oak police have noticed an uptick in early cruising over the past 10 years, and it first became an issue around 2001,

Stanton said.Stanton said.

Motorists have been cruising Woodward for generations, long before there was an official Woodward Dream Cruise.Motorists have been cruising Woodward for generations, long before there was an official Woodward Dream Cruise.

“It s̓ something my parentsʼ generation did, my generation, and now there s̓ a new generation,” Stanton said. “But I think with“It s̓ something my parentsʼ generation did, my generation, and now there s̓ a new generation,” Stanton said. “But I think with

social media it has picked up with the newer generation.”social media it has picked up with the newer generation.”

More classic car owners drive along Woodward as the official Dream Cruise nears.More classic car owners drive along Woodward as the official Dream Cruise nears.

“After the cruise there s̓ less of them and more of the modern hot rods and then the numbers start winding back down to what“After the cruise there s̓ less of them and more of the modern hot rods and then the numbers start winding back down to what

we see on normal traffic days,” Stanton said.we see on normal traffic days,” Stanton said.

Staff Writer Mike McConnell contributed to this report.Staff Writer Mike McConnell contributed to this report.

INFORMATION ONLY



7/25/23, 8:45 AM Cruising before the Woodward Dream Cruise generates noise complaints – The Oakland Press

https://www.theoaklandpress.com/2023/07/23/cruising-before-the-woodward-dream-cruise-generates-noise-complaints/?utm_email=742A54… 3/6

The Dream Cruise came to Royal Oak and other cities along Woodward Avenue Saturday, Aug. 21, 2021. (A’Sante Lucas / ForThe Dream Cruise came to Royal Oak and other cities along Woodward Avenue Saturday, Aug. 21, 2021. (A’Sante Lucas / For
MediaNews Group)MediaNews Group)

Anne RunkleAnne Runkle  | Multimedia Journalist| Multimedia Journalist

Alaska Cruise DealsAlaska Cruise Deals || SponsoredSponsored

New BMW DealsNew BMW Deals || SponsoredSponsored

Business Flight DealsBusiness Flight Deals || SponsoredSponsored

Empty Alaska Cruise Cabins Cost Almost NothingEmpty Alaska Cruise Cabins Cost Almost Nothing

The Killer New X5 SUV Is Close To Perfection (Take A Look)The Killer New X5 SUV Is Close To Perfection (Take A Look)

Here's How To Fly Business Class For The Price of EconomyHere's How To Fly Business Class For The Price of Economy

DogFoodDiscovery.comDogFoodDiscovery.com || SponsoredSponsored

GundryMDGundryMD || SponsoredSponsored

Vet Says: the 1 Meat You Should Never Feed Your DogVet Says: the 1 Meat You Should Never Feed Your Dog
Learn more

Top Doctor: If You Eat Oatmeal Every Day, This Is What HappensTop Doctor: If You Eat Oatmeal Every Day, This Is What Happens
Learn more

INFORMATION ONLY

https://www.theoaklandpress.com/author/anne-runkle/
https://gosearches.net/index.php
https://popup.taboola.com/en/?template=colorbox&utm_source=medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=thumbs-feed-01-b-delta:Below%20Article%20Thumbnails%20|%20Card%201:
https://csearches.net/index.php
https://popup.taboola.com/en/?template=colorbox&utm_source=medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=thumbs-feed-01-b-delta:Below%20Article%20Thumbnails%20|%20Card%201:
https://gosearches.net/index.php
https://popup.taboola.com/en/?template=colorbox&utm_source=medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=thumbs-feed-01-b-delta:Below%20Article%20Thumbnails%20|%20Card%201:
https://rtb-use.mfadsrvr.com/click/NCi7-LdFQdd1MD7iiq0qhoEUEzHXGVZ2NyL_Vo-wt42-j0Yh2YWE9TqlnaPtnu_BFRn_GRy8qyD2WE8csrnwzU_XZ-RkiXq2PHuBMYlwcKxiBID_fjxi5thr2SGZOgkTwTEsuxfJfyB7YlNGvK7-ji571NbTuxenK-VimyPrNpBv-K9VfeHO-Zcl6OuNW_JraEnv9uPbxngi1w7n1GLBVnx6cLUaccp1-tTnmWnvBf_xpbu1mzRvwK1y0E2X667Dk944lm06WNt1gUTrgSZBkQcqRLVnuTR2quowJNnWDZStNa8txcIfQGsi2ucD1Uvf4NnWAbybXfKVCbTInmAc6jv_znobzlFWNfpoENK96fSti1U15MXAnpZ6ecptHG4TH1Re93mXRKGoSy1MKw///
https://popup.taboola.com/en/?template=colorbox&utm_source=medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=thumbs-feed-01-a-delta:Below%20Article%20Thumbnails%20|%20Card%202:
https://rtb-use.mfadsrvr.com/click/DFrwdFNoPhjn7JbYa7aFhIAcEQ3JXIhDzW2hRhfv9oeMQR99_vkwzcbDU3hSEoaeQySX6-jJC29401bc8VVL63Glz-Sfepkt_kAogvwj0ObyYL1Zd-syD38xEsyHLAcTb_kzmff8-E3qO3jqiknXV-LuOB-1VoJ4_Mq8ItJvuLMnsl1Xo31g5geBom-EIA0ugKHm0icZz1EZQILG18Lw6WMs6QFF-pfD8lfEhjgQoDVppuvVRyi1JjWc3-GFW04_G1yl0fyZKIQZOT6blcNNkd-_I_X_OUcmcmNpK9Kwdk979DkDGfxfWO_cRP_4_yXYSiKnmCAgo-NDXdozhUYWpepapK09yLL0PKpWo3Lgo2ciuCHrLaO00j7uy0OTDkV03PJcfxRgjKKw///
https://popup.taboola.com/en/?template=colorbox&utm_source=medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=thumbs-feed-01-a-delta:Below%20Article%20Thumbnails%20|%20Card%202:
https://trc.taboola.com/medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress/log/3/click?pi=%2F2023%2F07%2F23%2Fcruising-before-the-woodward-dream-cruise-generates-noise-complaints&ri=356e7173f6bca9764d9c6da1a4751c42&sd=v2_69b08e8a0c07ba41544821a42a6d8ac8_0c4855c1-2f97-49ae-97bc-5b4b439b0090-tuct99bdbc7_1690288651_1690288651_CNawjgYQ4dJXGMH9t-iYMSABKAMw4QE4kaQOQNH4DkizzdsDUPkDWABgnBBo6f-qseHv3uY4cAE&ui=0c4855c1-2f97-49ae-97bc-5b4b439b0090-tuct99bdbc7&it=text&ii=~~V1~~-4782406544521124311~~g31f7bZN1wUyF94Hp5DwuqXaywVy4cwes-hBOrA_Cur6nH0OabNJtzzP-ddPU2nvK8Bm7FKD2NW1M1BCiW1-kuMDMqg65-jJbi04eURsbtqeHe1S9jo_X4timp5pCZhQ1qPnz8TIp56FGMwGW1REdGP6mCOrMydSrc5toiHgFWAp-3Jybkbg7ntaoS2VbkfQGUkHQ3_G_JxGjhw9TrdPb_HE79lMnEshhClK6-ItHTlNH3EBEsSbolrdhJgUTJ0SUnfDueH3AwhvTfauyFTuVnIBhMVuagGFjnMgWNrlFALu73ETmnfNFJzU3BmMA-FGrSKCvTMNihR0Kv3XR8PzKKvuvMET7zjtHu_AE_2i5FZBGS43MTwq4peCyxxt_ISDnY28tHFek__VC2JD74Wzdim139464Zif7qZ3CaJ8btfvxlHH28Vo4BYuqmzOVK1SZxPKg0T1Ey3RZ4M33Q1a_QV9ZoGI-6T0Obf0jTxHC6hv5blvG6mJJlRE4-1X7EIrTRBeWIAphn_o4lhW8jSsf-UR0_mm47AixaIkroAF5ymZeka5k6ItqHH6I3TcC2jzi-9B7G8cm4QQbbUZP8MT3rrLXi33CV7-eMrNfchDJ8iSVW4_pR5CGvU_ldFNSpTWOkn5FlK_usTFlk8a1OHY9WuSJKlSSCTMvDQcQ3hz_8LlYr7u-0dR6xfqlcq7SRlbB4zxd0A-ic8Qb9JjtwjIHAhCQgjV7yXyViJA5usKNJcualki4Rv-8KYv-drbnm5i2j62sEzR04Kl6AWDRnjC98ecGVpk8uGN7uiwMPcA_Hvq2te4dkQVJZ-L9yOfmFdlZ4PVlLUcwK8U5-doT1HbmNdRw1_mYT2IN_s2_tjqAsvMvC8ej0vpbuwZgtLgiguTTvonJbOglHV9NXPzUew8Pk-kvIazliRnN-dcAaxbUiv7n5n6FLIGCzUGLLQgld0mE_3KymDcaKPA6WZKO9sXPsFHKpm7VMVovRVWjeJe8EyeKajpGpauK92uuFM2npA8o4xU9ETV25b0h17fkmak-W4fdsjrEAhi94tK8JVqEQXg2WwDJ35MSE0I7FBqJonM9AOmg7eE23Ru4PlZh0TQRu1Bgzu0-x2iGbZkVTwDxcKA_5S00zrNTfmcpJHsQ6zTexn9npWVT6LiOGq02Jh34fFBnHNiquCCkE6YNA4gk3I2sAS8ZPjDnl9rMDqwwzjhkknpwGj2NqqAoLBirbQo1L6F063xvagTjn6gZm7Tnq_GBET1j7JD6vbb7GaEQRexYanTDPNakKuE7rJq3W44TqmwP_C5ETbpkHBjOOV1mans_ZZ3jmVN1lJprA1IukXpHTXUTmWzzjgeJuOJhjLT8gl4_2_WlRadC9Js866yGBfs4iQO4cTJGWOgyzje4cT8_tPyaxDO1bpp5lNyZRIgE36cBEUe983aywruQ5B7BisQnM3R4SHaERSknaQuqpqUjrOGv-6iDoYLvQ6osB3pEQ&pt=text&li=rbox-t2v&sig=bda29e9048dd8a64d33e7952eb551ef569f8a34d0e94&redir=https%3A%2F%2Frtb-use.mfadsrvr.com%2Fclick%2FNCi7-LdFQdd1MD7iiq0qhoEUEzHXGVZ2NyL_Vo-wt42-j0Yh2YWE9TqlnaPtnu_BFRn_GRy8qyD2WE8csrnwzU_XZ-RkiXq2PHuBMYlwcKxiBID_fjxi5thr2SGZOgkTwTEsuxfJfyB7YlNGvK7-ji571NbTuxenK-VimyPrNpBv-K9VfeHO-Zcl6OuNW_JraEnv9uPbxngi1w7n1GLBVnx6cLUaccp1-tTnmWnvBf_xpbu1mzRvwK1y0E2X667Dk944lm06WNt1gUTrgSZBkQcqRLVnuTR2quowJNnWDZStNa8txcIfQGsi2ucD1Uvf4NnWAbybXfKVCbTInmAc6jv_znobzlFWNfpoENK96fSti1U15MXAnpZ6ecptHG4TH1Re93mXRKGoSy1MKw%2F%2F%2F%3Flp_domain%3Dwww2.dogfooddiscovery.com%26utm_source%3Dtaboola%26utm_medium%3Dreferral%26tblci%3DGiB_Itfcy4jv_VWSaTM0B13DEKdUw2vcR7eM1LksnOW51SDV6EUontPq1ayAmNRY%23tblciGiB_Itfcy4jv_VWSaTM0B13DEKdUw2vcR7eM1LksnOW51SDV6EUontPq1ayAmNRY&vi=1690288651969&p=mediaforcebidder-global&r=19&lti=deflated&ppb=CAk&cpb=EhIyMDIzMDcyNS04LVJFTEVBU0UYASCc__________8BKhljaC50YWJvb2xhc3luZGljYXRpb24uY29tMgh0cmM4MDMxNTiA7uaDCUCRpA5I0fgOULPN2wNY-QNjCNA3EI1TGDBkYwjKQRDkVhgyZGMI1xYQ1R8YI2RjCJYUEJscGBhkYwjSAxDgBhgIZGMI9___________ARD3__________8BGAlkYwivRxD6YBgLZGMI_0YQ710YHWRjCPQUEJ4dGB9kYwjR__________8BENH__________wEYL2R4AYABAogBnPqm7QGQARyYAef9t-iYMQ&cta=true
https://trc.taboola.com/medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress/log/3/click?pi=%2F2023%2F07%2F23%2Fcruising-before-the-woodward-dream-cruise-generates-noise-complaints&ri=356e7173f6bca9764d9c6da1a4751c42&sd=v2_69b08e8a0c07ba41544821a42a6d8ac8_0c4855c1-2f97-49ae-97bc-5b4b439b0090-tuct99bdbc7_1690288651_1690288651_CNawjgYQ4dJXGMH9t-iYMSABKAMw4QE4kaQOQNH4DkizzdsDUPkDWABgnBBo6f-qseHv3uY4cAE&ui=0c4855c1-2f97-49ae-97bc-5b4b439b0090-tuct99bdbc7&it=text&ii=~~V1~~-4060979006339706253~~xT_GLvjssJACF5kUrSizLsbvmnEhbfMTlSkodysetGz6nH0OabNJtzzP-ddPU2nvK8Bm7FKD2NW1M1BCiW1-kuMDMqg65-jJbi04eURsbtqeHe1S9jo_X4timp5pCZhQ1qPnz8TIp56FGMwGW1REdGP6mCOrMydSrc5toiHgFWAp-3Jybkbg7ntaoS2VbkfQGUkHQ3_G_JxGjhw9TrdPb_HE79lMnEshhClK6-ItHTlNH3EBEsSbolrdhJgUTJ0SUnfDueH3AwhvTfauyFTuVnIBhMVuagGFjnMgWNrlFALu73ETmnfNFJzU3BmMA-FGrSKCvTMNihR0Kv3XR8PzKKvuvMET7zjtHu_AE_2i5FZBGS43MTwq4peCyxxt_ISD287MXzNJP9_7IhpvnN7mnRtz3QSBCOxAyZr7eTf-pNtXhtroL437LjUVBfDJm9cCOX6MijQGUpBz2B_o2Qq-d2Dd16JwYRtr-nKpNoq_f0hUc-yy5dIsfNpo7ghXcqdFPMGNDp_JCVp4AqqjR8zn1c5_eI_VejWYJIOHORHByV8wcIs2bdnK-6n7l9ALTHonZuKrHSfxqnO35MkA9PXnzlJRB6c-cHd8qXNa7HuGo4650CyZ3aAsN6wykihVqcx36kHH0Ekq4GuGGj7U67jHTkUGzfIZVLgaqP1IXsLbkZEnE-0kF3Bt7xETVi3tbc-o7eUHygEa_T7Hg0YZ85tDw7R9Qx9kt_XFTmOj4nHNhFpuZ5_MwI7oWUHfrXZHdZTNDiYEJWmUJTt9KTTL2q6veLwjiEpLFAYn7Yy9Qc5m3yQ2EVyGkFuF9qzNyU3SLY3aV0s6SquCMjSlShjEfDMIzDb79APA6JULt3DvCHaaHY6cwYs-p96Wlyxt_RFro4pU256KnyaabhlOIelSXeknwkjsSA0Ssaiy_flu_yDDbbPw5MybvwloDzylLtPgamxfLg7y4BqQcBWTwsrG8UhD39Y-HBTMzr7FL7uQlNfOhh2mK7TMUuDirZu34C75odoQj4HPFGInhC1IRRTOnxEomTL-7_ZMtNVFzryl4vQxclUjVr8DWCRlhduyhCDm0LoVzs9fRM9qdSIJMCdlJriSPLzSSKcTXbfnPt1s-my6oDVs37VCXCmYTrxsMAe4848afb3jpdskdk7vRnIRQ7virXkyQtIMHr_N_q7XKOe-wbF-76LK2sythH6rhgx02VszwHAXD5ULzSx-OgNbTiRE7RV5nUDq_pzMo9KXlI0U5vDAFfrIWiP0OLY3-w3xdiyGiKko5XuAH0GTIvfyd3q6fpaPCcqyzMJFMYoSghz1--HMtcg0Q95ETjR94DkUTSwyMtR_6c5EQPZ5uungaXoBs79NLZEkeNPfmSS0FXkbxDwIsxmjXj3Ai0lg8CEew6knkiOvtH74kiWIBUUskZzWBEAHeYIqzKz6zKGtA90_4zkIAKGAJ99MdrxdfQ1dV-H3&pt=text&li=rbox-t2v&sig=d10104b89e343b8271fe62525dbdb10462c549967392&redir=https%3A%2F%2Frtb-use.mfadsrvr.com%2Fclick%2FDFrwdFNoPhjn7JbYa7aFhIAcEQ3JXIhDzW2hRhfv9oeMQR99_vkwzcbDU3hSEoaeQySX6-jJC29401bc8VVL63Glz-Sfepkt_kAogvwj0ObyYL1Zd-syD38xEsyHLAcTb_kzmff8-E3qO3jqiknXV-LuOB-1VoJ4_Mq8ItJvuLMnsl1Xo31g5geBom-EIA0ugKHm0icZz1EZQILG18Lw6WMs6QFF-pfD8lfEhjgQoDVppuvVRyi1JjWc3-GFW04_G1yl0fyZKIQZOT6blcNNkd-_I_X_OUcmcmNpK9Kwdk979DkDGfxfWO_cRP_4_yXYSiKnmCAgo-NDXdozhUYWpepapK09yLL0PKpWo3Lgo2ciuCHrLaO00j7uy0OTDkV03PJcfxRgjKKw%2F%2F%2F%3Flp_domain%3Dwww2.thegutrehab.com%26utm_source%3Dtaboola%26utm_medium%3Dreferral%26tblci%3DGiB_Itfcy4jv_VWSaTM0B13DEKdUw2vcR7eM1LksnOW51SDV6EUor7miurP_mOWrAQ%23tblciGiB_Itfcy4jv_VWSaTM0B13DEKdUw2vcR7eM1LksnOW51SDV6EUor7miurP_mOWrAQ&vi=1690288651969&p=mediaforcebidder-global&r=93&lti=deflated&ppb=CAk&cpb=EhIyMDIzMDcyNS04LVJFTEVBU0UYASCc__________8BKhljaC50YWJvb2xhc3luZGljYXRpb24uY29tMgh0cmM4MDMxNTiA7uaDCUCRpA5I0fgOULPN2wNY-QNjCNA3EI1TGDBkYwjKQRDkVhgyZGMI1xYQ1R8YI2RjCJYUEJscGBhkYwjSAxDgBhgIZGMI9___________ARD3__________8BGAlkYwivRxD6YBgLZGMI_0YQ710YHWRjCPQUEJ4dGB9kYwjR__________8BENH__________wEYL2R4AYABAogBnPqm7QGQARyYAef9t-iYMQ&cta=true


7/25/23, 8:45 AM Cruising before the Woodward Dream Cruise generates noise complaints – The Oakland Press

https://www.theoaklandpress.com/2023/07/23/cruising-before-the-woodward-dream-cruise-generates-noise-complaints/?utm_email=742A54… 4/6

TheWalletGuru.comTheWalletGuru.com || SponsoredSponsored

Ultimate Pet NutritionUltimate Pet Nutrition || SponsoredSponsored

Gundry MDGundry MD || SponsoredSponsored

People Born 1942-1971 Are Due a Large SurprisePeople Born 1942-1971 Are Due a Large Surprise

When Your Dog Eats Kibble Every Day, This Is What May HappenWhen Your Dog Eats Kibble Every Day, This Is What May Happen
Did you know there are key nutrients missing from your dog's diet?Did you know there are key nutrients missing from your dog's diet?

Learn More

Heart Surgeon Begs Americans: “Stop Doing This To Your Fruit”Heart Surgeon Begs Americans: “Stop Doing This To Your Fruit”
Dr. Gundry has released an informative free video showcasing exactly which foods you may need to avoid.Dr. Gundry has released an informative free video showcasing exactly which foods you may need to avoid.

Learn More

Best5autoinsurance.comBest5autoinsurance.com || SponsoredSponsored

Oracle NetSuiteOracle NetSuite || SponsoredSponsored

Michigan Drivers With No DUIs Getting A Pay Day On TuesdayMichigan Drivers With No DUIs Getting A Pay Day On Tuesday
Learn more

CFOs, Improve and Simplify your Business ProcessesCFOs, Improve and Simplify your Business Processes
Harness the right KPIs to drive your business forward. Uncover the metrics that will move your companyHarness the right KPIs to drive your business forward. Uncover the metrics that will move your company  
towards the ultimate goal for 2023 and beyond.towards the ultimate goal for 2023 and beyond.

Download guide

SponsoredSponsored

New Kia Lineup DealsNew Kia Lineup Deals || SponsoredSponsored

Seekify SearchesSeekify Searches || SponsoredSponsored

This Year's Kia Lineup Is Turning Heads -- And Finally On Sale!This Year's Kia Lineup Is Turning Heads -- And Finally On Sale!

Here is the real cost of full mouth dental implants in 2023Here is the real cost of full mouth dental implants in 2023

  

INFORMATION ONLY

https://rtb-use.mfadsrvr.com/click/GAT0pzehrfVAEtodhUV_5aIUi98gScieHQWS2kSpIY-QPeUfYhxFpsQ2VGkeBM-tfXxWpbuDO0d3TnQiEnrHb3qo7IHidKJc6NToYd5jcKt252nvepb43ng3zomVB0v0e82RzbUv3s9ipJvYPG3RhK6_kcyqZzkfsGdFAHaxvngAVUxUXTm0r9M6Jn5xID-HIHx4GgU_dMn2hMN8w1YfbqVGnI_k2aby3NorXvemkg2u81xXWJaiYf-y9ZL-vsRU6dYaKg1YOJ7Yz0BelVWDGZpHqfWUQLp_wFkpt_Mv2zpN8ZcK9kuKHR7Hmd17JlQ_QzPyZNo2JRR6u8vLVZu0cUM2j0M9zDFCM9BmSWj0Nx6hlXeXBy-2OP3KRh-lGduSNl-hoOkaGLoFLtY///
https://popup.taboola.com/en/?template=colorbox&utm_source=medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=thumbs-feed-01-b-delta:Below%20Article%20Thumbnails%20|%20Card%203:
https://www2.ultimatedoghealth.com/cid/7013w000002T1CTAA0
https://popup.taboola.com/en/?template=colorbox&utm_source=medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=thumbs-feed-01-b-delta:Below%20Article%20Thumbnails%20|%20Card%203:
https://www2.thehealthyfat.com/cid/7013w00000285MtAAI
https://popup.taboola.com/en/?template=colorbox&utm_source=medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=thumbs-feed-01-b-delta:Below%20Article%20Thumbnails%20|%20Card%203:
https://trc.taboola.com/medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress/log/3/click?pi=%2F2023%2F07%2F23%2Fcruising-before-the-woodward-dream-cruise-generates-noise-complaints&ri=8f294ccf2ccb2ea87990f12f100481c0&sd=v2_69b08e8a0c07ba41544821a42a6d8ac8_0c4855c1-2f97-49ae-97bc-5b4b439b0090-tuct99bdbc7_1690288651_1690288651_CNawjgYQ4dJXGMH9t-iYMSABKAMw4QE4kaQOQNH4DkizzdsDUPkDWABgnBBo6f-qseHv3uY4cAE&ui=0c4855c1-2f97-49ae-97bc-5b4b439b0090-tuct99bdbc7&it=photo&ii=~~V1~~-8728532301702764384~~YwdkN-MiY7xAjWB6UrX4ateFQvwtipznIvu7-bjg6R_6nH0OabNJtzzP-ddPU2nvK8Bm7FKD2NW1M1BCiW1-kuMDMqg65-jJbi04eURsbtqeHe1S9jo_X4timp5pCZhQQas41f4COFvufOf52grWNe487k0pvO_9ezrwRupEiSMB7CKWDYR-vkpxcdUUzOgEqMBBvkdfag99mRDkZdH7GZIABZnE6iw0vZgovqPMyoCY6eD5jnG1QLwcl4nkEOHw5CoWLlX1uzG9gUBqYmKqk08KJRZ9mwaEcwcGgiTaJHWsUaZak2AcDXKoRwoERbO2SJxwhdJv3jKN701ohCgWIPvdAwBc-tgcz2_jjECScpI4w8PM6vv5gTX6XQUWwWKIEkboF226WcFt2DvAQWImZ44tmD2rzONK1_R3RIefu9G8PStvlUSboi4VRRz_U2m-HZcSugnvXddoVIG3IuzwtIv7OCUzgfeu3UIf9wkoW2l3NzPcP8huAlibxzsFvsM9fe3jmgHZXC04GgECm-uojQ&pt=text&li=rbox-t2v&sig=7be2e9951aafc67069969a3206fac918b942f7ab1bff&redir=https%3A%2F%2Fwww2.ultimatedoghealth.com%2Fcid%2F7013w000002T1CTAA0%3Fsubid1%3DGiB_Itfcy4jv_VWSaTM0B13DEKdUw2vcR7eM1LksnOW51SC7mUYo5u-9xNjfh46uAQ%26utm_content%3Dsite_medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress_campaign_id_3716648628_%26tblci%3DGiB_Itfcy4jv_VWSaTM0B13DEKdUw2vcR7eM1LksnOW51SC7mUYo5u-9xNjfh46uAQ%23tblciGiB_Itfcy4jv_VWSaTM0B13DEKdUw2vcR7eM1LksnOW51SC7mUYo5u-9xNjfh46uAQ&vi=1690288651969&p=nutrathrive-sc&r=53&lti=deflated&ppb=CMAE&cpb=EhIyMDIzMDcyNS04LVJFTEVBU0UYASCc__________8BKhljaC50YWJvb2xhc3luZGljYXRpb24uY29tMgh0cmM4MDMxNTiA7uaDCUCRpA5I0fgOULPN2wNY-QNjCNA3EI1TGDBkYwjKQRDkVhgyZGMI1xYQ1R8YI2RjCJYUEJscGBhkYwjSAxDgBhgIZGMI9___________ARD3__________8BGAlkYwivRxD6YBgLZGMI_0YQ710YHWRjCPQUEJ4dGB9kYwjR__________8BENH__________wEYL2R4AYABAogBnPqm7QGQARyYAef9t-iYMQ&cta=true
https://trc.taboola.com/medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress/log/3/click?pi=%2F2023%2F07%2F23%2Fcruising-before-the-woodward-dream-cruise-generates-noise-complaints&ri=8f294ccf2ccb2ea87990f12f100481c0&sd=v2_69b08e8a0c07ba41544821a42a6d8ac8_0c4855c1-2f97-49ae-97bc-5b4b439b0090-tuct99bdbc7_1690288651_1690288651_CNawjgYQ4dJXGMH9t-iYMSABKAMw4QE4kaQOQNH4DkizzdsDUPkDWABgnBBo6f-qseHv3uY4cAE&ui=0c4855c1-2f97-49ae-97bc-5b4b439b0090-tuct99bdbc7&it=text&ii=~~V1~~-7014370232429316341~~1XfaKHwuifaE_-OaZyxKqJ9aI4wmXoudpLnKGf1Pebn6nH0OabNJtzzP-ddPU2nvK8Bm7FKD2NW1M1BCiW1-kuMDMqg65-jJbi04eURsbtqeHe1S9jo_X4timp5pCZhQQas41f4COFvufOf52grWNe487k0pvO_9ezrwRupEiSMB7CKWDYR-vkpxcdUUzOgEqMBBvkdfag99mRDkZdH7GZIABZnE6iw0vZgovqPMyoCY6eD5jnG1QLwcl4nkEOHw5CoWLlX1uzG9gUBqYmKqk08KJRZ9mwaEcwcGgiTaJHWsUaZak2AcDXKoRwoERbO2jiZaVV0tmQ1yUgw8rpSzIepSi9UqlKdd3RXu6Yvug7LSgBB2Sih7ewuiCWXTyaxkQ2A_MG7A4c8yLxxY5cwwcJmq6_7TyVF5Hr_9CzOePcy0lQkedJGFxD3NrYifcUkcHv-s5v9t5TeXtSELMolI0UbQVJT_HfFXxy9uljNImXwWd1beyG7Ut8My5D0nxL8YZou0KdIY0nQKLjJNfIedhk0vDGrsdo1gtYEVN58eQO4wEiNeParx3gJ1evIg0iA7cpDecdThX6vOyUacNnI7cw&pt=text&li=rbox-t2v&sig=fe399c8a744f500eb91afecc6ed105419d56ad10ae7a&redir=https%3A%2F%2Fwww2.thehealthyfat.com%2Fcid%2F7013w00000285MtAAI%3Fsubid1%3DGiB_Itfcy4jv_VWSaTM0B13DEKdUw2vcR7eM1LksnOW51SC620gopuK7_6qmlu5T%26utm_content%3Dsite_medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress_campaign_id_3714258240_%23tblciGiB_Itfcy4jv_VWSaTM0B13DEKdUw2vcR7eM1LksnOW51SC620gopuK7_6qmlu5T&vi=1690288651969&p=gundry-mctwellness-sc&r=72&lti=deflated&ppb=CMAE&cpb=EhIyMDIzMDcyNS04LVJFTEVBU0UYASCc__________8BKhljaC50YWJvb2xhc3luZGljYXRpb24uY29tMgh0cmM4MDMxNTiA7uaDCUCRpA5I0fgOULPN2wNY-QNjCNA3EI1TGDBkYwjKQRDkVhgyZGMI1xYQ1R8YI2RjCJYUEJscGBhkYwjSAxDgBhgIZGMI9___________ARD3__________8BGAlkYwivRxD6YBgLZGMI_0YQ710YHWRjCPQUEJ4dGB9kYwjR__________8BENH__________wEYL2R4AYABAogBnPqm7QGQARyYAef9t-iYMQ&cta=true
https://rtb-use.mfadsrvr.com/click/ZxcYAtevThN3TP_3ulJAhIvhjfsF1eL-E16C-2eU5Y7c0Gw9_H6n8qxLQxG7VT3K8Vvzz0U9DVaw23sDuiAuvu_xuVHBl-aDXoMGw-ejs4VtZ2r5Zlo_8baasAjTAIfLnKaJLP0l4VcpGLiw7-aVtr2CGZKerF1W6QDrVOSH9aJh9nG83VQIkSM5h-Icu4EvbwlONATCzZvSVYLKyWKerKsV1Vd34Hax04vwjgLFNGFrJFmaooVlMo7mCf7XXoHE0nGtTJIPe1dmkWQ8r8G9TdfE7kELskWH3yUVRHMX-0WrRb8_9MSYMcYuxiM3i7jlKGL_DY2UaSShKeadBWy_MZOVXXErdK8tPBMWbcuuWgpF8i982GUAlCTQCJslGgSRcquS81zH0fJqOLs///
https://popup.taboola.com/en/?template=colorbox&utm_source=medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=thumbs-feed-01-a-delta:Below%20Article%20Thumbnails%20|%20Card%204:
https://popup.taboola.com/en/?template=colorbox&utm_source=medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=thumbs-feed-01-a-delta:Below%20Article%20Thumbnails%20|%20Card%204:
https://trc.taboola.com/medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress/log/3/click?pi=%2F2023%2F07%2F23%2Fcruising-before-the-woodward-dream-cruise-generates-noise-complaints&ri=e71d73ae57fb15fae9f26eb0b1342646&sd=v2_69b08e8a0c07ba41544821a42a6d8ac8_0c4855c1-2f97-49ae-97bc-5b4b439b0090-tuct99bdbc7_1690288651_1690288651_CNawjgYQ4dJXGMH9t-iYMSABKAMw4QE4kaQOQNH4DkizzdsDUPkDWABgnBBo6f-qseHv3uY4cAE&ui=0c4855c1-2f97-49ae-97bc-5b4b439b0090-tuct99bdbc7&it=text&ii=~~V1~~-8390699575912507155~~37ShUYNTGmdYStTvSkCBS8bvmnEhbfMTlSkodysetGz6nH0OabNJtzzP-ddPU2nvK8Bm7FKD2NW1M1BCiW1-kuMDMqg65-jJbi04eURsbtqeHe1S9jo_X4timp5pCZhQ1qPnz8TIp56FGMwGW1REdGP6mCOrMydSrc5toiHgFWAp-3Jybkbg7ntaoS2VbkfQGUkHQ3_G_JxGjhw9TrdPb_HE79lMnEshhClK6-ItHTlNH3EBEsSbolrdhJgUTJ0SUnfDueH3AwhvTfauyFTuVnIBhMVuagGFjnMgWNrlFALu73ETmnfNFJzU3BmMA-FGrSKCvTMNihR0Kv3XR8PzKKvuvMET7zjtHu_AE_2i5FZBGS43MTwq4peCyxxt_ISD287MXzNJP9_7IhpvnN7mnYEVqR4QGLAdz96TmZnNVDBcoDoz96ph9CkxXEsLEJ0zHRs3TVVlT3qG4mkmptH7Co2kKMgs3xmupPIykiajL-pUc-yy5dIsfNpo7ghXcqdFnCe3L9upv_GP6CiP7MN2Y85_eI_VejWYJIOHORHByV_f42ZoFpiBxUjbwtwNFZ0e2uGi-G54tyyfqww3RBS5_LX_JafDE6o0860JloISm3es7Ucon-Uu9kbMzuK0EJQo-O9mo1GUlc2Ln8BKOO4rCHIeybKcs2YDSEpS9vWZ1YkI8cOdT4Ou64UYoFcUAOFOc-3K-m60XN4Xt1I7z0kVeKa5EJGj96Je89cOTYHOURA0Ggmk8k3H6ON__d0wQsfV3KX75MClypN4nOCyGISrwTX8Hf5h_UH792sDm7p53GYeTqwEP8OTtdrRIh4MDvHieeBGx9IMcUc4VJrvk2Fg91c4sGjTDSKe6Iy48QRM_c1miA3gJgS2zN1pDbjooSieaDureXuunU3d-hGqD7ovWGP3kREhQB49QySNdWP_ShACNUhxwVcgJA4Av3gh42A9rXy6KEI-4vz3F-87vUX4-HWn7DWtbu88JN5WRcj0v-5IZTP6EZoeyZZo4fYZ4CL4BIK-E9nzMDlzfpQLEj5ksh_J59fQWOt59c924IoV6e_OmVAADv5oUHpVRcm-oqDJQF450hLrXgNwTU3TlDzAoWP7HN5y-EOBydqEgSTkf5FThZblXsLQArNXKXseTThgv-rIWV4k7ni6MmQw7XjmaqtaBl57hMjhijVldvK6AqJfR1nfjsElz56IEQ3LvzKFwzx_R0G4ek3j_NGBTMsXB9QYFJMA0thIppE64_LTDSSGJAjWse__HEa3JNhJ5jlVe8LuEXvTD5qWgkhkKDX4INo9GxENYbtBkHvcC5nIlW_anU_N_F-OFOycwxenYdvIT8LMmPFjbj6EJwpFmtv8VoKQFh79LxpHe0vNZ3fU1SHH7R1UlFV03XIFv1xDlbIc8JFuYy7JzZ2ompwMFjwPF7qtfNB9PSjDBlig62vbwfc&pt=text&li=rbox-t2v&sig=04c669a170357a2d66a0452c130d4f0896a816f30ba3&redir=https%3A%2F%2Frtb-use.mfadsrvr.com%2Fclick%2FZxcYAtevThN3TP_3ulJAhIvhjfsF1eL-E16C-2eU5Y7c0Gw9_H6n8qxLQxG7VT3K8Vvzz0U9DVaw23sDuiAuvu_xuVHBl-aDXoMGw-ejs4VtZ2r5Zlo_8baasAjTAIfLnKaJLP0l4VcpGLiw7-aVtr2CGZKerF1W6QDrVOSH9aJh9nG83VQIkSM5h-Icu4EvbwlONATCzZvSVYLKyWKerKsV1Vd34Hax04vwjgLFNGFrJFmaooVlMo7mCf7XXoHE0nGtTJIPe1dmkWQ8r8G9TdfE7kELskWH3yUVRHMX-0WrRb8_9MSYMcYuxiM3i7jlKGL_DY2UaSShKeadBWy_MZOVXXErdK8tPBMWbcuuWgpF8i982GUAlCTQCJslGgSRcquS81zH0fJqOLs%2F%2F%2F%3Flp_domain%3Dbest5autoinsurance.com%26utm_source%3Dtaboola%26utm_medium%3Dreferral%26tblci%3DGiB_Itfcy4jv_VWSaTM0B13DEKdUw2vcR7eM1LksnOW51SDV6EUo-J23sdKayPPBAQ%23tblciGiB_Itfcy4jv_VWSaTM0B13DEKdUw2vcR7eM1LksnOW51SDV6EUo-J23sdKayPPBAQ&vi=1690288651969&p=mediaforcebidder-global&r=82&lti=deflated&ppb=CIkE&cpb=EhIyMDIzMDcyNS04LVJFTEVBU0UYASCc__________8BKhljaC50YWJvb2xhc3luZGljYXRpb24uY29tMgh0cmM4MDMxNTiA7uaDCUCRpA5I0fgOULPN2wNY-QNjCNA3EI1TGDBkYwjKQRDkVhgyZGMI1xYQ1R8YI2RjCJYUEJscGBhkYwjSAxDgBhgIZGMI9___________ARD3__________8BGAlkYwivRxD6YBgLZGMI_0YQ710YHWRjCPQUEJ4dGB9kYwjR__________8BENH__________wEYL2R4AYABAogBnPqm7QGQARyYAef9t-iYMQ&cta=true
https://trc.taboola.com/medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress/log/3/click?pi=%2F2023%2F07%2F23%2Fcruising-before-the-woodward-dream-cruise-generates-noise-complaints&ri=e71d73ae57fb15fae9f26eb0b1342646&sd=v2_69b08e8a0c07ba41544821a42a6d8ac8_0c4855c1-2f97-49ae-97bc-5b4b439b0090-tuct99bdbc7_1690288651_1690288651_CNawjgYQ4dJXGMH9t-iYMSABKAMw4QE4kaQOQNH4DkizzdsDUPkDWABgnBBo6f-qseHv3uY4cAE&ui=0c4855c1-2f97-49ae-97bc-5b4b439b0090-tuct99bdbc7&it=text&ii=~~V1~~1021206506386028938~~22JMQIL2Jzq4B353nd8DltmXbrst-pn0-pgZtZHd9mH6nH0OabNJtzzP-ddPU2nvK8Bm7FKD2NW1M1BCiW1-kuMDMqg65-jJbi04eURsbtqeHe1S9jo_X4timp5pCZhQ1qPnz8TIp56FGMwGW1REdGP6mCOrMydSrc5toiHgFWAp-3Jybkbg7ntaoS2VbkfQGUkHQ3_G_JxGjhw9TrdPb_HE79lMnEshhClK6-ItHTlNH3EBEsSbolrdhJgUTJ0SUnfDueH3AwhvTfauyFTuVnIBhMVuagGFjnMgWNrlFALu73ETmnfNFJzU3BmMA-FGrSKCvTMNihR0Kv3XR8PzKKvuvMET7zjtHu_AE_2i5FZBGS43MTwq4peCyxxt_ISDyFhhqso9ghX1lDJs1zOryXCLyVJ3wMsw5yP7xdc2XJXHG5biiaTvTzErgiNgnuj22qYj_TPYsIlPdvT66F8a59kTjRoB52GsM-DwV_Zjl5GYWUaiSkFXkbJNiG5ffyW3ezz6qvqroHzE_AK0W05hZViHMyWgBvRdoPKPzMc_H13NsGky8R7kENrYUIXcoBl9yaXHYagrZ6oI_ePM6Kxh36qhDUc9A7dP-BnkE3eFnsE&pt=text&li=rbox-t2v&sig=f9f8c9d8542d87fb910c173d995b0d58b43a8b5568e8&redir=https%3A%2F%2Fgoogleads.g.doubleclick.net%2Fdbm%2Fclk%3Fsa%3DL%26ai%3DChBQIDMK_ZKTtDPPQgrAPp5CxsAi7uNnscezyjIHrEdyJureqOBABIKHHp0lgyeatiZCk6A-gAevvs6IoyAEGqAMBqgT8AU_QnkUS6-kOPmJ-eFVLC5FMpdeFMhhBwjwYcfPi7wgoTYrLk2O2AAbLB1rU0wzPoqSIbXn_MVQ6NfvIPlJEXOj91xZ5ymJKuhCC622Etue3xR25QMSMrIdwtAvRZwPkiDmzaiaKljcAqsqorc7Xi9cZGtGCXtBIFtFLgkGl01-oYBr68VuMuxsga62FkL536DpfeuGxpv5--_IJQuy8sNuN4wZpT7UrQ5i1WKPtFhyI5loiyAGAAQS685_79Z2mto1WI4MTYo3StmF72-dTecEnarzc0CTFnx0SxhWC54VsfpGfnXSk_UoAJC2vF2YzteervCpwFBW7k8t168AE1OD_9aUE4AQDkAYBoAY3gAfrp4SCA6gHjs4bqAeT2BuoB-6WsQKoB_6esQKoB6SjsQKoB9XJG6gHpr4bqAfz0RuoB5bYG6gHqpuxAqgHg62xAqgH_56xAqgH35-xAtgHAdIIFAiAYRABGF0yAooCOgKAQEi9_cE68ggQYmlkZGVyLTQzMTEwNzg5M7EJHZbAtnqcRqiACgSYCwHICwGiDAgqBgoEw7CxArATjNaKFNATANgTDdgUAdAVAfgWAYAXAQ%26num%3D1%26cid%3DCAQSKQBpAlJWvwVd6qeLhuKErnTXYgetL1UEEVP8vscmUutcydDmWysejt8RGAE%26sig%3DAOD64_3VmxpixujG7S5eSEr6Ul1S7ml1NQ%26client%3Dca-pub-7398773146227056%26dbm_c%3DAKAmf-Cg8fPKgsnd-wrbDwb9_xwYZFl6Fl_kGYSbcl5cIq0GHEMrAwO5ZqH8AGRC5ArGjFRqhKUxaOOGIE3-sxDm91yHc0EIdQ%26dbm_d%3DAKAmf-D7b-Crb1LY4Ut93-WwBCCQOw3XqUbgUzVZ5QGtemXGXvWcRc_CAZwptLXT8imEebq3jQUx6DvzGD344fsEpvyYKNinGT_ks3VhP7-RzSGfPPF-H7O5M6Og_EBBaGnYJsf6Knv88KR0I-NVBsZCBxqMKUxTt8TxI6wgAIkcAAY-AYO_C5e0Ra9GAMVbldImmcmpk0TvCyExu8xbs30XsmYbDEjY2eKWw5hM--l-HIO8_8HhFJ3cnJ02IOVPBR1aqPubeNsWMwGS3ghG_KGzmMF4w3ssAibKDblulpmUfxMo_elEO0gd9mA7EfS-4R4rSqM_ECgwDesNIAi52v0h-sbQkr51qNKRmmAr8DcfG8wLaG8f3kn5Uwfn5zyBvijbrN1xQ5zvOrDqGao5JV-2z4wterpkSOnAsZQaC5iuaar8ym0SNqErqTLSbNqFulj-nftR6EAR%26dc_exteid%3D31180322180101217837582665281426943%26dc_pubid%3D4%26adurl%3Dhttps%3A%2F%2F6262239.extforms.netsuite.com%2Fapp%2Fsite%2Fcrm%2Fexternalleadpage.nl%2Fcompid.6262239%2F.f%3Fformid%3D2586%26h%3DAAFdikaI_pxA4FX4XSMWtxusBkAo5iQNyYHlnuMQtO3ppQ0LCgE%26leadsource%3DOnline_DV_Dis_NOAM_PRSP_Taboola3PD_DT_BG_KPIChecklist_0423%26cid%3DOnline_DV_Dis_NOAM_PRSP_Taboola3PD_DT_BG_KPIChecklist_0423%26utm_source%3Dtaboola%26utm_medium%3Dreferral%26tblci%3DGiB_Itfcy4jv_VWSaTM0B13DEKdUw2vcR7eM1LksnOW51SCnyFgoy-CvirbU96ki%23tblciGiB_Itfcy4jv_VWSaTM0B13DEKdUw2vcR7eM1LksnOW51SCnyFgoy-CvirbU96ki&vi=1690288651969&p=google-dv360-616362707-netsuite&r=51&lti=deflated&ppb=CIkE&cpb=EhIyMDIzMDcyNS04LVJFTEVBU0UYASCc__________8BKhljaC50YWJvb2xhc3luZGljYXRpb24uY29tMgh0cmM4MDMxNTiA7uaDCUCRpA5I0fgOULPN2wNY-QNjCNA3EI1TGDBkYwjKQRDkVhgyZGMI1xYQ1R8YI2RjCJYUEJscGBhkYwjSAxDgBhgIZGMI9___________ARD3__________8BGAlkYwivRxD6YBgLZGMI_0YQ710YHWRjCPQUEJ4dGB9kYwjR__________8BENH__________wEYL2R4AYABAogBnPqm7QGQARyYAef9t-iYMQ&cta=true
https://popup.taboola.com/en
https://searchfavorites.net/index.php
https://popup.taboola.com/en/?template=colorbox&utm_source=medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=thumbs-feed-01-b-delta:Below%20Article%20Thumbnails%20|%20Card%205:
https://seekify.net/index.php
https://popup.taboola.com/en/?template=colorbox&utm_source=medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=thumbs-feed-01-b-delta:Below%20Article%20Thumbnails%20|%20Card%205:


7/25/23, 8:45 AM Cruising before the Woodward Dream Cruise generates noise complaints – The Oakland Press

https://www.theoaklandpress.com/2023/07/23/cruising-before-the-woodward-dream-cruise-generates-noise-complaints/?utm_email=742A54… 5/6

Alaskan Cruise DealsAlaskan Cruise Deals || SponsoredSponsored

Unsold Alaska Cruise Cabins Are Almost Being Given Away (Take A Look)Unsold Alaska Cruise Cabins Are Almost Being Given Away (Take A Look)

The Oakland PressThe Oakland Press

The Oakland PressThe Oakland Press

Arraignment held for assault outside Target store in Troy; accused is also suspected inArraignment held for assault outside Target store in Troy; accused is also suspected in
Detroit woman’s slayingDetroit woman’s slaying

Man accused of planning to have family members killed so he could get a largerMan accused of planning to have family members killed so he could get a larger
inheritanceinheritance

Senior Discounts By National PennySenior Discounts By National Penny || SponsoredSponsored

Best Hyundai Deals | Search AdsBest Hyundai Deals | Search Ads || SponsoredSponsored

Vice GolfVice Golf || SponsoredSponsored

Here Are 7 Legal Discounts Seniors Get Only If They AskHere Are 7 Legal Discounts Seniors Get Only If They Ask
Great list of discounts and benefits for seniors in 2023.Great list of discounts and benefits for seniors in 2023.

Learn More

The New Hyundai Ioniq Is A Jaw DropperThe New Hyundai Ioniq Is A Jaw Dropper
The Remarkable New Hyundai Ioniq Is Here.The Remarkable New Hyundai Ioniq Is Here.

Learn More

Pros Agree: These Wallet Friendly Golf Balls are the Future Pros Agree: These Wallet Friendly Golf Balls are the Future 

Top Answers TodayTop Answers Today || SponsoredSponsored

CD Rates SeniorsCD Rates Seniors || SponsoredSponsored

Michigan Banks Can't Stand When You Open This Online 12% Interest AccountMichigan Banks Can't Stand When You Open This Online 12% Interest Account
Learn More

The Highest Return CD Rates With No Penalties For SeniorsThe Highest Return CD Rates With No Penalties For Seniors
Search Now

The Oakland PressThe Oakland Press

The Oakland PressThe Oakland Press

Former real estate investor sentenced for multi-million dollar fraud scheme Former real estate investor sentenced for multi-million dollar fraud scheme 

Dream home: Newly built Birmingham luxury home features a rooftop balconyDream home: Newly built Birmingham luxury home features a rooftop balcony

Chuck Norris: This 2 Minute Routine Transformed My HealthChuck Norris: This 2 Minute Routine Transformed My Health
Action Star Chuck Norris reveals his keys to getting more energy later on in life.Action Star Chuck Norris reveals his keys to getting more energy later on in life.

INFORMATION ONLY

https://seekify.net/index.php
https://favoritesearches.com/index.php
https://popup.taboola.com/en/?template=colorbox&utm_source=medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=thumbs-feed-01-b-delta:Below%20Article%20Thumbnails%20|%20Card%205:
https://www.theoaklandpress.com/2023/07/12/arraignment-held-for-assault-outside-target-store-in-troy-accused-is-also-suspected-in-detroit-womans-slaying/
https://www.theoaklandpress.com/2023/07/10/man-accused-of-planning-to-have-family-members-killed-so-he-could-get-a-larger-inheritance/
https://track.nationalpenny.com/abcfa9ac-a17a-4b61-ac00-ac8fec109a73
https://popup.taboola.com/en/?template=colorbox&utm_source=medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=thumbs-feed-01-b-delta:Below%20Article%20Thumbnails%20|%20Card%207:
https://favoritesearches.com/index.php
https://popup.taboola.com/en/?template=colorbox&utm_source=medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=thumbs-feed-01-b-delta:Below%20Article%20Thumbnails%20|%20Card%207:
https://safesly.com/63ffdf45-f305-4b6c-8d03-2a3324e16664
https://popup.taboola.com/en/?template=colorbox&utm_source=medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=thumbs-feed-01-b-delta:Below%20Article%20Thumbnails%20|%20Card%207:
https://trc.taboola.com/medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress/log/3/click?pi=%2F2023%2F07%2F23%2Fcruising-before-the-woodward-dream-cruise-generates-noise-complaints&ri=684166a3fb133a8d7b62dd1d2b3ce01b&sd=v2_69b08e8a0c07ba41544821a42a6d8ac8_0c4855c1-2f97-49ae-97bc-5b4b439b0090-tuct99bdbc7_1690288651_1690288651_CNawjgYQ4dJXGMH9t-iYMSABKAMw4QE4kaQOQNH4DkizzdsDUPkDWABgnBBo6f-qseHv3uY4cAE&ui=0c4855c1-2f97-49ae-97bc-5b4b439b0090-tuct99bdbc7&it=text&ii=~~V1~~4146606587921680314~~yUhFk7G0Tr86B_hShcPWzOs4Y2NjeK4RguT94UxhQ1n6nH0OabNJtzzP-ddPU2nvK8Bm7FKD2NW1M1BCiW1-kuMDMqg65-jJbi04eURsbtqeHe1S9jo_X4timp5pCZhQ1qPnz8TIp56FGMwGW1REdMR_Dxo0Ohv2jfT0MsmUNRz9un8HUUzTzP2yB4DQSXau9KdR8VNtM552-tvRTMJtPE6azPABNYXRtDOuhwI_PQbS3ODar0I_iDSF_ja7FaMM62xZLvkox88CWWhzly-fIkvs78qHoY0LWPwQA0uxvQJ-TX1L0ClmoS54XxZBXoT6ld1ItOnRzNO9CTRD2Bc4smLV2YEH-eoySVCotKoGFqLVC8V_4qqv8fzI7ibjf__EfZEgdGugr63D48c9zgVK0iyafN3CSC5l9qseQOsVRzhPEff0eMgqAQJGufmzhgmaDHS5xVj7VA74cVYldvAu2LDfgkKCupN40h2IDzCW1MjoOn16_50uHMXTO1BSGTL6BKX0_4qJZB-GFZTSSFNPiQlQv3VEE4zT9p-OkB_DmSJkPzGZua9LoC9OQESunR6qS94B7CeF6RsvVeDYQQtjRQ&pt=text&li=rbox-t2v&sig=9c22acbc01e63b840e288fd9af928f79a357f73e2ef5&redir=https%3A%2F%2Ftrack.nationalpenny.com%2Fabcfa9ac-a17a-4b61-ac00-ac8fec109a73%3Fsite%3Dmedianewsgroup-theoaklandpress%26site_id%3D1436001%26title%3DHere%2BAre%2B7%2BLegal%2BDiscounts%2BSeniors%2BGet%2BOnly%2BIf%2BThey%2BAsk%26platform%3DDesktop%26campaign_id%3D24287714%26campaign_item_id%3D3677550491%26thumbnail%3Dhttp%253A%252F%252Fcdn.taboola.com%252Flibtrc%252Fstatic%252Fthumbnails%252F9a4d3b9802cdf4ad0c8e88bd5af07b71.jpeg%26click_id%3DGiB_Itfcy4jv_VWSaTM0B13DEKdUw2vcR7eM1LksnOW51SCLkkooopSp7eqHg-ugAQ%26utm_source%3Dtaboola%26utm_medium%3Dreferral%26tblci%3DGiB_Itfcy4jv_VWSaTM0B13DEKdUw2vcR7eM1LksnOW51SCLkkooopSp7eqHg-ugAQ%23tblciGiB_Itfcy4jv_VWSaTM0B13DEKdUw2vcR7eM1LksnOW51SCLkkooopSp7eqHg-ugAQ&vi=1690288651969&p=ghostmedia-seniorlisticle-sc&r=56&lti=deflated&ppb=CN0C&cpb=EhIyMDIzMDcyNS04LVJFTEVBU0UYASCc__________8BKhljaC50YWJvb2xhc3luZGljYXRpb24uY29tMgh0cmM4MDMxNTiA7uaDCUCRpA5I0fgOULPN2wNY-QNjCNA3EI1TGDBkYwjKQRDkVhgyZGMI1xYQ1R8YI2RjCJYUEJscGBhkYwjSAxDgBhgIZGMI9___________ARD3__________8BGAlkYwivRxD6YBgLZGMI_0YQ710YHWRjCPQUEJ4dGB9kYwjR__________8BENH__________wEYL2R4AYABAogBnPqm7QGQARyYAef9t-iYMQ&cta=true
https://trc.taboola.com/medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress/log/3/click?pi=%2F2023%2F07%2F23%2Fcruising-before-the-woodward-dream-cruise-generates-noise-complaints&ri=684166a3fb133a8d7b62dd1d2b3ce01b&sd=v2_69b08e8a0c07ba41544821a42a6d8ac8_0c4855c1-2f97-49ae-97bc-5b4b439b0090-tuct99bdbc7_1690288651_1690288651_CNawjgYQ4dJXGMH9t-iYMSABKAMw4QE4kaQOQNH4DkizzdsDUPkDWABgnBBo6f-qseHv3uY4cAE&ui=0c4855c1-2f97-49ae-97bc-5b4b439b0090-tuct99bdbc7&it=text&ii=~~V1~~-5960079576281184638~~gtjJLwL_m71wjZRgEfCe-qLfjp6Z_2fZUMDOA9LCoEX6nH0OabNJtzzP-ddPU2nvK8Bm7FKD2NW1M1BCiW1-kuMDMqg65-jJbi04eURsbtqeHe1S9jo_X4timp5pCZhQQas41f4COFvufOf52grWNe487k0pvO_9ezrwRupEiSMB7CKWDYR-vkpxcdUUzOgEqMBBvkdfag99mRDkZdH7GZIABZnE6iw0vZgovqPMyoCY6eD5jnG1QLwcl4nkEOHw5CoWLlX1uzG9gUBqYmKqk08KJRZ9mwaEcwcGgiTaJHWsUaZak2AcDXKoRwoERbO2jiZaVV0tmQ1yUgw8rpSzIVM6ScdzwPU2amAtYGKeWE7lMpwO0fn9ioET4f2-t2m3Typ9Mm1gddZFtXzY_wJjVyyafN3CSC5l9qseQOsVRzhBNd-WuIgomHyZPj7issygTZL5xFUAg8poGpdbHABvqFi62Deey5f6bhGONvqnLgQ8M0KvLoNSn_xqiOxMypbpyW2HvU39vNFL-aPAGt7JATxfiCW3vztXxV1HIyicHN-LqFOHtaajGjm-1ZIRH1P-&pt=text&li=rbox-t2v&sig=2e50f02b1abcc78a84ff19325b92cfcae2eb3898d7ac&redir=https%3A%2F%2Ffavoritesearches.com%2Findex.php%3Frgid%3D532027%26gclid%3DGiB_Itfcy4jv_VWSaTM0B13DEKdUw2vcR7eM1LksnOW51SDu5Fgo7-S_7ena1-0W%23tblciGiB_Itfcy4jv_VWSaTM0B13DEKdUw2vcR7eM1LksnOW51SDu5Fgo7-S_7ena1-0W&vi=1690288651969&p=nimble5-favoritesearchestbpflorida724babyproducts-sc&lti=deflated&ppb=CN0C&cpb=EhIyMDIzMDcyNS04LVJFTEVBU0UYASCc__________8BKhljaC50YWJvb2xhc3luZGljYXRpb24uY29tMgh0cmM4MDMxNTiA7uaDCUCRpA5I0fgOULPN2wNY-QNjCNA3EI1TGDBkYwjKQRDkVhgyZGMI1xYQ1R8YI2RjCJYUEJscGBhkYwjSAxDgBhgIZGMI9___________ARD3__________8BGAlkYwivRxD6YBgLZGMI_0YQ710YHWRjCPQUEJ4dGB9kYwjR__________8BENH__________wEYL2R4AYABAogBnPqm7QGQARyYAef9t-iYMQ&cta=true
https://topanswerstoday.com/can-you-earn-more-than-6-on-a-savings-account
https://popup.taboola.com/en/?template=colorbox&utm_source=medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=thumbs-feed-01-a-delta:Below%20Article%20Thumbnails%20|%20Card%208:
https://searchtopics.net/index.php
https://popup.taboola.com/en/?template=colorbox&utm_source=medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=thumbs-feed-01-a-delta:Below%20Article%20Thumbnails%20|%20Card%208:
https://trc.taboola.com/medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress/log/3/click?pi=%2F2023%2F07%2F23%2Fcruising-before-the-woodward-dream-cruise-generates-noise-complaints&ri=4a16e2cb2698b24f0e88cff1fa6c4828&sd=v2_69b08e8a0c07ba41544821a42a6d8ac8_0c4855c1-2f97-49ae-97bc-5b4b439b0090-tuct99bdbc7_1690288651_1690288651_CNawjgYQ4dJXGMH9t-iYMSABKAMw4QE4kaQOQNH4DkizzdsDUPkDWABgnBBo6f-qseHv3uY4cAE&ui=0c4855c1-2f97-49ae-97bc-5b4b439b0090-tuct99bdbc7&it=text&ii=~~V1~~2081942203415367938~~2c9PCT2C32iu5IVdKpB-NJw-y8urqsKChGNelRsqSTH6nH0OabNJtzzP-ddPU2nvK8Bm7FKD2NW1M1BCiW1-kuMDMqg65-jJbi04eURsbtqeHe1S9jo_X4timp5pCZhQQas41f4COFvufOf52grWNe487k0pvO_9ezrwRupEiSMB7CKWDYR-vkpxcdUUzOgEqMBBvkdfag99mRDkZdH7GZIABZnE6iw0vZgovqPMyoCY6eD5jnG1QLwcl4nkEOHw5CoWLlX1uzG9gUBqYmKqk08KJRZ9mwaEcwcGgiTaJHWsUaZak2AcDXKoRwoERbO2SJxwhdJv3jKN701ohCgWIPvdAwBc-tgcz2_jjECScpI4w8PM6vv5gTX6XQUWwWKIP5ZnGm2FEG-o7XA_myzMAGet9gvNEh33EirbjDQZDtO1ZC1b8tvO5Hy2urXusbC0emOZ4ian79ul1Wi9ZAeRUjwBwbVzqx5qDQAj-sfT0Dk6R8vjkFbdSSE8xt4cMJ4w&pt=text&li=rbox-t2v&sig=b164041190d93816caceb9c4b56926b670ee30a3951c&redir=https%3A%2F%2Ftopanswerstoday.com%2Fcan-you-earn-more-than-6-on-a-savings-account%3Futm_source%3Dtaboola%26campaign_id%3D26220108%26publisher_name%3Dmedianewsgroup-theoaklandpress%26publisher_id%3D1436001%26ad_id%3D3711117363%26tbclid%3DGiB_Itfcy4jv_VWSaTM0B13DEKdUw2vcR7eM1LksnOW51SCOyV4omu_h6Ma11qpB%26bid%3D5gwGdAkU5lCrtDJprjDJP97GNkJAZ8e3bwsg0g8_a5E%3D%26aclid%3D64ae9b873f15965bb386245a%26tblci%3DGiB_Itfcy4jv_VWSaTM0B13DEKdUw2vcR7eM1LksnOW51SCOyV4omu_h6Ma11qpB%23tblciGiB_Itfcy4jv_VWSaTM0B13DEKdUw2vcR7eM1LksnOW51SCOyV4omu_h6Ma11qpB&vi=1690288651969&p=peakventuresgroup-afs-2-sc&r=6&lti=deflated&ppb=CKsE&cpb=EhIyMDIzMDcyNS04LVJFTEVBU0UYASCc__________8BKhljaC50YWJvb2xhc3luZGljYXRpb24uY29tMgh0cmM4MDMxNTiA7uaDCUCRpA5I0fgOULPN2wNY-QNjCNA3EI1TGDBkYwjKQRDkVhgyZGMI1xYQ1R8YI2RjCJYUEJscGBhkYwjSAxDgBhgIZGMI9___________ARD3__________8BGAlkYwivRxD6YBgLZGMI_0YQ710YHWRjCPQUEJ4dGB9kYwjR__________8BENH__________wEYL2R4AYABAogBnPqm7QGQARyYAef9t-iYMQ&cta=true
https://trc.taboola.com/medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress/log/3/click?pi=%2F2023%2F07%2F23%2Fcruising-before-the-woodward-dream-cruise-generates-noise-complaints&ri=4a16e2cb2698b24f0e88cff1fa6c4828&sd=v2_69b08e8a0c07ba41544821a42a6d8ac8_0c4855c1-2f97-49ae-97bc-5b4b439b0090-tuct99bdbc7_1690288651_1690288651_CNawjgYQ4dJXGMH9t-iYMSABKAMw4QE4kaQOQNH4DkizzdsDUPkDWABgnBBo6f-qseHv3uY4cAE&ui=0c4855c1-2f97-49ae-97bc-5b4b439b0090-tuct99bdbc7&it=text&ii=~~V1~~7527679646758990681~~1oMto0MfiHAQOklGf13I1QUYiAtamDDLFCY6v7W3Fmr6nH0OabNJtzzP-ddPU2nvK8Bm7FKD2NW1M1BCiW1-kuMDMqg65-jJbi04eURsbtqeHe1S9jo_X4timp5pCZhQW0OKu3VbaFI1uOBK2OWbXOhlo6TqWritVMGNgX6wrCus8nkvilqDooLAe1HKDwTL8eF7DlpaKqURSZ8EWZlZVwTfYGrgdt89DcQmKRCk85H2fjxRl8kko-htcJLMmzeokL7iGWlzm6lHsottHq7aGKztmEgfwuzs6rMBgnUMeiYuVguSiF4uU_Owid1Lk8lw-8QB7hD-RSAXk0xZfnjgcXdddkQtCuRMRAAjBtDz7YCbEdDoz3kuh7J2D6hgBlQoCx2UdVUk-7kN3OAXedlU_F8N2A9AnY7IvmETRKiKXn7fUk467knX9zW487mqG29H3LzC3rPZAhWkOGz7RcDUQ6V5Xu8_RvokGm5aqZA-ygvjv0bNnp6pOqc_l4h84-EoAHwxDkPBKvC6MFrH1rJZRg&pt=text&li=rbox-t2v&sig=09d80d5f60be6b21eb72436245946c662048907c2cbc&redir=https%3A%2F%2Fsearchtopics.net%2Findex.php%3Frgid%3D432095%26gclid%3DGiB_Itfcy4jv_VWSaTM0B13DEKdUw2vcR7eM1LksnOW51SCMt1ko07yN28mfgZ6yAQ%23tblciGiB_Itfcy4jv_VWSaTM0B13DEKdUw2vcR7eM1LksnOW51SCMt1ko07yN28mfgZ6yAQ&vi=1690288651969&p=nimble5-searchtopicstbspierce746senioroffers-sc&r=34&lti=deflated&ppb=CKsE&cpb=EhIyMDIzMDcyNS04LVJFTEVBU0UYASCc__________8BKhljaC50YWJvb2xhc3luZGljYXRpb24uY29tMgh0cmM4MDMxNTiA7uaDCUCRpA5I0fgOULPN2wNY-QNjCNA3EI1TGDBkYwjKQRDkVhgyZGMI1xYQ1R8YI2RjCJYUEJscGBhkYwjSAxDgBhgIZGMI9___________ARD3__________8BGAlkYwivRxD6YBgLZGMI_0YQ710YHWRjCPQUEJ4dGB9kYwjR__________8BENH__________wEYL2R4AYABAogBnPqm7QGQARyYAef9t-iYMQ&cta=true
https://www.theoaklandpress.com/2023/07/24/former-real-estate-investor-sentenced-for-multi-million-dollar-fraud-scheme/
https://www.theoaklandpress.com/2023/07/24/dream-home-newly-built-birmingham-home-near-downtown-features-a-rooftop-balcony/
https://www2.americareadysupply.com/cid/7013w00000287xDAAQ


7/25/23, 8:45 AM Cruising before the Woodward Dream Cruise generates noise complaints – The Oakland Press

https://www.theoaklandpress.com/2023/07/23/cruising-before-the-woodward-dream-cruise-generates-noise-complaints/?utm_email=742A54… 6/6

Roundhouse ProvisionsRoundhouse Provisions || SponsoredSponsored

StuffAnsweredStuffAnswered || SponsoredSponsored

YourPennySaverYourPennySaver || SponsoredSponsored

Learn More

7.5% High Yield CD. Find The Highest CD Interest Rates7.5% High Yield CD. Find The Highest CD Interest Rates
Learn More

Seniors Birthed Before 1969 Now Allowed To These 24 Bill Deductions Through July (Full List Here)Seniors Birthed Before 1969 Now Allowed To These 24 Bill Deductions Through July (Full List Here)
See the top 24 ways Seniors over 55 can supplement their  monthly income starting in July.See the top 24 ways Seniors over 55 can supplement their  monthly income starting in July.

Click Here

INFORMATION ONLY

https://www2.americareadysupply.com/cid/7013w00000287xDAAQ
https://popup.taboola.com/en/?template=colorbox&utm_source=medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=thumbs-feed-01-b-delta:Below%20Article%20Thumbnails%20|%20Card%2010:
https://stuffanswered.com/results/
https://popup.taboola.com/en/?template=colorbox&utm_source=medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=thumbs-feed-01-b-delta:Below%20Article%20Thumbnails%20|%20Card%2010:
https://comation-visonging.com/74cee732-f8f2-4bcc-bf33-550054ab3c33
https://popup.taboola.com/en/?template=colorbox&utm_source=medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=thumbs-feed-01-b-delta:Below%20Article%20Thumbnails%20|%20Card%2010:
https://trc.taboola.com/medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress/log/3/click?pi=%2F2023%2F07%2F23%2Fcruising-before-the-woodward-dream-cruise-generates-noise-complaints&ri=9a24078db011b2d55e8f644264439b86&sd=v2_69b08e8a0c07ba41544821a42a6d8ac8_0c4855c1-2f97-49ae-97bc-5b4b439b0090-tuct99bdbc7_1690288651_1690288651_CNawjgYQ4dJXGMH9t-iYMSABKAMw4QE4kaQOQNH4DkizzdsDUPkDWABgnBBo6f-qseHv3uY4cAE&ui=0c4855c1-2f97-49ae-97bc-5b4b439b0090-tuct99bdbc7&it=text&ii=~~V1~~-7683720592972791876~~0NgO_b1V1gaYYzNC5dXLyCTeP9N3J6n9wChCoNkHuQf6nH0OabNJtzzP-ddPU2nvK8Bm7FKD2NW1M1BCiW1-kuMDMqg65-jJbi04eURsbtqeHe1S9jo_X4timp5pCZhQQas41f4COFvufOf52grWNe487k0pvO_9ezrwRupEiSMB7CKWDYR-vkpxcdUUzOgEqMBBvkdfag99mRDkZdH7GZIABZnE6iw0vZgovqPMyoCY6eD5jnG1QLwcl4nkEOHw5CoWLlX1uzG9gUBqYmKqk08KJRZ9mwaEcwcGgiTaJHWsUaZak2AcDXKoRwoERbO2jiZaVV0tmQ1yUgw8rpSzIepSi9UqlKdd3RXu6Yvug7LSgBB2Sih7ewuiCWXTyaxkQ2A_MG7A4c8yLxxY5cwwcJmq6_7TyVF5Hr_9CzOePcyKANNcaafC-0QP27WPePejTxA1DPeLwFUtStVqrrbmzb2NiGU-9wdN22lyKry8L8hPEvvrCt6kN-fmcE7499Bh_uHULijO4WAk1sIqC0QZM1NdRhN4mq4bXttaBlPmLD-IcFzA84UcpU8Pa78iFRGQbhhsahx-Boy9ejSG_SF4GA&pt=text&li=rbox-t2v&sig=b5e08d86e38d2c08136390dc069ec5d36fe3c01cc7ad&redir=https%3A%2F%2Fwww2.americareadysupply.com%2Fcid%2F7013w00000287xDAAQ%3Fsubid1%3DGiB_Itfcy4jv_VWSaTM0B13DEKdUw2vcR7eM1LksnOW51SC_xFko_cnLx8KLyOdn%26utm_content%3Dsite_medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress_campaign_id_3693467148_%26tblci%3DGiB_Itfcy4jv_VWSaTM0B13DEKdUw2vcR7eM1LksnOW51SC_xFko_cnLx8KLyOdn%23tblciGiB_Itfcy4jv_VWSaTM0B13DEKdUw2vcR7eM1LksnOW51SC_xFko_cnLx8KLyOdn&vi=1690288651969&p=ghroundhouseprovisions-morningkick-sc&r=15&lti=deflated&ppb=CL0B&cpb=EhIyMDIzMDcyNS04LVJFTEVBU0UYASCc__________8BKhljaC50YWJvb2xhc3luZGljYXRpb24uY29tMgh0cmM4MDMxNTiA7uaDCUCRpA5I0fgOULPN2wNY-QNjCNA3EI1TGDBkYwjKQRDkVhgyZGMI1xYQ1R8YI2RjCJYUEJscGBhkYwjSAxDgBhgIZGMI9___________ARD3__________8BGAlkYwivRxD6YBgLZGMI_0YQ710YHWRjCPQUEJ4dGB9kYwjR__________8BENH__________wEYL2R4AYABAogBnPqm7QGQARyYAef9t-iYMQ&cta=true
https://trc.taboola.com/medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress/log/3/click?pi=%2F2023%2F07%2F23%2Fcruising-before-the-woodward-dream-cruise-generates-noise-complaints&ri=9a24078db011b2d55e8f644264439b86&sd=v2_69b08e8a0c07ba41544821a42a6d8ac8_0c4855c1-2f97-49ae-97bc-5b4b439b0090-tuct99bdbc7_1690288651_1690288651_CNawjgYQ4dJXGMH9t-iYMSABKAMw4QE4kaQOQNH4DkizzdsDUPkDWABgnBBo6f-qseHv3uY4cAE&ui=0c4855c1-2f97-49ae-97bc-5b4b439b0090-tuct99bdbc7&it=text&ii=~~V1~~-3527713574427722198~~K-c1v8evr65sw_p_8Tccf9wldmmTIl7jQJ_9nlffk5v6nH0OabNJtzzP-ddPU2nvK8Bm7FKD2NW1M1BCiW1-kuMDMqg65-jJbi04eURsbtqeHe1S9jo_X4timp5pCZhQQas41f4COFvufOf52grWNe487k0pvO_9ezrwRupEiSMB7CKWDYR-vkpxcdUUzOgEqMBBvkdfag99mRDkZdH7GZIABZnE6iw0vZgovqPMyoCY6eD5jnG1QLwcl4nkEOHw5CoWLlX1uzG9gUBqYmKqk08KJRZ9mwaEcwcGgiTaJHWsUaZak2AcDXKoRwoERbO2SJxwhdJv3jKN701ohCgWIPvdAwBc-tgcz2_jjECScpI4w8PM6vv5gTX6XQUWwWKIEkboF226WcFt2DvAQWImZ1nNb3qRRrAjrybekqL7dlPBQDMdw7dnjGB9rtX4g2jvHZcSugnvXddoVIG3IuzwtPmPFSZCHL4MZDFjs8Tt6913NzPcP8huAlibxzsFvsM9fe3jmgHZXC04GgECm-uojQ&pt=text&li=rbox-t2v&sig=9820b931ee803a4bd180a2f51d29f14447390c34b2fb&redir=https%3A%2F%2Fstuffanswered.com%2Fresults%2F%3Futm_medium%3Dpaid%26utm_source%3Dtaboola%26utm_campaign%3Dus-tb2clkctaoptrav-yg-cdrate2_offhrs-smrt-ron-web%26campaign_id%3D24779354%26adid%3D3686229690%26utm_term%3Dmedianewsgroup-theoaklandpress%26placement%3Dmedianewsgroup-theoaklandpress%26imp%3D49036%26campaign_id%3D24779354%26utm_term%3Dmedianewsgroup-theoaklandpress%26ts%3D2023-07-25%2B12%253A37%253A32%23tblciGiB_Itfcy4jv_VWSaTM0B13DEKdUw2vcR7eM1LksnOW51SDgkE8owPfg_vuyuvhr&vi=1690288651969&p=qoolmedia-preap-yahoostuffa-travel1&r=75&lti=deflated&ppb=CL0B&cpb=EhIyMDIzMDcyNS04LVJFTEVBU0UYASCc__________8BKhljaC50YWJvb2xhc3luZGljYXRpb24uY29tMgh0cmM4MDMxNTiA7uaDCUCRpA5I0fgOULPN2wNY-QNjCNA3EI1TGDBkYwjKQRDkVhgyZGMI1xYQ1R8YI2RjCJYUEJscGBhkYwjSAxDgBhgIZGMI9___________ARD3__________8BGAlkYwivRxD6YBgLZGMI_0YQ710YHWRjCPQUEJ4dGB9kYwjR__________8BENH__________wEYL2R4AYABAogBnPqm7QGQARyYAef9t-iYMQ&cta=true
https://trc.taboola.com/medianewsgroup-theoaklandpress/log/3/click?pi=%2F2023%2F07%2F23%2Fcruising-before-the-woodward-dream-cruise-generates-noise-complaints&ri=9a24078db011b2d55e8f644264439b86&sd=v2_69b08e8a0c07ba41544821a42a6d8ac8_0c4855c1-2f97-49ae-97bc-5b4b439b0090-tuct99bdbc7_1690288651_1690288651_CNawjgYQ4dJXGMH9t-iYMSABKAMw4QE4kaQOQNH4DkizzdsDUPkDWABgnBBo6f-qseHv3uY4cAE&ui=0c4855c1-2f97-49ae-97bc-5b4b439b0090-tuct99bdbc7&it=text&ii=~~V1~~2607167054419225694~~oIl7XAFAShpz9U_Zw4EJYvJx_hPdn_sq2he6EFfhESX6nH0OabNJtzzP-ddPU2nvK8Bm7FKD2NW1M1BCiW1-kuMDMqg65-jJbi04eURsbtqeHe1S9jo_X4timp5pCZhQQas41f4COFvufOf52grWNRtwk0H3e_paELAt48GutaGll80FTbxm9DrUzTXXQe__5M6kPlWqa9AIlNTI4p5E_u5U6H-NUFk8HmLz3a--7aQjGgJPW7mm4w9RK8R9nuqIwcocVDqjIUCPjx71nmxKF4PfhvuMV8Bufwd2HjUrboJwXhwxv8qfl5aU1wiXtQFBfXIfHtxaQw_ZZOciLP5cRu_zqWNSMGmXUaoFIo051JgnO2zKohAKwtJQqn8XlRWdfyMlRfj1DIZ84RJ7emAu9PbQiTfsE89hUb5ScgZzdQBZzW96kUawI68m3pKi-3ZTOEdag6t3PadvccXlQHqnkCXwlP-L03VcrIKvMrCJKN9HumKlyAL_pTGGef8vHs4Tdzcz3D_IbgJYm8c7Bb7DPSSSny_xmUoOdWSNYxewcHs&pt=text&li=rbox-t2v&sig=cdc3dbed78feccb79425087295a785e8f15e2ec95d33&redir=https%3A%2F%2Fcomation-visonging.com%2F74cee732-f8f2-4bcc-bf33-550054ab3c33%3Fs1%3Dtab1sendisc1jul13a1%26campaign_id%3D26370270%26campaign_name%3D24sendisc%2BDK%2BJul13a1%2B-%2BTop%2BPubs%2BLast%2B30%26title%3DSeniors%2BBirthed%2BBefore%2B1969%2BNow%2BAllowed%2BTo%2BThese%2B24%2BBill%2BDeductions%2BThrough%2BJuly%2B%2528Full%2BList%2BHere%2529%26cpc%3D%257Bcpc%257D%26platform%3DDesktop%26campaignitemid%3D3715242430%26site%3Dmedianewsgroup-theoaklandpress%26thumbnail%3Dhttp%253A%252F%252Fcdn.taboola.com%252Flibtrc%252Fstatic%252Fthumbnails%252F4587b4700b61778d4a41607f21e214d2.jpg%26utm_source%3Dtaboola%26utm_medium%3Dreferral%26timestamp%3D2023-07-25%2B12%253A37%253A32%26click_id%3DGiB_Itfcy4jv_VWSaTM0B13DEKdUw2vcR7eM1LksnOW51SDN_1Yot4e-uaS1579I%26tblci%3DGiB_Itfcy4jv_VWSaTM0B13DEKdUw2vcR7eM1LksnOW51SDN_1Yot4e-uaS1579I%23tblciGiB_Itfcy4jv_VWSaTM0B13DEKdUw2vcR7eM1LksnOW51SDN_1Yot4e-uaS1579I&vi=1690288651969&p=newslickadmedia-homeinsurance-sc&r=18&lti=deflated&ppb=CL0B&cpb=EhIyMDIzMDcyNS04LVJFTEVBU0UYASCc__________8BKhljaC50YWJvb2xhc3luZGljYXRpb24uY29tMgh0cmM4MDMxNTiA7uaDCUCRpA5I0fgOULPN2wNY-QNjCNA3EI1TGDBkYwjKQRDkVhgyZGMI1xYQ1R8YI2RjCJYUEJscGBhkYwjSAxDgBhgIZGMI9___________ARD3__________8BGAlkYwivRxD6YBgLZGMI_0YQ710YHWRjCPQUEJ4dGB9kYwjR__________8BENH__________wEYL2R4AYABAogBnPqm7QGQARyYAef9t-iYMQ&cta=true


INFORMATION ONLY



INFORMATION ONLY



INFORMATION ONLY



INFORMATION ONLY



INFORMATION ONLY



INFORMATION ONLY



7/24/23, 9:36 AM Section 8 Tenants Are Using New Laws To Fight Housing Bias - Law360

https://www.law360.com/articles/1701942/section-8-tenants-are-using-new-laws-to-fight-housing-bias 2/11

Intellectual Property
Product Liability
Securities

Beta Tools
Track docs
Track attorneys
Track judges

Use Cases
Large Law
Corporate
Small Law
Government

Site Menu
Join the Law360 team
Search legal jobs
Learn more about Law360
Read testimonials
Contact Law360
Sign up for our newsletters
Law360 Company
Resource Library
Site Map
Help

Intellectual Property Securities Bankruptcy Competition Employment White Collar Legal Industry Access To Justice Law360
UK Pulse || See all sections || TAKE A FREE TRIAL

Section 8 Tenants Are Using New Laws To
Fight Housing Bias
By Jack Karp | July 21, 2023, 5:49 PM EDT · Listen to article

INFORMATION ONLY

https://www.law360.com/ip
https://www.law360.com/productliability
https://www.law360.com/securities
https://www.law360.com/advanced_search/dockets
https://www.law360.com/advanced_search/attorneys
https://www.law360.com/advanced_search/judges
https://communications.law360.com/law360-largelaw
https://communications.law360.com/law360-corporate
https://communications.law360.com/law360-smalllaw
https://communications.law360.com/law360-government
https://www.law360.com/careers
http://jobs.law360.com/
https://www.law360.com/about
https://www.law360.com/testimonials
https://www.law360.com/about/contact
https://www.law360.com/newsletters
https://communications.law360.com/law360-company
https://communications.law360.com/resource-library
https://www.law360.com/site_index
https://www.law360.com/faq
https://www.law360.com/ip
https://www.law360.com/securities
https://www.law360.com/bankruptcy
https://www.law360.com/competition
https://www.law360.com/employment
https://www.law360.com/whitecollar
https://www.law360.com/legalindustry
https://www.law360.com/access-to-justice
https://www.law360.co.uk/
https://www.law360.com/pulse
https://www.law360.com/subscribe/get_instant_access?header=1


7/24/23, 9:36 AM Section 8 Tenants Are Using New Laws To Fight Housing Bias - Law360

https://www.law360.com/articles/1701942/section-8-tenants-are-using-new-laws-to-fight-housing-bias 3/11

Landlords around the country routinely refuse to rent to tenants who rely on housing vouchers and other forms of financial
assistance, so a growing number of low-income tenants and their advocates are using recently passed source-of-income laws to
fight the practice. (iStockPhoto/z_wei)

Megan Morse had hoped to use her rental assistance voucher to move to a neighborhood closer to
her hospital and her daughter.

"I can't drive. I'm physically disabled as well as epileptic, so travel is a bit much," said Morse, who
has a rare disease called arthrogryposis multiplex congenita and regularly participates in an epilepsy
study at the University of Michigan Hospital.

But when she applied to rent apartments in those Ann Arbor, Michigan, neighborhoods, she was
repeatedly turned down, with representatives of two apartment complexes telling her they didn't
accept tenants who use housing vouchers.

"Being denied by them was a little of a gut punch," said Morse, who wound up living in a less
accessible area just outside Ann Arbor, farther from her daughter and the hospital.

INFORMATION ONLY



7/24/23, 9:36 AM Section 8 Tenants Are Using New Laws To Fight Housing Bias - Law360

https://www.law360.com/articles/1701942/section-8-tenants-are-using-new-laws-to-fight-housing-bias 4/11

Megan Morse was repeatedly turned down by landlords who refused to accept her housing vouchers when she applied for places to live, in violation of
Ann Arbor, Michigan's ordinance outlawing discrimination against tenants using those vouchers. (Courtesy of Megan Morse)

Those denials are especially troubling since Ann Arbor passed an ordinance in 2014 outlawing
discrimination against tenants who use housing vouchers and other forms of financial assistance,
according to Lacie Melasi, a law student working with the University of Michigan Law School's Civil
Rights Litigation Initiative, which is representing Morse in a lawsuit against one of the real estate
companies that rejected her.

Ann Arbor is just one of many places around the country to pass a so-called source-of-income
discrimination law in recent years. In Ann Arbor's case, the law created a private cause of action
against landlords who discriminate. And in April, Morse became the first tenant to sue to enforce
Ann Arbor's ordinance, according to Melasi.

Morse is not alone. Frustrated renters and tenant advocacy groups have been filing a growing
number of such lawsuits across the U.S. seeking to enforce these laws since they went into effect.

States and Cities Increasingly Ban Source-of-Income Discrimination
More than 57% of housing voucher holders are currently covered by state and local source-of-income protections. But while
some states are adding such protections, others have barred cities from enacting them or had their protections weakened by
courts.

INFORMATION ONLY



7/24/23, 9:36 AM Section 8 Tenants Are Using New Laws To Fight Housing Bias - Law360

https://www.law360.com/articles/1701942/section-8-tenants-are-using-new-laws-to-fight-housing-bias 5/11

MA

CT

DE

DC

RI

MD

NJ

 Active state law  Active local law  No longer in effect  Weakened law 

But some property owners insist the laws are unconstitutional. Others say the suits are misguided
and target innocent landlords rather than the brokers who are the ones actually engaging in
discriminatory conduct.

Tenants and their advocates, meanwhile, say the suits are important because they put landlords on
notice that source-of-income discrimination is illegal.

"A lot of this is about educating landlords that they can no longer discriminate," said Deborah
Thrope, deputy director of the National Housing Law Project, "that they can't deny someone housing
solely on the basis that they have the voucher."

New Laws Lead to New Lawsuits

The Housing Rights Initiative sued dozens of New Jersey landlords and real estate brokers in May
for allegedly violating that state's law banning discrimination against tenants who rely on Section 8
vouchers through the federal Housing Choice Voucher Program, the largest federally funded housing
subsidy program, which helps more than 2 million low-income families find housing on the private
market. That suit follows one the national housing watchdog filed in New York against a raft of
property owners and brokers it also accuses of discriminating against voucher holders in violation of
both state and city laws.

A growing number of states and municipalities have been enacting these statutes. Washington state

Source: Poverty & Race Research Action Council

INFORMATION ONLY



7/24/23, 9:36 AM Section 8 Tenants Are Using New Laws To Fight Housing Bias - Law360

https://www.law360.com/articles/1701942/section-8-tenants-are-using-new-laws-to-fight-housing-bias 6/11

passed one in 2018. California followed suit in 2019, as did Los Angeles and Baltimore. Illinois' law
went into effect in 2022, according to the Poverty & Race Research Action Council.

Advocates say these laws are necessary to ensure low-income renters can actually use their Section 8
vouchers on the private rental market in the face of widespread discrimination against voucher
holders.

A 2018 Urban Institute study found that landlords in Fort Worth, Texas, denied apartments to
voucher holders 78% of the time, for example, while Los Angeles property owners did so 76% of the
time. For comparison, the Urban Institute's Housing Matters initiative reported last year that 56% of
landlords reject at least 25% of their applicants.

"When families are unable to use their housing vouchers due to unlawful discrimination, they have
significantly less money for other things like food, clothing and basic necessities," said Aaron Carr,
founder and executive director of HRI.

But the new laws also mean new litigation, attorneys say.

"More jurisdictions are adopting source-of-income protections, and more of them have private rights
of action than they used to, so that gives rise to a larger number of suits," said Matthew K. Handley
of Handley Farah & Anderson PLLC, who represents HRI in several cases.

The Disability Rights Education and Defense Fund and the Legal Aid Foundation of Los Angeles, for
instance, reached their first settlements in April in a suit they brought on behalf of renter Robert
Gardner against 22 properties Gardner said turned him away because he uses Section 8 vouchers.

"We believed Mr. Gardner's case was needed to send the message to landlords that someone is
taking action to ensure that the law is enforced and that Section 8 vouchers have the impact they are
supposed to — that is, getting people off the streets and into available rental units," said Michelle
Uzeta, senior counsel at DREDF.

Melasi of the Civil Rights Litigation Initiative said, "We are seeing these lawsuits around the country
because finding housing can be a difficult and stressful process for anyone."

"As Megan [Morse] experienced, adding source-of-income discrimination on top of that can make
the search nearly impossible for some people," Melasi added.

Seeing Improvement

Private lawsuits have already reduced discrimination against Section 8 voucher holders in at least
one city, tenant advocates say.

Landlords in Washington, D.C., which has had source-of-income protections for longer than most
INFORMATION ONLY

https://www.law360.com/firms/handley-farah
https://www.law360.com/companies/legal-aid-foundation-of-los-angeles


7/24/23, 9:36 AM Section 8 Tenants Are Using New Laws To Fight Housing Bias - Law360

https://www.law360.com/articles/1701942/section-8-tenants-are-using-new-laws-to-fight-housing-bias 7/11

places, used to commonly reject voucher holders despite those protections, according to Handley.

"The rejection rate for voucher holders in D.C. was through the roof," Handley said. "Even though
the law was there, landlords were still freely denying voucher holders an ability to rent."

So tenant advocates engaged in a testing program to determine which landlords were discriminating
against voucher holders. They then brought several enforcement actions against those landlords,
Handley explained.

Thanks in part to that litigation, experts say, the voucher denial rate in D.C. was down to just 15% in
2018, according to an Urban Institute study.

"The state of affairs in D.C. has improved significantly over the last few years," said Handley. "I do
think that the private enforcement is why the situation has improved here."

Handley and other advocates are now using the strategy used in D.C. in places like New York State,
which only adopted its law in 2019, he said.

Similar to D.C. tenant advocates, HRI began a testing program in which civil rights testers queried
housing providers to gauge their compliance with fair housing laws, according to the group's New
York complaint.

The strategy has also evolved, with suits now being filed against many landlords at once rather than
against individual landlords, according to Handley. HRI's suit in New York federal court names close
to a hundred defendants. Its New Jersey suit names almost 30.

"This is a problem throughout the industry," Handley explained. "And so that's why these lawsuits
have named in many cases dozens of defendants in an effort to try to take on the problem in the
industry as a whole, as opposed to one-off landlords."

An Unconstitutional Approach?

Litigation over source-of-income discrimination laws isn't coming just from those looking to enforce
those laws, however. Property owners have also challenged the laws as unconstitutional.

According to Curtis Johnson, an attorney with Bond Schoeneck & King PLLC who represents
landlords being sued by the New York State attorney general, requiring landlords to accept Section 8
vouchers violates the Fourth Amendment's protection against warrantless searches, since the
Section 8 program requires landlords to give New York's Public Housing Authority and the U.S.
Department of Housing and Urban Development "unfettered" access to their properties and records.

"Signing a [Housing Assistance Payments] contract amounts to a waiver of the landlord's Fourth
Amendment right to be free from warrantless governmental search and seizure, because there is no

INFORMATION ONLY

https://www.law360.com/firms/bond-schoeneck
https://www.law360.com/agencies/u-s-department-of-housing-and-urban-development


7/24/23, 9:36 AM Section 8 Tenants Are Using New Laws To Fight Housing Bias - Law360

https://www.law360.com/articles/1701942/section-8-tenants-are-using-new-laws-to-fight-housing-bias 8/11

provision of the Section 8 statute or rules and regulations that requires the PHA or HUD to get a
warrant before conducting a search," Johnson said.

Source-of-income discrimination laws also amount to an unconstitutional taking in violation of the
Fifth and 14th Amendments and attempt to limit and compel speech in violation of the First
Amendment, Johnson argues.

In June, a state judge agreed with Johnson and his clients' Fourth Amendment claims.

"By requiring landlords to accept Section 8 vouchers, the source of income antidiscrimination
statute necessarily compels landlords to consent to warrantless searches of their properties," New
York Supreme Court Justice Mark G. Masler said in his ruling.

"A Worthy Goal," but Tactics in Question

Other landlords take issue not with the laws or their purpose, but with how some advocacy groups go
about trying to enforce them.

While organizations like HRI have "a worthy goal," they try to achieve that goal by using testers to
make phone calls to those offering apartments for rent, said Jay B. Solomon of Belkin Burden
Goldman LLP, who represents multiple defendants in HRI's New York suit. But many of the entities
they call end up being real estate brokers rather than landlords, Solomon said.

"They're essentially cold-calling any broker that may have listed a property. But these brokers may
have gotten the listing from a multiple listing source or perhaps some sort of broad-based email
blast," Solomon explained. "And what we've found is very often these brokers don't represent the
ownership, they actually represent the tenants."

Meanwhile, Solomon said, his clients don't discriminate based on source of income — they accept
Section 8 vouchers, and have Section 8 tenants in their buildings. By showing that to be true,
Solomon has managed to get the claims against some of his clients discontinued, he said, while
others have settled for nominal oversight and damages.

Even HRI's Carr and the National Housing Law Project's Thrope acknowledge that government
policy could have more impact on voucher holder discrimination than private lawsuits.

For instance, housing authorities could offer landlords financial incentives to participate in the
program and make that participation easier by speeding up inspections of units rented to Section 8
tenants, which currently can take weeks, according to Thrope.

And the government could do more to enforce the source-of-income laws themselves, Carr said.

"At the end of the day, the path to victory on combating housing discrimination doesn't run through
INFORMATION ONLY

https://www.law360.com/firms/belkin-burden


7/24/23, 9:36 AM Section 8 Tenants Are Using New Laws To Fight Housing Bias - Law360

https://www.law360.com/articles/1701942/section-8-tenants-are-using-new-laws-to-fight-housing-bias 9/11

nonprofits like ours — it runs through governmental enforcement agencies, which have significantly
larger budgets and an obligation to tenants, taxpayers and the economy to eradicate the abominable
and destructive practice of housing discrimination," Carr said.

Educating Landlords

Ultimately, however, housing advocates hope these lawsuits will help voucher holders find housing
by putting landlords on notice of the laws against discrimination.

Part of the settlement agreements Handley reaches with landlords, for instance, include "robust" fair
housing training as well as agreements to set aside units that are prioritized for voucher holders and
increase the commissions landlords pay brokers who rent to voucher holders, Handley explained.

And the cases brought against large numbers of landlords — or larger landlords that own multiple
properties — are especially likely to have an impact, according to attorneys.

"Just the fact that these cases are being publicized, it has a beneficial effect on the overall housing
community because it will educate both ownership and brokers of their obligations under the law
and the prohibitions against discriminating based upon source of income," Solomon said.

Morse and Melasi hope their lawsuit will have that impact in Ann Arbor.

"Ann Arbor is an incredible city — the schools, public transportation and other amenities are great,"
Melasi said. "This lawsuit is important because these offerings should be available to all people,
including low-income individuals and families."

"That is the purpose of housing choice vouchers and what they help make possible," Melasi added,
"but only if landlords are stopped from discriminating against the people using them."

--Editing by Alanna Weissman and Kelly Duncan. Graphics by Ben Jay.
Hello! I'm Law360's automated support bot.

How can I help you today?

For example, you can type:

I forgot my password
I took a free trial but didn't get a verification email
How do I sign up for a newsletter?

Ask a question!
Ask a question!

 

© 2023, Portfolio Media, Inc. | About | Contact Us | Legal Jobs | Advertise with Law360 | Careers at Law360 | Terms |
Privacy Policy | Cookie Settings | Help | Site Map | Resource Library | Law360 Company

× INFORMATION ONLY

https://communications.law360.com/law360-about
https://www.law360.com/about/contact
http://jobs.law360.com/
https://www.law360.com/advertise
https://www.law360.com/careers
https://www.law360.com/terms
https://www.law360.com/privacy_policy
https://www.law360.com/faq
https://www.law360.com/site_index
https://communications.law360.com/resource-library
https://communications.law360.com/law360-company

	20230814 Agenda
	3A 20230814 Ethics Appt
	Board of Ethics Roster
	Ethics Attendance 2021-2023
	20230516 Fierro-Share, Sophie resignation -ethics
	Birmingham, MI Code of Ordinances - Ethics Board

	3B 20230814 Altovilla Staff Introduction
	5A 20230814 CC Minutes (DRAFT) - 7-24-23 with attached communications rev
	Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 

	5B 20230814 warrant list 20230726
	5C 20230814 warrant list 08032023
	5D 20230814 warrant list 20230809
	5E 20230814 OHSP Grant Award
	5F 20230814 Windcave Inc.
	0814.23 Windcave Memo
	Windcave Agreement Partially Signed2
	Signature Page

	5G 20230814_Oakland_County_Grant_Amendment_CC_Memo_w_attachments
	5H 20230814 Memo re Storm Water Utility Fee Ordinance Amendment w-ord - redlined and clean
	6A 20230814 Tenants' rights w-attachments - 8-9-23
	2023.08.04 (clean) Memo re Tenants' rights.pdf
	8.4.23 Attachments updated

	6Aa 20230814 Communication - Petition - Chapman - Tenants' Rights
	6B 20230814 Leaf Blowers - FINAL - 8-14-23
	7A 20230814 MML Voting Delegates
	7B1 20230814 Speed Hump Study (1)
	D - minutes 3.3.22 draft
	March 3rd, 2022 MMTB Agenda - FULL.pdf
	F1- Traffic Calming and Speed Tables - Memo
	F1a - Traffic Calming Overview Presentation

	October 6th, 2022 MMTB Agenda - FULL.pdf
	1 - Agenda 10.04.22
	5 - Speed Hump Memo
	5a - Birmingham Speed Hump Pilot Program
	5b - Mark Clemence Memo to CC - Aug 29th, 2022
	5c - MMTB Neighborhood Traffic Calming Program 10-6-2022 - Updated
	5d - Speed Studies - Northlawn and Shirley - Combined
	Northlawn 2022 1 Line Summary
	Northlawn 2022 Data Summary
	Northlawn 2022 Day Summary (Avg. days)
	Northlawn 2022 Detailed days Summary
	Northlawn 2022 Hourly Summary
	Shirley Speed Survey - Staff Report.docx
	Shirley Speed Survey - Staff Report
	Shirley - Speed Data Analysis
	Shirley 2022 -  Analysis Wed-Thu
	Shirley 2022 - 1 Line Summary
	Shirley 2022 - 85%
	Shirley 2022 - Average Day Summary
	Shirley 2022 - Detailed Days Summary
	Shirley 2022 - Volume x Speed



	November 3rd, 2022 MMTB Agenda.pdf
	1 - Agenda 11.03.22
	4 - Speed Hump Memo
	4a - Birmingham Speed Hump Pilot Program - Speed Table
	4b - 22_1103 MMTB Neighborhood Traffic Calming Program (1)
	Slide Number 1
	AGENDA TOPICS
	REQUEST FROM CITY COMMISSION
	BACKGROUND ON SPEED HUMPS
	DATA ON TRAFFIC VOLUMES 
	SPEED FINDINGS 
	DRAFT CRITERIA
	DRAFT CRITERIA
	TRAFFIC CALMING CANDIDATE STREETS
	OTHER TRAFFIC CALMING MEASURES
	NEXT STEPS



	10A1 20230814 Design Reveiw Board NOTICE OF INTENTION - PRE-APPT
	DESIGN REVIEW BOARD

	10A2 20230814 Historic District Commission NOTICE OF INTENTION - PRE-APPT
	HISTORIC DISTRICT COMMISSION

	10E1 20230814 Report-Short term rentals follow-up - 8-2-23
	20230814 DTE IO August 2023
	DTE IO August 2023 1
	DTE IO August 2023 2

	20230814 IO - Cruising before the Woodward Dream Cruise generates noise complaints – The Oakland Press
	20230814 IO - DTE Energy Case No. U-21313
	20230814 IO - DTE Energy Case No. U-21322
	20230814 IO - DTE Energy Case No. U-21353
	20230814 IO - Section 8 Tenants Are Using New Laws To Fight Housing Bias - Law360



